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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M # =

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 20204F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTRT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Revenue WA 4,119,478 3,473,930 2,699,647 1,039,011
Gross profit EF 337,352 283,449 186,860 81,804
Loss for the year FRERE (1,371,764)  (3,748,503)  (1,042,029) (596,071)
Loss for the year attributable NCIEZZ =N
to owners of the parent FE(LF A EHE (1,370,572) (3,740,455)  (1,042,781) (594,595)
Adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) 4 AL 78 % 518
for the year (FEEIBR BT 75 3R 5
HBIFtE) (258,682) (365,084) (258,563) (254,241)
As of December 31,
HZE12H31H
2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 20204F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTIT AREBTT
Total assets BmEE 2,929,554 2,892,819 2,478,598 1,151,106
Total liabilities mefE 1,095,422 8,323,729 4,270,245 2,158,043
Equity attributable to owners of AR AI#EA A
the Company JE (LA 2 1,836,901  (5,429,224) (1,796,652)  (1,010,590)
Total equity/(deficits) Wz (EAL) 4258 1,834,132  (5,430,910) (1,791,647)  (1,006,937)
Note: B 5

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

on December 23, 2022.
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Dear Shareholders,

The year 2022 witnessed various challenges as the Omicron variant of
COVID-19 disturbed medical activities across the nation. Despite the
challenges, we achieved results to the management’s satisfaction by
adhering to our strategy of organic growth. The successful Listing of
the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on December
23, 2022 represents a new journey of the Company to enter into the
international capital market and will help the Company grow at a more
steady pace going forward.

Looking back, the Company was developed in the context of the
national healthcare reform. Since the launch of the new round of
healthcare reform in 2009, China has continued to deepen the
reform of the medical care and public health system with a focus on
solving the outstanding contradictions of unbalanced and inadequate
development among parties from the payer side, supply side, and
demand side involved in healthcare services. The development and
growth of the Company would not be possible without the progress of
the society, needs of the people and guidance of national policies. As
the Company treating the core concern for the demand of healthcare
services as its original aspiration and starting point, the Company was
able to, in the past several years, keep abreast of the healthcare reform
and keenly seize opportunities arising from the reform of medication
R&D, distribution and services, as well as the reform of medical care
payment, making it possible for the Company to start every new
business growth curve at right timing and establish a flourishing
healthcare-insurance-medication ecosystem.

The reform of the healthcare payment system is particularly critical. The
payers serve as an important hub between the demand side and the
supply side of healthcare services and play a fundamental adjustment
role. It is essential for the payers to build and improve a multi-level
health security system. Since its establishment, the National Healthcare
Security Administration (NHSA) has provided “broad coverage
and basic protection” for 1.34 billion insured persons through the
payment mechanism (payment reform), price mechanism, negotiation
mechanism (centralized large-volume procurement) and supervision
mechanism. Meanwhile, along with better economic development,
more social wealth, longer life expectancy and changing health risk
factors such as the disease spectrum change, the public demand
for healthcare services and its diversity continue to increase, and the
requirements for quality of healthcare services keep enhancing, thus
bringing the expenditures on healthcare services up. The self-paid
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEW|E

portion in the Basic Medical Insurance (BMI) and costs of healthcare
services beyond the BMI coverage are mostly out-of-pocket cash
borne by the general public. In accordance with the law of social
development and the history of global development, the out-of-pocket
payment beyond the basic healthcare coverage will be replaced by
commercial healthcare insurance gradually. Due to growing demand for
high-quality healthcare services, the commercial healthcare insurance
will grow significantly, return to the essence of medical and health
management, and contribute to the “multi-level and sustainable” social
health security.

In respect to such context and trends, the Company will be fully
committed to acquiring more members. Thanks to its specialty
pharmacy business and physician research assistance business,
through scientific planning and careful management of members’
premiums and medical expenses, the Company can provide members
with higher-quality and more choices of products, thus lowering
out-of-pocket medical costs and improving members’ health conditions
and healthcare service experience at the same time. Our journey will
ultimately lead us to creating an integrated health management network
that will provide quality and accessible care to the public.

We believe that by providing clear value, services and connection with
stakeholders in China’s healthcare system, we can establish in-depth
trusting ties that may impact the entire industry landscape. Support
from various walks of life is essential for our way forward. We would like
to express our sincere gratitude to all our shareholders, colleagues and
partners for their contribution and help!

Mr. MA Xuguang
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 15, 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

BUSINESS OVERVIEW EBHME
Overview BE

We connect and deliver clear values to patients, doctors, medical — FAFI#E3& KA BT & R EBIE I ER) &2 & st
institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers across China’s 71" B EEEEFERGNEE B4 BE
healthcare system through our robust technology platform and  ##&  ®BE R T M A BB WA KRS
data-enabled operational capabilities. We currently run three business EB/REAFEREE - T ffI B BT L IR KR
lines, including specialty pharmacy business (the “Specialty Pharmacy B EFEHEFES ([BHEEEK|) B4
Business”), physician research assistance (the “Physician Research #5017 8h ([B M %8 | ) & 62 R K R 75
Assistance’), and health insurance services (the “Health Insurance ([@ERERIE])

Services”).

Partnership with Pharmaceutical Innovators
BRI E S

NE : : e00
0o 48n
‘n (L) U
No. 1 SMO in oncology, © 280+ Pharmaceutical and Biotech : 100% retention rate for
assisting 1,000+ : Clients cover all Top 10 public Top 10 SMO clients
clinical trials . pharmaceutical companies in China : (measured by revenue)
BRESMO %5618 - 280+ 2 RER A MR EF AT+ ASMOEF
#%811,000+ § 2EREFEH : (R E)

EERR AR ATOKR L FREAF B17%£E100%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR DN

Partnership with Physician Network
HEAPERAE

55,000+ doctors Across
1,200+ Class Il Grade A
Hospitals nationwide

Loo]

100% coverage of 27 provincial
specialized oncology hospitals and :
5 national cancer treatment centers :

100% BE27rRE & 55,000+ = 2
JERRE R B & BB

S B 2R AR AR R R O

1,200+ 5 = F 56z

Partnership with Insurance Carriers
BRI ARG 1E

24

~12.5 MM 400K+
Annual Hui Min Insurance Annual Enterprise Health Plan
Sold in 2022 Sold in 2022
2022 2 FEH 2022F 2 FEH
~1258 B4 40E 17 +
BERR hEERELE

Note: Al statistics are as of December 31, 2022 Kist:
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We successfully listed our Shares on the main board of the Stock
Exchange on December 23, 2022. The Prospectus in relation to the
Global Offering was published on the website of the Stock Exchange
on December 12, 2022.

Our Services

Specialty Pharmacy Business

Our Specialty Pharmacy Business line consists of specialty pharmacy
and value-add professional pharmacist service, focusing on specialty
medicines for the treatment of oncology and other critical diseases.
Patients can access innovative medications from us and receive
pharmacist services, such as medication guidance, AE consultation,
and medication delivery. We also built up the first and only nationwide
specialty medicine management platform, providing follow-up
assessment service under a unified system, differentiating us from our
peers.

As of December 31, 2022, we operated 96 specialty pharmacies
across all provincial administrative regions in mainland China except
Xizang and Qinghai. Our pharmacies specialize in prescription
medicines for cancer and other critical diseases. We provide a wide
selection of specialty medicines, including innovative drugs newly
introduced to the market. Our professional pharmacist services ensure
patients to have better medication adherence and treatment efficacy.
Collaborating with the payer side, our specialty pharmacies also provide
direct billing with social medical insurance (B %X & &) and major
insurance carriers, offering additional payment solutions to patients.

Physician Research Assistance

In our Physician Research Assistance business line, we engage in
SMO business to support pharmaceutical companies in their drug
R&D process from phase | to phase IV clinical trials. Currently, the
SMO business contributes the majority of the Physician Research
Assistance revenue. Our in-depth experience and professional
expertise in assisting clinical trials for oncology drugs differentiate
us from our peers. Notably, we have achieved 100% coverage of
27 provincial specialized oncology hospitals and five national cancer
treatment centers. As of December 31, 2022, we had completed 468
SMO projects, and 795 SMO projects were ongoing. We proudly serve
all top ten public pharmaceutical companies in China that engage in
R&D of innovative drugs. During the Reporting Period, we achieved a
100% client retention rate with respect to our top ten SMO clients, as
measured by revenue during the same period of time. Over 95% of our
SMO clients engage in R&D of oncology drugs and typically contract
our services for three to five years.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Health Insurance Services

As of December 31, 2022, our health service provider network
connected over 1,200 Class lll Grade A hospitals, 55,000 doctors,
and 500 physical examination institutions in over 150 major cities
across China. Our robust health service provider network, together
with our Specialty Pharmacy Business, provides our members with
high quality health management services such as preventive care,
GP service, specialist referral, online hospital and overseas healthcare
network. Leveraging our data insights and actuarial capabilities, we
have co-developed differentiated health insurance plans with major
insurance carriers. Hui Min Insurance serves as a supplement to the
national basic medical insurance, offering additional coverage for
critical diseases, medical services, and specialty medicines at a price
affordable to the general population. In addition, Enterprise Health
Plans provide a more comprehensive and advanced protection to
employers and their employees, offering flexible quality health and
disease management services.

Business Highlights

Resilience, Growth and Efficiency Tested in Pandemic

2022 is a challenging year given the fact that hard-to-contained
Omicron variant of COVID-19 strongly disturbed the medical activities
across the nation. Consequently, clinical trials for innovative therapies
and demands for treatment were generally affected. At the same time,
as the social business activities were negatively impacted by COVID-19
pandemic, more companies and individuals sized down their expenses
and budgets.

Despite challenges in healthcare system, we had achieved what
the management regarded as satisfying performance results. We
have maintained our strategy of organic growth, which is the key to
nationwide quality control in offering standardized professional services.
We are also very pleased to see the continuing growth momentum
under our disciplined strategy throughout this turbulent year of
operations. We believe this is the validation of our strategy, growth
disciplines, revenue quality, and our execution capabilities accumulated
in the past several years of solid operations. As tested in the COVID-19
pandemic, the resilience of the business model, execution capabilities,
and adaptability, we believe, will carry the business forward in the
continuously evolving business dynamics in the holistic healthcare
industry. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by
segments and gross margin of our total revenues during the Reporting
Period:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021 Year-on-year

20224 20214 Change

Revenue LON RMB’000 RMB’000 @) b & &)

AR¥F ARBFIT %

Specialty Pharmacy Business RF LR B S 3,661,809 3,136,484 16.7
Physician Research Assistance BEEMRHIES

Business 319,449 244 857 30.5

Health Insurance Services Business i B 1R 6 iR 8 %75 138,220 92,589 49.3

Total HE 4,119,478 3,473,930 18.6

2022 2021

20224 20214

Gross Margin EF=E % %

Specialty Pharmacy Business FEEE R 5.0 5.9

Physician Research Assistance Business EAEMRBIED 20.7 18.3

Health Insurance Services Business 2R REBR R ER 63.5 57.4

Total et 8.2 8.2

Equally importantly, we would like to highlight our attention paid to
the operational efficiency, both on the organization side and working
capital side. Low tide period represents a rare opportunity to stress
test the management’s competence in organizational adaptability and
awareness-to-action responsiveness. We achieved the business growth
mentioned above not only in a year of external disturbance, but also in
one year of internal efficiency improvement. We managed to achieve
functional upgrade in the meanwhile of efficiency streamlining, laying
a solid foundation for future sustainable growth prospects. Size of the
work force was optimized from 3,859 as of December 31, 2021 to
3,210 as of December 31, 2022.

At the same time, the working capital change in a challenging business
year further demonstrates our business quality.

In 2022, approximately RMB222 million was released from changes
in working capital management (excluding the change in pledged
deposits and time deposit) primarily due to the improvement in
inventory management and improvement in prepayment management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

R&D and Technology

Technology and R&D capabilities are core to our business. We have
developed our technology and digital infrastructure to enhance
our operations and services. Utilizing our expertise and statistics
accumulated from our day-to-day operations, our technology and digital
infrastructure well support our Specialty Pharmacy Business, Physician
Research Assistance and Health Insurance Services operations and
connect the dots among the business segments to provide a holistic
insights into the dynamics in healthcare industry across products,
providers and payers.

We invest substantial time, attention, and resources to improve our
technology and digital infrastructure, strengthen our data processing
and analytic capabilities, develop new solutions that are complementary
to existing ones and find ways to better serve our members, patients,
doctors, pharmaceutical companies, and insurance carriers. Our R&D
personnel primarily consist of data engineers, data scientists, software
engineers, technology infrastructure architects, health management
specialists and actuaries.

Business Development and Marketing

We design our business development and marketing strategy to
expand our brand recognition, build strong customer loyalty and
develop incremental revenue opportunities. Led by our management,
we are dedicated to the maintenance and management of cooperation
with medical institutions, doctors and pharmaceutical companies.

At the same time, we regularly conduct marketing, promotional and
educational activities addressing all participants in the healthcare
and insurance industry, including medical institutions, pharmaceutical
companies, insurance carriers, enterprise clients, doctors and plan
members, to increase our exposure and demonstrate the quality
and differentiating value propositions of our services. Leveraging
our cooperation with various local governments and leading health
insurance carriers, we advertise our health insurance plans and health
management services underlying these plans offered by our Health
Insurance Services through online and offline channels and have
attracted significant customer attention, especially when we launch our
insurance plans into new cities.

Moreover, as our three business lines, Specialty Pharmacy Business,
Physician Research Assistance and Health Insurance Services reinforce
each other and form a virtuous cycle and symbiotic ecosystem,
business opportunities and customer traffic can be directed from
one business line to another. As we empower doctors in their patient
management and scientific research through our Specialty Pharmacy
Business and Physician Research Assistance, it is expected that
referrals from doctors will contribute to the expansion of our Specialty
Pharmacy Business and Health Insurance Services customer base.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this annual results announcement.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, our revenue was primarily generated from
our Specialty Pharmacy Business, Physician Research Assistance and
Health Insurance Services. The following table sets forth a breakdown
of our revenue by segments and year over year growth:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWE DT
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BE
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7% BETR B MEERRIRTS - FRE
S AZ > B & 5 A K2 R LE 38 R B AR

Year-on-year Year-on-year

2022 2021 Change Change
2022%F 20214 [R] £t il
Revenue A RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %
ARET T ARBFTT ARBTT

Specialty Pharmacy Business 3 %% %% f= Z£ 7% 3,661,809 3,136,484 525,325 16.7
Physician Research BEMEBEES

Assistance Business 319,449 244,857 74,592 30.5
Health Insurance Services i B R B2 AR 75 22 75

Business 138,220 92,589 45,631 49.3
Total Eet 4,119,478 3,473,930 645,548 18.6
Specialty Pharmacy Business W o 74 B2 2 S
Revenue from our Specialty Pharmacy Business increased by 45 &% E £ A0 WA H2021ER 4 AR

approximately 16.7% from approximately RMB3,136.5 million in 2021
to approximately RMB3,661.8 million in 2022, which was mainly
attributable to the expansion of our pharmacy storefronts from 91 as
of December 31, 2021 to 96 as of December 31, 2022, and growing
market demand.

Physician Research Assistance

Revenue from our Physician Research Assistance business increased
by approximately 30.5% from approximately RMB244.9 million in 2021
to approximately RMB319.4 million in 2022.

Health Insurance Services

Revenue from Health Insurance Services business increased by
approximately 49.3% from approximately RMB92.6 million in 2021 to
approximately RMB138.2 million in 2022, which mainly attributable to
the further business development on enterprise clients and launching
more Hui Min Insurance plans in different cities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Cost of Sales SHE R A

Year-on-year Year-on-year

2022 2021 Change Change

20224 20214 &) bb 2 [ tb Z &

Cost of sales SHERA RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %

AR®T T ARBTT ARETF T

Specialty Pharmacy Business 4 %% %4 5 2 1% 3,478,464 2,951,040 527,424 17.9
Physician Research BEMRBIES

Assistance Business 253,211 199,998 8,218 26.6
Health Insurance Services 2 FIRBR RIS T

Business 50,451 39,443 11,008 27.9

Total Bt 3,782,126 3,190,481 591,645 18.5

Our cost of sales increased by approximately 18.5% from
approximately RMB3,190.5 million in 2021 to approximately
RMB3,782.1 million in 2022, primarily due to (i) an increase of
approximately RMB527.4 million in procurement cost for medicines
relating to our Specialty Pharmacy Business; and (i) an increase of
approximately RMB53.2 million in labor costs relating to Physician
Research Assistance business.

T AFI B9 $ 65 AKX N 1202168 B 49 A R #53,190.5
BE T INH18.5% T2022F M4 AR #&
37821BEB L NEEHN() BT HEREHE
HH BRI EY R R AL N A R #5274
BB L) BEERERESEENS
TRAEMHARKES2EE T

Gross Profit and Gross Margin ER R EF =R
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Gross Profit and Gross Gross Profit Gross Margin Gross Profit ~ Gross Margin
Margin ERRERE I EH% £ e ES
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR®TR ARBTT
Specialty Pharmacy Business 5 %% 5% 5 % 75 183,345 5.0 185,444 5.9
Physician Research BRI ER
Assistance Business 66,238 20.7 44,859 18.3
Health Insurance Services 2 BE (R Pt AR 75 3£ 75
Business 87,769 63.5 53,146 57.4
Total st 337,352 8.2 283,449 8.2

Our gross profit in 2021 and 2022 were approximately RMB283.4
million and approximately RMB337.4 million, respectively, and our
gross margin remained relatively stable at approximately 8.2% in 2021
and 2022. The gross margin of our Specialty Pharmacy Business has
slightly decreased in 2022, mainly because of the change of product
structure, the decrease has been partially offset by the increase gross
margin of Health Insurance Services.
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Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains consist primarily of government grants, bank
interest income, foreign exchange differences, gains on financial assets
at FVTPL.

Our other income and gains increased by approximately 17.8% from
approximately RMB51.1 million in 2021 to approximately RMB60.2
million in 2022, primarily due to () an approximately RMB6.8 million
increase in the bank interest income; and (i) an approximately RMB11.0
million increase in the government grants.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of staff costs,
marketing and promotion fees, depreciation and amortization expenses,
travel and business related expense and others.

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately
14.2% from approximately RMB291.5 million in 2021 to approximately
RMB332.9 million in 2022, mainly due to an approximately RMB61.4
million increase in staff costs mainly for our Specialty Pharmacy
Business; partially offset by an approximately RMB19.5 million decrease
in marketing and promotion fees as a result of our improved sales
efficiency.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses consist primarily of staff costs, consulting
and service fees, travel and business related expense, depreciation and
amortization expenses, listing expense and others.

Our administrative expenses decreased by approximately 14.2% from
approximately RMB670.0 million in 2021 to approximately RMB575.0
million in 2022, mainly resulting from a decrease in the staff costs,
which is primarily due to the functional adjustment of the administrative
team and the improvement of administrative efficiency.

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of staff
costs and outsourcing cost and others. Our research and development
expenses increased by approximately 5.9% from approximately
RMB59.2 miillion in 2021 to approximately RMB62.7 million in 2022,
mainly due to an increase in staff costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Change in fair value of convertible redeemable
preferred shares

Our fair value loss on convertible redeemable preferred shares
decreased by approximately 74.6% from approximately RMB3,048.4
million in 2021 to approximately RMB775.3 million in 2022, reflecting
our more stable valuation status since 2022 and the increase of the
Company’s valuation upon its completion of the Global Offering on
December 23, 2022. These preferred Shares were automatically
converted to Ordinary Shares of the Company on a 1:1 basis on the
same day. Thus the fair value of convertible redeemable preferred
shares had been reclassified to equity accordingly in December 2022.

Income Tax

Our income tax expense increased by approximately 312.5% from
approximately RMBO0.8 million in 2021 to approximately RMB3.3 million
in 2022.

Non-IFRS Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with IFRSs, we also use adjusted loss (non-
IFRS measure) as an additional financial measure, which is not required
by, or presented in accordance with, IFRSs. We believe adjusted loss
(non-IFRS measure) facilitates comparisons of company to company by
eliminating potential impacts of items.

We believe adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) provides useful
information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
combined results of operations in the same manner as adjusted loss
(non-IFRS measure) help our management. However, our presentation
of adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures presented by other companies. The use of
adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) has limitations as an analytical tool,
and you should not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute
for an analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as
reported under IFRSs.

We define adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) as profit/(loss) for the year,
excluding () fair value changes of convertible redeemable preferred
shares; (i) share-based payment compensation; (i) listing expenses;
and (iv) transaction cost for the issue of convertible redeemable
preferred shares.

The convertible preferred shares have been converted into Ordinary
Shares of the Company on a 1:1 basis after the completion of the
Global Offering, and no further loss or gain on fair value changes is
expected to be recognized afterwards.
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The following table reconciles our adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) for
the years presented to the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with IFRSs, which is loss for
the years indicated:
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(BNFrRFREER) EITHRR:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Reconciliation of loss to adjusted loss EEHELAEEE (FEIFRYSE
(non-IFRS measure): WMEERFE) WEHER:
Loss for the year FRNEE (1,371,764) (3,748,503
Add: -
Fair value loss on convertible redeemable 7] & i 7] £ [0 {8 5t AR B9 A A
preferred shares 518 775,260 3,048,428
Share-based payment compensation LARR 17 5 B0 =2 < 0 357 B 315,852 298,682
Listing expense EHAX 21,970 28,783
Transaction cost for the issue of the BITARRR] AT SR A EE
Company’s convertible redeemable BEREIZZHKA
preferred shares - 7,526
Adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) for FRZFHREE (ERBRE
the year WEERFE) (258,682) (365,084)

Capital Management

During the Reporting Period, we primarily funded our working capital
requirements through capital contributions from our Shareholders
including net proceeds from the Global Offering. We monitor and
maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to
finance our operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Our net cash used in operating activities was approximately
RMB182.1 million in 2022.

Our Group manages our capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, our
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares.

Our Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2022, we recorded net current assets of
approximately RMB1,640.0 million. As at December 31, 2022, the
gearing ratio, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was
approximately 37.4%, as compared with approximately 287.7% as at
December 31, 2021.

As our business develops and expands, we expect to generate net
cash from our operating activities, through the sales revenue of our
future commercialized products. Going forward, we believe our liquidity
requirements will be satisfied by using funds from a combination of our
cash and cash equivalents and net proceeds from the Global Offering.
As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB1,455.5 million.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Disposal of Online Hospital Service

In order to improve our Group’s operational efficiency and focus on
our core businesses, we disposed our online hospital service operated
through Sipai Medical Hainan and its subsidiaries to the Excluded
Group on September 15, 2022 (the “Disposal’).

Before the Disposal, the online hospital service was part of our
value-added health management service underlying our health
insurance plans, and was provided to our members without additional
charges. We primarily provided health consultation, health management
and health education through our online hospital service. The online
hospital service accounted for a very insignificant portion of our Group
in terms of financial contribution, but we had spent disproportionate
time and resources to maintain its operation. We believe that the
Disposal would enable us to allocate the resources to our core
businesses more efficiently.

For details, please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganization
and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWE DT

Capital Expenditure BB

Our principal capital expenditures relate primarily to the purchase HFINETEEAEST T EHBE WA= HE -
of office equipment, softwares as well as leasehold improvements. &t A RIS EEE G X5 B
The following table sets forth our capital expenditures for the periods RFrREIRIAE R

indicated.

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TR AR®ET T

Purchases of property, plant and equipment & & ¥ %  BE M & & 3,957 16,577
Purchases of other intangible assets BEHMEFREE 7,846 4,832
Total # 11,803 21,409

Currency Risk EXE s

During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly operated in China and RIEHARN AEEB T EETEKLEBKH
a majority of its transactions were settled in Renminbi, the functional H XIEH X ZUKRATEEH B AT EE
currency of the Company’s primary subsidiaries. The Group is exposed B AR &EE - KE ETHRS MIETT
to foreign currency risk as a result of certain cash and bank balances 45 #4 LA 3ETh 88 & B 58 M m Fa SNE LB ©
denominated in non-functional currency. We currently do not have a /98 Bl fEAMNE ¥R IR o« AT BRPINE IR
foreign currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors & B5 #52 SN FE [& [ 17 48 0 B 55 B B & & ¥ )
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign 8 K4MNEE [ ©

currency exposure should the need arise.

Pledge of Assets BEEEKH

As at December 31, 2022, the pledged deposits pledged by the Group ~ 7202212 8310 AN EE G E A EE T L
for letters of credit amounted to approximately RMB76.2 million (2021: B EFERL A ARET76.28 & T (20214 :

nil). ) o

Contingent Liabilities HAREE

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 20229 12A31H NEFEWEE AHAE
2022. ER

BREBENEEMAT —F-=FFH 21



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As of December 31, 2022, we had 3,210 employees in total. Most of
them are stationed in China. We recruit our employees based on a
number of factors, including work experience, educational background
and the requirements of a relevant vacancy. We assess our employees
based on their performance to determine their salary, promotion and
career development.

We enter into standard employment agreements and confidentiality
agreements or clauses with all of our employees. We also enter into
non-compete agreements with our senior management and core
personnel. These agreements include a standard non-compete
covenant that prohibits such employee from competing with us, directly
or indirectly, during his or her employment and for a certain period after
termination of his or her employment. We maintain a good working
relationship with our employees, and we have not experienced any
material labor disputes.

We are committed to establishing a competitive and fair remuneration.
In order to effectively motivate our employees, we continually refine
our remuneration and incentive policies through market research. We
conduct performance evaluation for our employees at least once a
year to provide feedback on their performance. Compensation for our
employees typically consists of base salary and a performance-based
bonus.

Future Investment Plans and Expected Funding

As of December 31, 2022, we did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets.

OUTLOOK

We aspire to lead the digital transformation of China’s healthcare
industry. As our name “Medbanks” suggests, we started our journey
by building a robust “bank” of digital solutions and data insights, as
well as strong operational capabilities, to support more participants in
the healthcare ecosystem. Our journey will ultimately lead us to create
an integrated health management network that will bring quality and
accessible care to a large population.

We believe, by delivering clear values and serving and connecting the
stakeholders in China’s healthcare system, including patients, doctors,
medical institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers, we build
deep and trusting relationships that can be transformative to the
industry landscape.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Acquisition of Smart Pharmacy

On January 6, 2023, the Group entered into a share purchase
agreement with Sinopharm Group Hubei Co., Ltd ( B &5 f% 4L A
R /A a]) (“Sinopharm Group”) to acquire additional 45.00% equity
interests in Sinopharm Holdings Smart Pharmacy (Hubei) Co., Ltd. (E

T B REE (OBdE) BR A F) (“Smart Pharmacy”) for a
total cash consideration of RMB3,218,000 (the “Acquisition”). The
Acquisition was completed on January 6, 2023 when the Company
obtained control of the operating and financing activities of Smart
Pharmacy. Upon completion of the Acquisition, our Group holds 80.0%
of the equity interest in Smart Pharmacy and the remaining 20.0%
equity interest is held by an Independent Third Party.

Smart Pharmacy is primarily engaged in the retail of drugs and
pharmaceutical products in Hubei Province. Sinopharm Group, a
subsidiary of Sinopharm Group Co., Ltd. ( Bl %% i% i (7 A R A
7)) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1099),
is a state-owned enterprise primarily engaged in the distribution of
pharmaceutical products. The Acquisition is complementary to our
principal businesses and will enhance our presence in Hubei Province.
For details, please refer to the section headed “Waivers from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules and Exemptions From Strict
Compliance with The Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance” in the Prospectus.

Change of Joint Company Secretary, Authorized
Representative, Process Agent in Hong Kong and
Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

With effect from March 13, 2023:

()  due to commercial arrangement between the Company and
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“SWCS”),
Ms. TSANG Wing Man, as an employee of SWCS, has resigned
as the joint company secretary of the Company (the “Joint
Company Secretary”), and ceased to act as the authorized
representative of the Company as required under Rule 3.05 of
the Listing Rules (the “Authorized Representative”) and the
authorized representative of the Company for accepting on the
Company’s behalf service of process or notice to be served on
the Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Process Agent in Hong Kong’);
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

(i)  Ms. LI Ching Yi (“Ms. Li”) has been appointed as the Joint
Company Secretary, the Authorized Representative and the
Process Agent in Hong Kong, while Ms. REN Na (“Ms. Ren”)
will continue to act as the other Joint Company Secretary of the
Company; and

(i) the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong has
been changed to 14/F, Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The Stock Exchange has granted a new waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the relevant requirements of Rules 3.28 and 8.17
of the Listing Rules for the remaining period of the waiver previously
granted from March 13, 2023 (i.e. date of the appointment of Ms. Li as
a Joint Company Secretary to December 22, 2025) in relation to the
eligibility of Ms. Ren to act as a Joint Company Secretary.

For details, please refer to the announcement dated March 13, 2023 of
the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant event that took

place after the Reporting Period which require additional disclosures or
adjustments.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. MA Xuguang (EBE) , aged 52, co-founded with Mr. Li Sipai
(Beijing) Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( Bk (1t ) MERI B AR
‘A7) (“Sipai Beijing Network”) in March 2014 and the Company in
May 2015, and has been the Director, Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer since then. Mr. Ma was re-designated as the
executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Ma has over 20 years’ sales & marketing and management
experience in healthcare industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma
served as a district sales manager of Schering-Plough Corporation,
currently a subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc. (a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, stock code: MRK), from June 1997 to
October 2004. He then joined Schering AG (currently known as Bayer
HealthCare Pharmaceuticals Inc.), a subsidiary of Bayer AG (a company
listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock code: BAYN), as the
head of sales from August 2004 to September 2012. From January
2013 to March 2014, Mr. Ma served as the chief executive officer of
Guangjijunhe (Beijing) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. ([E#Z M (1L 5)
BEEMRERRAR) .

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from Harbin
Medical University (5 #8 8&F}AZ2) in July 1994.

Mr. LI Ji (Z4£) , aged 45, co-founded with Mr. Ma Sipai Beijing
Network in March 2014 and the Company in May 2015. He has been
the Director since August 2015 and President since March 2020. Mr. Li
was re-designated as the executive Director in July 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the district manager of
Schering-Plough (China) Co., Ltd. (5L E &M (R ) BRAA]) from
January 2002 to June 2008. Mr. Li served as a regional sales manager
of Bayer (China) Ltd., a subsidiary of Bayer AG (a company listed on
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock code: BAYN), from June 2008
to March 2010. Mr. Li re-joined Bayer (China) Ltd. and served as a
regional sales manager from February 2011 to December 2012. He
then joined Guangjijunhe (Beijing) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. ( & #
ER (b R) BERIE AR A7) as the general manager from January
2013 to March 2014.

Mr. Li graduated from the Shanxi Medical University ( [L 7828} A £2)
in July 2000, majoring in medical image. He then received his MBA
degree from the Beijing Jiaotong University (1t 328K ) in January
2011.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YAO Leiwen (ZkZEX) , aged 41, joined the Group in October
2019 and has served as the Director since then. He was re-designated
as a non-executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Yao was an associate at Deutsche Bank from February 2005 to
August 2008 and an investment director at Shenzhen Mindray Bio-
Medical Electronics Co., Ltd. from October 2010 to June 2011. Mr. Yao
has been the non-executive director of Kingsoft Corporation Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
3888) since August 2022. He has served as a Vice General Manager of
Tencent Investment Department of Tencent since June 2011.

Mr. Yao received his bachelor’'s degree in Economic Information
Management (4% {z B8 1) and master’s degree in finance from
University of International Business and Economics ( ¥f 4 48 75 &
5 RKE)in July 2002 and July 2005, respectively. He obtained his
master’s degree in Business Administration from Institut Européen
D’administration des Affaires (INSEAD) in France in 2010.

Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (R B#) , aged 41, joined the Group in
December 2020 and has served as the Director since then. He was
re-designated as a non-executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Zhang has served as a responsible officer of Jeneration Capital
Advisors (Hong Kong) Limited since March 2018. Before that,
Mr. Zhang worked with Coatue Management as a managing director
from September 2014 to January 2017 and worked as an investment
professional at DCM, a global venture capital fund, from July 2009 to
August 2014. Mr. Zhang has obtained extensive experience in business
management, financial management and investment in his past
experience which is of help to the business development and corporate
governance of our Group.

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting from Peking

University (36 5= KX E) in July 2003, and received his MBA degree from
Harvard University in June 2009.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R, alias R E &), aged 64, was
appointed as the independent non-executive Director on July 30, 2021
(effective from the Listing Date).

Mr. Chang is currently a standing council member of China Institute
of Internal Audit, and a member of Auditing Expert Panel of Asian
Development Bank. Mr. Chang has been an independent non-executive
director of Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9633) since March 2020.
Mr. Chang also has been an independent director and chairman of
audit committee of Cowealth Medical China Co., Ltd. (A & (
B)EBERERMBER AT (@ company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 603122) since April 2019. Mr. Chang
has been a professor at Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance of
Shanghai Jiaotong University since July 2018. He was a professor at
National Taiwan University from August 2016 to June 2018. Prior to
that, Mr. Chang successively served as the chief operating officer of
MarcumBP where he also led its China advisory services; managing
partner of China advisory services and global business risk services
leader for Grant Thornton; and partner of business risk services and
Asia Pacific life sciences leader for Ernst & Young from September
2007 to October 2016.

Mr. Chang received his bachelor's degree in business administration
from National Taiwan University in June 1980; his master’s degree in
accounting from University of Missouri-Columbia in the United States
in August 1983; and his PhD from Texas Tech University in the United
States in August 1987. Mr. Chang is a Certified Public Accountant of
Texas, United States.

Mr. HE Haijian (fJ/&#), aged 41, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on July 30, 2021 (effective from
the Listing Date).

Mr. He has been the chief financial officer and executive director of
Kingsoft Cloud Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Nasdaq,
stock code: KC and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 3896) since January 2020 and December 2022
respectively. Mr. He served as an executive director in the corporate
finance department at Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC from September
2015 to January 2020. Mr. He was an associate at Bank of America
Merrill Lynch from May 2014 to September 2015, and a vice president
at Citigroup Global Markets Inc. from October 2010 to May 20183.

Mr. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in information system from
Southeast University (B & A£) in June 2003, a master’'s degree
in electromagnetic field and microwave technology from Southeast
University in April 2006, and received an MBA from University of
Chicago in March 2014. Mr. He is also a CFA charter holder.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEAEREE

Ms. HUANG Bei (Z7%£) , aged 45, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on July 30, 2021 (effective from the Listing
Date).

Ms. Huang served as a vice president of Fidelity Ventures in Shanghai
office from November 2011 to February 2015. She has served as the
president of Bonre Orthopedics Hospital Group Co., Ltd. ( 738 & 7} 8
P& E AR5 B BR A 7)) since March 2015.

Ms. Huang received her bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering from
Zhejiang University in June 2000, her master’s degree in engineering
from University of Michigan-Ann Arbor in the United States in
December 2004, and her MBA degree from University of Pennsylvania
in the United States in June 2009.

Other Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules

Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors confirms with respect
to himself or herself, to the best of his or her knowledge, information
and belief, that as of the date of this annual report, (1) he or she
did not hold other long positions or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares, debentures of our Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO); (2) he or she
had no other relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholders of our Company; (3) he or she did not hold
any other directorships in the last three years in any public companies
whose securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
and/or overseas; and (4) there were no other matters concerning his
or her appointment that need to be brought to the attention of our
Shareholders and the Stock Exchange or shall be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules.

Each of our Director confirms that he or she does not have any
interest in a business, apart from the business of our Company,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our
business, and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHOU Teng (B B§) , aged 36, has been the Chief Strategy
Officer since January 2019. Mr. Zhou is responsible for formalizing,
implementing, overseeing the overall strategic planning and finance and
investment functions of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou served as a consultant of Roland
Berger Strategy Consultants from 2008 to 2010. From 2010 to 2011,
he served as a senior consultant of International Business Machines
Corporation. Mr. Zhou joined Bayer Healthcare Co., Ltd., a subsidiary
of Bayer AG (a company listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock
code: BAYN), as a strategy manager from 2011 to 2012. He then
served as a vice president of Eight Roads Capital (previously known as
Fidelity Growth Partners Asia) from September 2014 to January 2019.

Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’s degree in biotechnology (4 #7 %
fir) from Peking University (3t K88 ) in July 2008 and received an
MBA from Columbia University in the City of New York in May 2014.
Mr. Zhou was awarded a gold medal in 15th International Biology
Olympiad in 2004.

Mr. LI Qi’ang (ZB 5), aged 40, has been the Chief Operating
Officer since April 2019. Mr. Li is responsible for overseeing the
day-to-day administrative and operation of our Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the vice-general manager of
health insurance business unit at Guahao.com (Hangzhou) Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. (#5548 (F10) BHEBR A7), a subsidiary of
We Doctor Holdings Limited from November 2014 to February 2016.
Mr. Li joined Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B
EEGAEENT (ER)BRAA), a subsidiary of Baidu Inc. (a
company listed on the Nasdaq, stock code: BIDU)) from February
2016 to March 2017 with his last position as senior product designer
of medical business unit. He then joined Beijing Harmony Tianming
Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (Fl:& X8I E &2 (b R)
AMRRAF]), an investment vehicle of IDG Capital, from March 2017
to January 2018 as an investment manager. From February 2018 to
March 2019, Mr. Li served as an investment vice-president at Legend
Star Capital (B8 2 £) .

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’s degree in biological sciences from
Tsinghua University (j&ZE X2 ) in July 2004. He received his doctoral
degrees in chemical biology and chemistry from Max Planck Institute of
Molecular Physiology and Technical University of Dortmund in Germany,
respectively, in September 2011.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. REN Na ({E#8) , aged 45, was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company in July 2021. Ms. Ren joined in
the Group in July 2020 and has served as the general counsel since
then.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Ren worked in the legal department of
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. (fi/NF 2B EERAF]), a subsidiary
of CPMC Holdings Limited (@ company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0906)) from May 2010 to October
2011. From November 2011 to November 2014, Ms. Ren served as
the group legal manager of PAIG (China) Automobile Investment Co.,
Ltd. (BEHE (FE) AEKREBRAF) . She then served as a legal
specialist of ZhongAn Online P & C Insurance Co., Ltd. (R &Z 75
ERBIRMABRAT), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6060), from March 2017 to July 2020.

Ms. Ren obtained her bachelor’s degree in international economic law
from East China University of Political Science and Law ( R BUA A
2 in July 2000 and master’s degree in international and transnational
law from Chicago-Kent College of Law, lllinois Institute of Technology in
the United States in May 2016.

Ms. LI Ching Yi (Z&18) , has been appointed as the joint company
secretary of the Company on March 13, 2023. Ms. Li is a senior
manager of the Listing Corporate Services Department of Trident
Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional services firm. She
has over 10 years of professional experience in company secretarial
field. She is currently the company secretary of Yadong Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1795), and a joint company secretary of Yidu Tech
Inc. (stock code: 2158), Pop Mart International Group Limited (stock
code: 9992), Acotec Scientific Holdings Limited (stock code: 6669)
and 3D Medicines Inc. (stock code: 1244), all of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

Ms. Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries). She obtained a bachelor’s degree in social
sciences in October 2011 from Lingnan University in Hong Kong and a
master’s degree in professional accounting and corporate governance
in July 2015 from City University of Hong Kong.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group connects and delivers clear values to patients, doctors,
medical institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers across
China’s healthcare system through its robust technology platform
and data-enabled operational capabilities. The Company currently
runs three business lines, including specialty pharmacy business (the
“Specialty Pharmacy Business”), physician research assistance (the
“Physician Research Assistance”), and health insurance services
(the “Health Insurance Services”).

Specialty Pharmacy Business

The Specialty Pharmacy Business line consists of specialty pharmacy
and value-add professional pharmacist service, focusing on specialty
medicines for the treatment of oncology and other critical diseases.
Patients can access innovative medications from the Company
and receive pharmacist services, such as medication guidance, AE
consultation, and medication delivery. The Company also built up the
first and only nationwide specialty medicine management platform,
providing follow-up assessment service under a unified system,
differentiating the Company from its peers.

Physician Research Assistance

In the Physician Research Assistance business line, the Company
engages in SMO business to support pharmaceutical companies
in their drug R&D process from phase | to phase IV clinical trials.
Currently, the SMO business contributes the majority of the Physician
Research Assistance revenue. Its in-depth experience and professional
expertise in assisting clinical trials for oncology drugs differentiate the
Company from its peers. Notably, the Company has achieved 100%
coverage of 27 provincial specialized oncology hospitals and five
national cancer treatment centers. The Company proudly serves all top
ten public pharmaceutical companies in China that engage in R&D of
innovative drugs. During the Reporting Period, the Company achieved
a 100% client retention rate with respect to its top ten SMO clients, as
measured by revenue during the same period of time. Over 95% of its
SMO clients engage in R&D of oncology drugs and typically contract its
services for three to five years.
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Health Insurance Services

The robust health service provider network of the Company, together
with the Specialty Pharmacy Business, provides its members with
high quality health management services such as preventive care,
GP service, specialist referral, online hospital and overseas healthcare
network. Leveraging its data insights and actuarial capabilities, the
Company has co-developed differentiated health insurance plans with
major insurance carriers. Hui Min Insurance serves as a supplement
to the national basic medical insurance, offering additional coverage
for critical diseases, medical services, and specialty medicines at
a price affordable to the general population. In addition, Enterprise
Health Plans provide a more comprehensive and advanced protection
to employers and their employees, offering flexible quality health and
disease management services.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 159 to 167 of
this annual report.

DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTION

During the year ended December 31, 2022, no dividends have been
paid or declared by the Company.

The Company intends to retain most, if not all, of the Company’s
available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and
growth of the Company’s business and has not yet adopted a dividend
policy to declare or pay any dividends in the near future.

The Board has discretion as to whether to distribute dividends, subject
to certain restrictions under Cayman Islands law and the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), namely
that the Company may only pay dividends either out of profits or share
premium account, and provided always that in no circumstances may
a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company being unable
to pay its debts at they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In addition, our Shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare a
dividend, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by
our Board. Even if our Board decides to declare and pay dividends,
the timing, amount and form of future dividends, if any, will depend on,
among other things, our future results of operations and cash flow, our
capital requirements and surplus, the amount of distributions, if any,
received by us from our subsidiary, our financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our board of
directors.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2022.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Monday, June 26, 2023.
The notice of the AGM will be published and dispatched to the
Shareholders in due course in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
June 20, 2023 to Monday, June 26, 2023, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. The record
date for entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM is Monday, June
26, 2023. In order to be qualified to attend and vote at the AGM,
all completed transfers forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, June 19, 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year and the material factors underlying
its results and financial position as well as the outlook of the Group’s
business are provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 9 to 24 of this annual report. Description of the principal risks
and uncertainties faced the Group can be found throughout this annual
report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred after December 31, 2022, if any, can also be found in the
notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance by
reference to financial key performance indicators and environmental
policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, are provided in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Each of
the above-mentioned relevant contents form an integral part of this
Report of the Directors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business of the Group involves certain risks as set out in the
section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus. The following list is a
summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group,
some of which are beyond its control.

° its ability to manage the growth of business and operations or
implement business strategies;

° its ability to properly manage, create values or maintain a
symbiotic ecosystem for various participants in the healthcare
industry, including patients, doctors, medical institutions,
pharmaceutical companies and payers;

o its ability to adopt new technologies or adapt our products or
services to changing customers’ requirements or emerging
industry standards, and our efforts to invest in the development of
new technologies may be unsuccessful or ineffective;

° its ability to maintain compliance with data protection and
privacy-related laws and regulations;

° its ability to obtain and maintain the requisite licenses, permits
and approvals applicable to its business;

° all material aspects of its research and development activities;
and

° risks relating to industry, business and operations.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors
before making any investment in the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of,
or non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has clearly defined the role of the Board in ESG governance
and strives to integrate the concept of sustainable development
with the overall corporate development strategy. It has established a
top-down ESG governance structure with clear responsibilities. The
Board is responsible for overseeing and reviewing the overall ESG
objectives, management strategies and management approaches,
including identifying, evaluating, prioritizing and managing material ESG-
related issues. The Group conducted its first materiality assessment
on ESG issues during the Reporting Period and prioritized the
management and improvement of material issues. The Board reviewed
and confirmed the outcomes of the materiality assessment, considered
material issues as part of the formulation of the Group’s overall strategy
and oversaw the management and performance of these issues.

The environment policies and performance of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2022 is set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” section on pages 95 to 150 of this Annual Report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details on related party transactions for the Reporting Period are set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of any
related party transactions which also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions not fully exempted under Rule
14A.73 of the Listing Rules are disclosed below. Unless otherwise
stated, capitalized terms used below shall have the same meanings as
those used in the Prospectus.

Payment Services Framework Agreement
Principal Terms

The Group has entered into a payment services framework agreement
dated December 6, 2022 with Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems
Company Limited ORJI AT E# XS AR 2 7l) (“Tencent
Computer”) (the “Payment Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Tencent Group will provide the Group with payment
services through its payment channel to enable the members of the
Group to pay their insurance premiums for the health insurance plans
on the Group’s platform through Tencent payment channel. The Group
collects such insurance premiums on behalf of insurance carriers and
pay a withdrawal fee to Tencent Group. This connected transactions
is also a related party transaction, which is disclosed in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Pricing Policies

The service fee charged by Tencent Group is calculated as a
percentage of the total insurance premiums collected and withdrawn
by the Group on the Group’s platform through Tencent payment
channel. Such pre-determined fee rates are published on the website
of Tencent’s subsidiary providing such payment services which also
applies to other third parties, and are generally comparable with those
offered by Tencent Group’s competitors for services of a similar nature
and volume. The service fee rate currently applicable to the Group is
0.60%.

Before entering into any specific agreement under the Payment
Services Framework Agreement, the Group will assess its business
needs and compare the terms (including the service fee rate) proposed
by Tencent Group with those offered by other comparable service
providers. The Group will also take into account () the synergy with
its online platform such as its Weixin official account, (i) the quality
and stability of such payment services, and (iii) the familiarity with its
business needs.

Annual Caps

The annual caps for the service fees charged by Tencent Group for the
payment services for the year ended December 31, 2022 amounted
to RMB8.0 million, and two years ending December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2024 will amount to RMB10.0 million and RMB12.5
million, respectively.

Health Management Services Framework Agreement

Principal Terms

The Group has entered into a health management services framework
agreement dated December 6, 2022 with Medpion Cayman (the
“Health Management Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Excluded Group will provide the Group with
health management services for the individual members enrolled in
the Enterprise Health Plans, including physical and mental health
consultation. The Group has offered such health management services
as part of the promotion efforts for its Enterprise Health Plans. Individual
members enrolled in the Enterprise Health Plans will have free access
to such health management services provided by the Excluded Group
as and when necessary during the term of the Enterprise Health Plans.
This connected transactions is also a related party transaction, which
is disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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Pricing Policies

The service fee charged by the Excluded Group is calculated based
on arm’s length negotiation between the Group and Excluded Group
with reference to the fees charged by other market players for similar
services. The Group historically paid, and currently expects to pay,
approximately RMB500 to the Excluded Group for each individual
member enrolled in its Enterprise Health Plans who consumes such
health management services.

Before entering into any specific agreement under the Health
Management Services Framework Agreement, the Group will assess
its business needs and compare the terms (including the service fee)
proposed by the Excluded Group with those offered by other service
providers for comparable services. The Group will also take into
account (i) the quality and stability of such health management services,
and (i) the familiarity with its business needs.

Annual Caps

The annual caps for the service fees payable by the Group for the
health management services for the year ended December 31, 2022
amounted to RMB5.7 million, and two years ending December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2024 will amount to RMB13.0 million and
RMB28.0 million, respectively.

Contractual Arrangements

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in China, the
Company conducts online insurance brokerage service as part its
Health Insurance Services business through the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in China. The Company does not hold any equity interests
in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, but effectively control the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and are able to derive substantially all of
their economic benefits through the Contractual Arrangements.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the Group under the
Contractual Arrangements:

UTEEHARBENLHN RSB BER
EARKENZBEME R :

The Company
PiN/NC]
100%
WFOE Registered Shareholders!”
SEBERE 0 [T BRRR
1
1
Service fees | i Technical services Equity ownership
BBE 1 BRITARES P P
. 4

Consolidated Affiliated Entities (Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries)

LEBBER (RRERARKRENBAR)

Notes:

(1) The current Registered Shareholders of the Onshore Holdco are the Founders
of the Group, the other previous individual shareholders of Lucky Seven
(namely, LI Dayong, ZHANG Hongdan, LI Ran, LUO Wei and ZONG Ze) and
several individual investors of the Company at early stage (namely LIU Xiujiang,
ZHANG Hong and YANG Donghao). The Founders owned approximately
71.81% share capital of the Onshore Holdco as of the date of this annual

report.
) “—»" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest.
Q) “----B” denotes contractual relationship. Under the Contractual Arrangements,

WFOE shall provide technical services to the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall pay service fees to WFOE directly.

(4) fommen ” denotes the control by WFOE over the Registered Shareholders
through (i) powers of attorney to exercise all shareholders’ rights in each of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, (i) exclusive options to acquire all or part of
the equity interests in each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and (iii) equity
pledges over the equity interests in each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are the certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, the Company could
be subject to severe consequences, including the nullification
of the Contractual Arrangements and the relinquishment of its
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
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° The Company relies on Contractual Arrangements with the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their shareholders for a portion
of its business operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

° Any failure by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities or its
shareholders to perform their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements with them would have a material and adverse
effect on the business of the Group.

o The Company may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities that are material to its
business operations if the Consolidated Affiliated Entities declares
bankruptcy or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation
proceeding.

o The ultimate shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
may have conflicts of interest with the Company.

o The Company conducts its business operations in the PRC
through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC
laws.

° If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, the ownership or asset
transfer may subject us to certain limitations and substantial
costs.

° PRC regulation of loans to and direct investment in PRC entities
by offshore holding companies and governmental control of
currency conversion may delay or prevent the Company from
making loans to the Consolidated Affiliated Entities or making
additional capital contributions to its wholly foreign-owned
subsidiaries in China, which could materially and adversely affect
its liquidity and its ability to fund and expand its business.

° The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by
the PRC tax authorities, and a finding that the Company owes
additional taxes could substantially reduce its consolidated net
income and the value of your investment.

o The current corporate structure and business operations may be
affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to Our Corporate Structure and Contractual Arrangements” of
the Prospectus.
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Summary of the Material Terms of the Contractual
Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

WFOE and Onshore Holdco entered into an exclusive business
cooperation agreement on May 10, 2021 (the “Holdco Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement”), pursuant to which Onshore
Holdco has engaged WFOE as the exclusive provider to provide
Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries with comprehensive technical
service, technical consulting and other services, including operation
and business support, technical service, network support, business
consulting, financial consulting, intellectual property licensing, property
lease, market consulting, product research and development, system
maintenance, management consulting and other related services
as requested by Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries to the extent
permitted under PRC laws.

Without the WFOE’s prior written consent, Onshore Holdco shall not,
and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, (i) receive services which are
identical or similar to the services covered by the Holdco Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement from any third party, or (i) enter into
any similar cooperation with any third party.

In consideration of the services provided by WFOE, Onshore Holdco
shall pay services fees to WFOE, which, subject to WFOE’s adjustment
at its sole discretion, shall consist of all the consolidated net profit of
Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries (net of accumulated deficit in the
previous financial years (if any), costs, expenses, taxes and payments
required by the applicable laws to be reserved or withheld). The service
fees shall be paid annually by Onshore Holdco.

The Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall become
effective upon signing and remain effective until, among other things,
WFOE or its designee acquire all the equity interest in and/or all assets
of Onshore Holdco pursuant to the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option
Agreement below. Onshore Holdco shall not unilaterally terminate the
Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

In addition, WFOE and Beijing Sipai Brokerage entered into an
exclusive business cooperation agreement on September 15, 2022
(the “Subsidiary Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement’,
together with the Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements”), pursuant to
which Beijing Sipai Brokerage has engaged WFOE as the exclusive
provider to provide Beijing Sipai Brokerage with comprehensive services
and Beijing Sipai Brokerage shall pay services fees to WFOE. The key
terms of the Subsidiary Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
are similar with those of the Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement.
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Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements

WFOE, Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders entered
into an exclusive purchase option agreement on May 10, 2021 (the
“Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement”), pursuant to
which Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders have granted
WFOE or its designee an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase at
any time and to the extent permitted by the then applicable PRC laws (i)
from each of the Registered Shareholders all or any part of their equity
interests in Onshore Holdco and/or (i) from Onshore Holdco all or any
of its assets or interests in any of its assets.

Without the WFOE’s prior written consent, Onshore Holdco and the
Registered Shareholders shall not sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise
dispose of the shares or assets with a value of more than RMB1million
(as the case may be) of Onshore Holdco.

The purchase price payable by WFOE or its designee in respect of the
transfer of shares or assets shall be the nominal value or the lowest
price permitted under the PRC laws, and the Registered Shareholders
shall return the purchase price in full to WFOE or its designee to the
extent permitted under the PRC laws applicable then.

The Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement shall become
effective upon signing and remain effective until that () WFOE or its
designee acquire all the equity interest in and/or all assets of Onshore
Holdco and (i) WFOE and its subsidiaries are permitted to carry out the
business of Onshore Holdco under the applicable PRC laws. Onshore
Holdco and the Registered Shareholders shall not unilaterally terminate
the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement.

In addition, WFOE, Onshore Holdco and Beijing Sipai Brokerage
entered into an exclusive purchase option agreement on September
15, 2022 (the “Subsidiary Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement”,
together with the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, the
“Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements”), pursuant to which
Beijing Sipai Brokerage and Onshore Holdco have granted WFOE
or its designee an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase at any
time and to the extent permitted by the then applicable PRC laws (i)
from Onshore Holdco all or any part of its equity interests in Beijing
Sipai Brokerage and/or (i) from Beijing Sipai Brokerage all or any of its
assets or interests in any of its assets. The key terms of the Subsidiary
Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement are similar with those of the
Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement.
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Equity Pledge Agreements

WFOE, Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders entered into
an equity pledge agreement on May 10, 2021 (the “Holdco Equity
Pledge Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Registered Shareholders
has pledged all of their respective equity interests in Onshore Holdco
to WFOE as the first priority security to guarantee performance of their
contractual obligations under the Contractual Arrangements and all
liabilities, monetary debts or other payment obligations arising out of or
in relation with the Contractual Arrangements.

Without the WFOE’s prior written consent, the Registered Shareholders
shall not transfer or otherwise dispose of all or part of the pledged
shares.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the Holdco
Equity Pledge Agreement), unless it is successfully resolved to WFOE’s
satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified by WFOE, WFOE may
exercise its right of pledge at any time, including (i) requesting the
Registered Shareholders or Onshore Holdco to pay WFOE any due
payments, debt or any other payment under the Holdco Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement and/or any loan, or (i) dispose the
pledged equity interests in accordance with the Holdco Equity Pledge
Agreement or otherwise as permitted under PRC laws, including
selling the pledged equity interests at discount or by way of auction.
The Registered Shareholders have agreed to irrevocably waive their
pre-emptive right as existing shareholders when WFOE exercises such
right of pledge.

The Holdco Equity Pledge Agreement shall become effective upon
signing and remain effective until, among other things, (i) all obligations
of Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders are satisfied in full,
or (i) WFOE or its designee acquire all the equity interest in and/or all
assets of Onshore Holdco, and WFOE and its designees are permitted
to carry out the business of Onshore Holdco under the applicable PRC
laws.

The Group has registered the pledge of all the equity interests in Onshore
Holdco with the relevant administration for market regulation of the PRC.

In addition, WFOE, Onshore Holdco and Beijing Sipai Brokerage
entered into an equity pledge agreement on September 15, 2022
(the “Subsidiary Equity Pledge Agreement”, together with the
Holdco Equity Pledge Agreement, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”),
pursuant to which, the Onshore Holdco agrees to pledge all of its
respective equity interests in Beijing Sipai Brokerage to WFOE as
the first priority security to guarantee performance of its contractual
obligations under the Contractual Arrangements and all liabilities,
monetary debts or other payment obligations arising out of or in relation
with the Contractual Arrangements. The key terms of the Subsidiary
Equity Pledge Agreement are similar with those of the Holdco Equity
Pledge Agreement.
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Voting Proxy Agreements

WFOE, Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders entered
into a voting proxy agreement on May 10, 2021 (the “Holdco Voting
Proxy Agreement”), pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders
have appointed WFOE and/or its designee as their exclusive agent
and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning Onshore
Holdco and to exercise all of their rights as shareholders of Onshore
Holdco.

Without the WFOE’s prior written consent, the Registered Shareholders
shall not exercise any rights attached to the shares of Onshore Holdco
which have been authorized to WFOE or its designee.

As a result of the Holdco Voting Proxy Agreement, the Company,
through WFOE, is able to exercise management control over the
activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of
Onshore Holdco. The Holdco Voting Proxy Agreement shall become
effective upon signing and remain effective until, among other things, (i)
WFOE or its designees acquire all the equity interest in and/or all assets
of Onshore Holdco, and (i) WFOE and its designees are permitted to
carry out the business of Onshore Holdco under the applicable PRC
laws.

In addition, WFOE, Onshore Holdco and Beijing Sipai Brokerage
entered into a voting proxy agreement on September 15, 2022 (the
“Subsidiary Voting Proxy Agreement”, together with the Holdco
Voting Proxy Agreement, the “Voting Proxy Agreements”), pursuant
to which Onshore Holdco has appointed WFOE and/or its designee
as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on its behalf on all matters
concerning Beijing Sipai Brokerage and to exercise all of its rights
as the shareholder of Beijing Sipai Brokerage. The key terms of the
Subsidiary Voting Proxy Agreement are similar with those of the Holdco
Voting Proxy Agreement.

Spouse Consents

The spouse of each of the individual Registered Shareholders (if
applicable) has executed a consent letter, pursuant to which he/she
has unconditionally and irrevocably agreed to the execution of the
Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, the Holdco Equity
Pledge Agreement and the Holdco Voting Proxy Agreement, and has
no objection regarding the Contractual Arrangements.
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The spouse of each of the individual Registered Shareholders further
agrees that (i) any equity interests held by his/her spouse as a
Registered Shareholder in Onshore Holdco are not their communal
properties; (i) he/she does not have any interest in the equity interests
of Onshore Holdco, and will not raise any claim on the equity interest
of Onshore Holdco; (i) he/she will not take any measures that are in
conflict with the Contractual Arrangements; and (iv) he/she will take
any necessary measures to procure the performance of the relevant
agreements underlying the Contractual Arrangements.

The Foreign Investment Law

On March 15, 2019, the NPC promulgated the Foreign Investment
Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {fF#E AR LFBEINFIRE
7%) ) (the “FIL”) and replaced effective on January 1, 2020. After the
FIL comes into effect, the FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures ( (R ANE B#E & F)E) ), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures ( {4NE EAL & B2 )E) ) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises ( (YNE 1 2%) ) and became the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC.

The FIL stipulates three forms of foreign investment, but does not
explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign
investment The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. The FIL does not
mention concepts including “de facto control” and “controlling through
contractual arrangements” nor does it specify the regulation on
controlling through contractual arrangements. Furthermore, the FIL
stipulates that foreign investment includes “Foreign Investors invest
in China through many other methods under laws, administrative
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council”. There
are possibilities that future laws, administrative regulations or
provisions promulgated by the State Council may regard Contractual
Arrangements as a form of foreign investment, at which time it will be
uncertain whether the Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be
in violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how the
above-mentioned Contractual Arrangements will be handled. Therefore,
there is no guarantee that the Contractual Arrangements and the
business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities will not be materially
and adversely affected in the future due to changes in PRC laws and
regulations. In the event that such measures are not complied with, the
Stock Exchange may take enforcement actions against us which may
have a material adverse effect on the trading of the Shares.
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Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

The Company conducts online insurance brokerage service (the
“Relevant Service”) as part of its Health Insurance Services business.
The Company currently operates the Relevant Service through the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities as PRC laws currently restrict foreign
ownership of value-added telecommunications service providers.

As a result of the restrictions imposed by PRC laws, the Company is
unable to own or hold any direct equity interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, the term ‘ownership’ or the relevant
concept, as applied to the Company in this annual report, refers to an
economic interest in the assets or businesses through the Contractual
Arrangements without holding any equity interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. The Contractual Arrangements, through which the
Company is able to exercise control over and derive the economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, are narrowly tailored
to achieve its business purpose and minimize the potential for conflict
with relevant PRC laws.

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List)
for Foreign Investment Access (2021 Edition) (4} & & A4 B
EEE (BMESE) (2021), the “Negative List”), provision of
value-added telecommunications services falls within the “restricted”
category. As such, the shareholding percentage of a foreign investor
in companies engaged in value-added telecommunications services
(other than electronic commerce, domestic multi-party communication,
storage-forwarding and call center) shall not exceed 50%. In addition,
pursuant to the Administrative Measures on Internet Information
Services (BBt #{z B IR & B #t)%, the “Administrative
Measures”), a provider of “commercial internet information services”
(2 ETBEE B IR, namely provision of information or
website-design services through the internet to internet-users for a fee)
is required to obtain an ICP license.

The online insurance brokerage service of the Company involves
operation of commercial internet information services under the
Administrative Measures, such as online exhibition and sales of
insurance products, online information search and online claim initiation.
Such commercial internet information services is a sub-category of
value-added telecommunications services under the Negative List and
is therefore subject to foreign ownership restrictions and an ICP license
is required.

The online insurance brokerage service of the Company is conducted
by Beijing Sipai Brokerage which holds an ICP license.
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The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements
relate to requirements other than the foreign ownership
restriction

In addition to the foreign ownership restrictions above, pursuant
to the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (2016 Revision) (4hiE#& & & (= 1
¥ E B FE (20161835]) , the “FITE Regulations”) which has been
further amended by the Order No. 752 below, a “major foreign investor”
(i.e., a foreign investor who contributes more than 30% of the foreign
investment and is the largest investor among all the foreign investors)
who invests in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in, and a proven track record of good
performance of, operating value-added telecommunications businesses
(the “Qualification Requirements”). Foreign investors that meet
these requirements must obtain approvals from the MIIT which retain
discretion in granting such approvals.

The MIIT issued a Guidance on the Application Requirements for
Establishing Foreign-invested Value-added Telecommunications
Enterprises in the PRC (/M EREL EBEXHEERMIREITER, the
“FIVATE Guidance”). According to the FIVATE Guidance, in order to
prove that it satisfies the Qualification Requirements, a foreign investor
applicant is required to provide a description of the value-added
telecommunications services previously provided by itself or its
direct shareholder/subsidiary, supported by, among other things, (a)
screenshots of websites and apps previously operated, and (b) color
scanned copy of previous telecommunication business licenses issued
by the relevant local authorities (unless no license is required in the
relevant jurisdiction). The FIVATE Guidance does not provide any further
guidance on the documents required to prove the satisfaction of the
Qualification Requirements.

On April 7, 2022, the State Council issued the Decision to Amend and
Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations ( B 7 B5 B8 7 & 24 Fl g 11 2B
DITBUEIR KR IE, the “Order No. 752”), which among other things,
removed the Qualification Requirements with effect from May 1, 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced during the
Reporting Period. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Contractual Arrangements
had been unwound on the basis that none of the restrictions that led to
the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had been removed. As
of December 31, 2022, our Company had not encountered interference
or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in operating its
businesses through its Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the
Contractual Arrangements.
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The table below set out the annual caps and the actual transaction
amount of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions for
the year ended December 31, 2022:

Actual

Transaction

Annual cap for Amount for

the year ended the year ended

December December

Connected Connected 31, 2022 31, 2022

Connected Transaction  Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
B 2022

B £2022F 12A31H 1t

12A31H 1t FEH

FENFELR ERRZEH

HEXZ BEAL BEBF k] (AR%EER) (AR%¥EER)
Payment Services Tencent Computer ~ Tencent Computerisa  Tencent Group will provide 8 4,92

Framework Agreement subsidiary of Tencent,  the Group with payment
one of the substantial  services through its
Shareholders payment channel to
enable the members of
the Group to pay their
insurance premiums for
the health insurance plans
on the platform of the
Group through Tencent
payment channel.
SN PRBIER HZ BAAE BAAERARAN RBASESBRAHINE
EAR AR BRAREERM MR
FERRZ— B EREENEEEH
BBRANXNREE
AEENTS FHHERE

BRI B RIRE

BIRRER EARA A
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended  the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2022 31, 2022
Connected Transaction  Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
HZ22022F
220225 12A318 L
12A318 L FEN
FENFELR ERRZ¢H
BERXS HEAL BEREZ Bk (AR¥EER) (ARWEER)
Health Management Medpion Cayman ~ Medpion Cayman is the The Excluded Group wil Bt/ 5.66
Services Framework holding company of provide the Group with
Agreement the Excluded Group. health management
As the shareholding services for the individual
structure of members enrolled in
Medpion Cayman the Enterprise Health
substantially mirrored ~ Plans, including physical
the Company’s and mental health
shareholding consultation.
structure before
Series F financing
(including the
Founders and other
major Shareholders),
the Company will
voluntarily treat
Medpion Cayman as
its connected person.
BEEERBIERGZ Medpion Cayman ~ Medpion Cayman & ZIBEFEE St
HEEENZERR rREERBENE
] ° f # Medpion AEERASERHERE
Cayman MR EZERE  REERRE 2EHLE
ABBTTALAE R#H-
FiRal & < RIEARIE
Rig (AFEIBAR
HEtARR) AR
71 B B2 £ Medpion
Cayman 1% A E i
At
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended  the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2022 31, 2022
Connected Transaction ~ Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
HZ2022%
HZ2022F 12A31A L
12A318 L FEN
FENFELR ERRZEH
BERZ BEAT BEREZ Bkl (AR¥EER) (ARWEER)
Contractual Arrangements  Mr. MA Xuguang Each of Due to regulatory restrictions N/A N/A
Mr. LI Ji Mr. MA Xuguang on foreign ownership
and Mr. LI Jiis an in China, the Company
executive Director of conducts online insurance
the Company brokerage service as part
of its Health Insurance
Services business through
the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in China.
SRR SRELE SREEERZELE P EHMNERAEN NEM TiEm
FlgsE HRARTHITESE  EERE AARARBE

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the

PENGAHEERRN
REBBRBELRS
ERARERRRBEE
BR -850

BUFNTEZCBH LAKERERS

above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and confirmed RSB :
that the transactions had been entered into:
(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (1) REAEBRER—REBHBEFREIL:

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and Q) I REEERIEEBRRET L &

() according to the agreements governing them on terms that are  (3) RBEREZETHFINHBERATAER

fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a AR SR IETRET L
whole.
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The auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the above mentioned continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

The auditors of the Group had informed the Board and confirmed
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the continuing connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the listed issuer’s board of directors;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the listed issuer’s group if the transactions involve the
provision of goods or services by the listed issuer’s group;

(8)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4) have exceeded the cap.

In respect of each of the above-mentioned non-exempt connected
transactions, we have applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted us, a waiver from strict compliance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, there was no connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction of the Group which has to be
disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules, save for the foregoing.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company'’s results, assets and liabilities for the last
four financial years are set out on page 6 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of the date of this annual report, the Company had 3,210
employees in total. Most of them are stationed in China.

The Company enters into standard employment agreements and
confidentiality agreements or clauses with all of its employees. The
Company also enters into non-compete agreements with its senior
management and core personnel. These agreements include a
standard non-compete covenant that prohibits such employee from
competing with the Company, directly or indirectly, during his or her
employment and for a certain period after termination of his or her
employment.

The Company is committed to establishing a competitive and
fair remuneration. In order to effectively motivate its employees,
the Company continually refines its remuneration and incentive
policies through market research. The Company conducts conduct
performance evaluation for our employees at least once a year
to provide feedback on their performance. Compensation for its
employees typically consists of base salary and a performance-based
bonus.

The Company believes that it has maintained good working
relationships with its employees. During the year ended December
31, 2022, the Company was not subject to any material claims,
lawsuits, penalties or administrative actions relating to non-compliance
with occupational health and safety laws or regulations, and had not
experienced any strikes, labor disputes or industrial actions which have
had a material effect on its business.

Major Customers

The Company has a broad base of customers. Its top customers
are primarily pharmaceutical companies for the Specialty Pharmacy
Business and Physician Research Assistance business, and insurance
carriers for the Health Insurance Services business. The Specialty
Pharmacy Business customers consist of individual patients that
purchase medicines at the specialty pharmacies, and pharmaceutical
distributors and pharmaceutical companies that procure medication
from Guangdong Dahui. During the Reporting Period, a substantial
portion of the Specialty Pharmacy Business revenue was generated by
medication retail sales to individual patients.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s sales to its
five largest customers accounted for approximately 7.66% of the
Group’s total sales and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 2.71%.

So far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or executive
officers of the Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates
or any Shareholders of the Company holding more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company immediately following the
completion of the Global Offering, had any interests in any of the five
largest customers during the year ended December 31, 2022 and up
to the date of this annual report.

Major Suppliers

The top suppliers of the Company are primarily pharmaceutical
manufacturers and distributors for the Specialty Pharmacy Business.
Suppliers of the Health Insurance Services business are mainly
companies providing business promotion and fee processing services
to the Company. Since the Group provides professional services by
itself in the Physician Research Assistance business line, the Company
does not need third party suppliers. For the Reporting Period, the
Company partnered with over 571 reputable manufacturers or
distributors, among which we typically had more than three years of
collaboration with our medication suppliers.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 73.30% of the
Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 36.83%.

All of the five largest suppliers during the year ended December 31,
2022 are Independent Third Parties. So far as the Directors are aware,
none of the Directors or executive officers of the Company or its
subsidiaries, their respective associates or any Shareholders of the
Company holding more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company immediately following the completion of the Global Offering,
had any interests in any of the five largest suppliers during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at December 31, 2022, the issued share capital of the Company
was 763,025,314 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended December 31, 2022 are set out on pages 163 to 164 in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2022, the Group did not have any distributable
reserves.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans or other borrowings as at
December 31, 2022 (2021: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report and based on the information
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public float of
25% as required under the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this annual report are
set out below:

BhRBEERE
HBERMASFASHEEZNTEEREESL
BEENG BEARAR AR HIRIIRE
&% R B &S AR D ©

EENGHNEERE
HE2022F12A31B L FENBEEAFRA
B ARNREENSRERBENWT

Appointment

Name Position in the Company date of current term
" RA R B 2B REEHBNEEAEH
Directors

=

Mr. MA Xuguang Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer  May 19, 2015
BBELE: WITES EFSIRFEERNTE 2015%5H19H

Mr. LI Ji Executive Director and President August 17, 2015
FlEEE MITEEFRAH 201558 A17H

Mr. YAO Leiwen Non-executive Director October 29, 2019
kB R & FEMITES 20194 10H29H

Mr. ZHANG Ziguan Non-executive Director December 11, 2020
RERELE FEHITES 202012 A11H

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi  Independent Non-executive Director
(R, alias FREH) BIUIEMITES

CHANG Stanley Yi (58
- Bl R BE) kA4

Mr. HE Haijian Independent Non-executive Director
GIpE3=S s BUFHNTEE
Ms. HUANG Bei Independent Non-executive Director
'BRERL BUFHNTEF
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Appointment

Name Position in the Company date of current term
#®A R R 2 B REEHNEEEE
Senior management

BREEE

Mr. MA Xuguang Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer May 2015
SIEExE EESXIFERAFBUTE 2015554

Mr. LI Ji President August 2015
U B 201548 A

Mr. ZHOU Teng Chief Strategy Officer January 2019

EB L BREEEE 20191 A

Mr. LI Qi'ang Chief Operating Officer April 2019
FERHELE BREER 201944 A

To the best of the Board’s knowledge, information and belief, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management
do not have any relationship amongst them.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report.

WEF AR B NS BRAFRATE
BENEEZNSRERE ZHIL BT
&e

EELRAEREENBEFBIENAFRE
25%308 °
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

The executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company under which he agreed to act as an executive Director for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in writing served by
either the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company under which they agreed to act as non-executive
Directors for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in
writing served by either the non-executive Directors or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than 30
days’ notice in writing served by either the independent non-executive
Director or the Company.

The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement
and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent and
remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company
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R2022F 12831 AR R EE N ESITH
ABRARQR S HEAMEE A (EER F
FREIEEH) EXVED) G - BRERD &
BEEEPHEERE GBHERBEKR) EXV
HETRSDEHE MG AR F) KB R FTHE S
KAR (BIERE (BHEEPEGEG) NERH
BEXHEES R BHERNERLAR) IR
B (BHERBEED) E3B258 8N EFE
MELMAOER AR  RIRBIZETR S
THEARAR R ATHES OB IT

RS2 R AT K M BE IR 42 Ay e

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (EERATREN
EEpR B RERMtE HERAAZY BMAOT D (%)
Mr. MA Xuguang (“Mr. Ma”)*® Interest in controlled corporation; 163,534,455 (L) 21.43%
interest held jointly with another person
BBELE ([HEE]) PO REZIEEE R R
HE—ZATHERBENER
Mr. LI Ji (“Mr. LI")?® Interest in controlled corporation; 163,534,455 (L) 21.43%

interest held jointly with another person

TS E ([FRE]) Y RSB MRS

A B AT HEHANER

Notes:

(1) As at December 31, 2022, the Company had issued 763,025,314 Shares in
total. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  On August 5, 2021, Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, WISE APPROACH INVESTMENTS
LIMITED (“Wise Approach”), CREATIVE PIONEER INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(“Creative Pioneer”) and Sail Far Holdings Limited (“Sail Far”) entered into
a concert party agreement to confirm that they have acted in concert in the
management, decision-making and all major decisions of the Group. As
such, each of Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far is
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which each other is interested.

Each of Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far was incorporated in BVI
as a limited company as an employee incentive platform for the employees of
the Company, and beneficially owns 40,410,926, 16,119,529 and 10,004,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company, respectively.

(1) H2022F12A31H » &2 &) £ 5 17763,025,314
BRAR(D o TR L] A TRIRD BT E -

@ M2021FE8HAH B A FHx 4L
WISE APPROACH INVESTMENTS LIMITED
([Wise Approach ) - CREATIVE PIONEER
INVESTMENTS LIMITED ([ Creative Pioneer ])
J% Sail Far Holdings Limited ( [Sail Far |) 573 —
BITE @ UERARSEREENER RR
MATBERRER —BITH AL FhaE F
5T 4 - Wise Approach * Creative Pioneer % Sail Far
AR RN R REORD P AR -

Wise Approach * Creative Pioneer & Sail Fartd &
REBRAFSTMAZNERAR  ERA
SERENEERETE UDRNEREAAR
A 740,410,926/ + 16,119,529% 10,004,000
e AR
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Lucky Seven Healthcare Co., Ltd. (“Lucky Seven”) beneficially owns
57,000,000 Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company
incorporated in the BVI. As of the Date of this annual report, Lucky Seven was
owned as to approximately 0.02% by Simul International Holdings Limited (the
“Simul”), a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of Mr. Ma, 21.93%
by Salutem Holdings Limited and 78.05% by Hygeia Investment Holdings
Limited (“Hygeia”), both of which are the holding companies pursuant to the
family trust of Mr. Ma respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of Simul and
Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by Lucky Seven.

Spire-succession Limited (“Spire-succession”) beneficially owns 40,000,000
Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company incorporated
in the BVI. As of the Date of this annual report, Spire-succession was
owned as to approximately 0.0002% by Shining-succession Limited
(“Shining-succession”), a wholly-owned company incorporated in
BVI of Mr. Li and 99.9998% by Sper-succession Holdings Limited
(“Sper-succession”), a holding company pursuant to the family trust of Mr. Li,
respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of Shining-succession and Mr. Li
is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by Spire-succession.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, none of the
Directors of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at December 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company, the following persons (not being
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the

Company
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TERRRRG R AARR G K E
ERARE

M2022F12A31H " BARREETS &ZSIT
BABATRA THAL (WIHFEARBESK
ERITBRAB)RBROKEEKRGFHERIR
B (BHFRHEGH) FEXVEBFE2RID Bk
XABARAFBRELCHEREARARE GB
HRHE KD F336IKEFENELMAE
HEKR

RS2 B R AT R 8B IR 40 VR

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
FER®G, S HEATREN
BRREE BB B, REmtE HEROAE"Y #MOBH (%)
Mr, Ma®“® Interest in controlled corporation; 163,534,455 21.43%
55 Sp 4 O interest held jointly with another
person
R EE R R
HE— AT HRBEHOER
Mr, Li®®® Interest in controlled corporation; 163,534,455 21.43%
2= 4 OO interest held jointly with another
person
R A E R R
HPE— AL HRAFEERE
Wise Approach®“® Beneficial owner; interest held jointly 163,534,455 21.43%
with another person
En#EEAN HE—ALTHA
BEMNER
Creative Pioneer®“® Beneficial owner; interest held jointly 163,534,455 21.43%

with another person
EREAA B — ATHA
FAEOER
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Total number

Approximate
percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (XD TAREN
BEKE BB 54, EakE HERAAHY BMOE D (%)"
Sail Far®“® Beneficial owner; interest held jointly 163,534,455 21.43%
with another person
EnBEAN  BE—ALTHA
BB ER
Lucky Seven® Beneficial owner 57,000,000 7.47%
EnEEA
Simul® Interest in controlled corporation 57,000,000 7.47%
RZ I EB R S
Spire-succession® Beneficial owner 40,000,000 5.24%
EREEA
Shining-succession® Interest in controlled corporation 40,000,000 5.24%
REZ I EB R S
Tencent Mobility Limited® Beneficial owner 168,266,382 22.05%
(“Tencent Mobility”) EmEB A
TPP Follow-on | Holding H Limited®  Beneficial owner 40,852,974 5.35%
(“TPP Follow-on”) Em#EB A
Tencent® Interest in controlled corporation 209,119,356 27.41%
i REZ I EB R S
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Total number

EEEHE

Approximate
percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (AR DTAREN
BEKE BB B4, EEtE HERAAHY BMOEDH(%)"
Eight Roads Investments" Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 68,231,737 8.94%
corporation
Enfgn NIEEEER
Eight Roads Holdings Limited” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.02%
REZIEEERER
Eight Roads Shareholdings Limited” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.02%
REZIEEE R ER
Pandanus Partners L.P."” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.02%
REZIEEE R ER
Pandanus Associates Inc.” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.02%
REZIEEE R ER
Impresa Fund IIl Limited Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 69,191,196 9.07%
Partnership” corporation
EnfEn NIEEEEZR
Impresa Management LLC" Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.09%
REZIEEE R ER
Abigail P. Johnson"” Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.09%
REZIEEE R ER
Edward C. Johnson IV* Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.09%
REZIEEE R ER
FMR LLC" Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.09%
MNEZIEEERER
Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang® Interest in controlled corporation 53,072,466 6.96%

Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang 5t 4 ©

N EEE R

BIREZEBRERAR

—2-—55% 61
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Notes:

(1)

@
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All interests stated are long positions.

The table above assumes the Preferred Shares will be automatically converted
into Ordinary Shares of par value US$0.0001 each upon completion of the
Global Offering.

On August 5, 2021, Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail
Far entered into a concert party agreement to confirm that they have acted
in concert in the management, decision-making and all major decisions of
the Group. As such, each of Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer
and Sail Far is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which each other is
interested.

Each of Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far was incorporated in BVI
as a limited company as an employee incentive platform for the employees of
the Company, and beneficially owns 40,410,926, 16,119,529 and 10,004,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company, respectively.

Lucky Seven beneficially owns 57,000,000 Shares. As of the date of this
annual report, Lucky Seven was owned as to approximately 0.02% by Simul,
a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of Mr. Ma, 21.93% by Salutem
Holdings Limited and 78.05% by Hygeia, both of which are the holding
companies pursuant to the family trust of Mr. Ma respectively. As such, under
the SFO, each of Simul and Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the equity
interest held by Lucky Seven.

Spire-succession beneficially owns 40,000,000 Shares. As of the date of this
annual report, Spire-succession was owned as to approximately 0.0002%
by Shining-succession, a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of
Mr. Li and 99.9998% by Sper-succession, a holding company pursuant
to the family trust of Mr. Li, respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of
Shining-succession and Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the equity interest
held by Spire-succession.

Tencent Mobility beneficially owns 168,266,382 Shares of the Company and
is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tencent. TPP Follow-on beneficially
owns 40,852,974 Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which is controlled by
Tencent. As such, under the SFO, Tencent is deemed to be interested in the
equity interest held by each of Tencent Mobility and TPP Follow-on.
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Eight Roads Investments directly holds 28,752,315 Shares. In addition, it has
more than one-third interest in each of Asia Ventures lll L.P.,, ERVC Healthcare
IV L.P. and F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP as a limited
partner. Therefore, under the SFO, Eight Roads Investments is deemed to
be interested in the 14,886,744 Shares directly held by Asia Ventures Il L.P,
12,748,851 Shares directly held by ERVC Healthcare IV L.P. and 11,843,827
Shares directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP
respectively.

Eight Roads Holdings Limited is the sole shareholder of Eight Roads
Investments. In addition, Eight Roads GP is indirectly wholly owned by Eight
Roads Holdings Limited and Eight Roads GP is the general partner of Asia
Partners Il LP and ERVC Healthcare Advisors IV LP. Therefore, under the
SFO, Eight Roads Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 334,952
Shares directly held by Asia Partners Ill LP, 286,849 Shares directly held
by ERVC Healthcare Advisors IV LP and 68,231,737 Shares in which Eight
Roads Investments is interested.

Eight Roads Holdings Limited is owned as to more than one-third by Eight
Roads Shareholdings Limited and Pandanus Partners L.P., whose general
partner is Pandanus Associates Inc. Therefore, under the SFO, each of
Eight Roads Shareholdings Limited, Pandanus Partners L.P. and Pandanus
Associates Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Eight Roads
Holdings Limited is interested.

Impresa Fund Il Limited Partnership directly holds 29,711,774 Shares. In
addition, it has more than one-third interest in each of Asia Ventures Il L.P,
ERVC Healthcare IV L.P. and F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV
LP as a limited partner. Therefore, under the SFO, Impresa Fund Il Limited
Partnership is deemed to be interested in the 14,886,744 Shares directly held
by Asia Ventures Ill L.P., 12,748,851 Shares directly held by ERVC Healthcare
IV L.P. and 11,843,827 Shares directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners
Healthcare Fund IV LP respectively.
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Impresa Management LLC is the general partner of Impresa Fund Ill Limited
Partnership. Therefore, under the SFO, it is deemed to be interested in
the 69,191,196 Shares in which Impresa Fund Il Limited Partnership is
interested. In addition, Impresa Management LLC is the managing member
of Impresa Holdings LLC, which is the general partner of F-Prime Capital
Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP. Therefore, under the SFO, Impresa
Management LLC is also deemed to be interested in the 133,243 Shares
directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP.

Impresa Management LLC is controlled (as defined under the SFO) by each
of Abigail P. Johnson and Edward C. Johnson IV and owned, directly or
indirectly, by various shareholders and employees of FMR LLC. Therefore,
each of Abigail P. Johnson, Edward C. Johnson IV and FMR LLC is deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Impresa Management LLC is
interested.

JenCap RX and JenCap RX Partners L.P. beneficially owns 25,577,092 and
27,495,374 Shares of the Company.

JenCap RX, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands, is wholly owned by
Jeneration Capital Partners Il L.P., a Cayman Islands limited partnership of
which Jeneration Capital GP Il is the general partner. As such, under the SFO,
Jeneration Capital GP Il is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held
by JenCap RX. Jeneration Capital GP Il is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jimmy
Ching-Hsin Chang. As such, under the SFO, Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang is
deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX.

JenCap RX Partners L.P. is a Cayman Islands limited partnership of which
JenCap RX GP is the general partner. As such, under the SFO, JenCap RX
GP is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX
Partners L.P. JenCap RX GP is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin
Chang. As such, under the SFO, Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang is deemed to
be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX Partners L.P.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required
to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the year, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended December 31, 2022, no issuance of debentures
was made by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors or their
associates had any interests in any business which competes or is
likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, save for the transactions
as set out above and note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
for which the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no other related party
transactions listed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed
in this annual report, the Group had not entered into any connected
transaction which was required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

EERERONEETHER

BRAFRAEREEIN REAERER X
N RS E AT I B A R AT S AR 2 BE -
HEEEAHEWBARRREMNEAMEAER
Bk ErREMERD BERBESEEAR
55 1 (e B 48 S R M 185R B T 2 AR (T 4
FPARBIE AR 1 B AT E )R A B 58 HY AR AN
HEHE S REDITEEMZFTERN -

RITEEE

H E2022F12A31H IFF & A A A) I 3%
ITERERE -

EERBFERBNES

HEEESA BHE2022F 12431 ILEE
MEEEARENBHBEAREAEEEXBE
BEHERFRAERFNEMAEREPESR
Efa i as

BB X5

RATIRE ZE2022F12 A31H IEFEE ] MY
Al H X S BEEN A B RERMIFESS ©

B E2022F12H31B IEFE B EX KA O
B SRR M8 E R HEBF LR RIS
YAEIE TR EREIN & FI Bk
B 5E38FT 51 E Ath BB 5 X S BB AL E AR
BIZUAZEE THHER I FEBER S -
BRAFRAABTEEIN NEB W ER] LM
BIEETRBBTEENBER S -

BRRENEERAT —S-—FFH 65



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEHE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in China, the Group
conducts online insurance brokerage service as part of its Health
Insurance Services business through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
in China. The Company does not hold any equity interests in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, but effectively control the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and are able to derive substantially all of their
economic benefits through the Contractual Arrangements.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions — Contractual Arrangements” in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or an entity connected with a Director was materially
interested, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract which is significance in relation to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party subsisting during the year ended December 31, 2022 or at
the end of the year ended December 31, 2022.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company, or
one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2022
between the Company and a person other than a Director or any
person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its
associated companies during the year ended December 31, 2022 as
at the date of this annual report.

Except for such insurances, at no time during the year and up to the
date of this annual report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity
provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the
Company or associated companies.
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STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
relevant Director’'s experience and qualifications, level of responsibility,
performance and the time devoted to the business of the Group, and
the prevailing market conditions.

In compliance with the relevant PRC labor laws, the Group enters into
individual employment contracts with its employees covering matters
such as terms, wages, bonuses, employee benefits, workplace safety,
confidentiality obligations, non-competition and grounds for termination.
The remuneration package of its employees includes salary and bonus,
which are generally based on their qualifications, industry experience,
position and performance. The Company considers the remuneration
package of its employees to be competitive among our domestic
competitors. The Company, by itself or through third-party human
resource agencies, make contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds for its employees as required by the applicable PRC
laws and regulations, and did not have any material non-compliance in
this regard during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee was set up for
reviewing the Group’s policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note
10 to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band:
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The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band
for the year ended December 31, 2022:

TRITEHE2022F12831B ILEESRE
1 B IR & B 2D HF N -

Emoluments bands in DT ([HExl) Number of Individuals
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) GREEE R EE] A
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17,000,000 16,500,001 7T 217,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$56,500,001 to HK$57,000,000 56,500,0017% 7T £57,000,0007% 7T 1
HK$96,500,001 to HK$97,000,000 96,500,0017%8 7T 297,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$103,000,001 to HK$103,500,000 103,000,001/ 7T £1083,500,000/8 7T 1

SHARE SCHEMES
2017 Plan

The Company has adopted the amended and restated 2017 global
share plan (the “2017 Plan”).

The purpose of 2017 Plan is to attract and retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide additional
incentives to selected employees, Directors, and consultants and
to promote the success of our Company’s business. The 2017
Plan permits the grant of options and share purchase rights as the
Administrator may determine.

The participants of 2017 Plan include employees, directors or
consultants of our Group. The administrator may, from time to time,
select from among all eligible individuals to whom awards in the form of
options, share purchase rights, will be granted and will determine the
nature and amount of each option.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under
the 2017 Plan shall be determined by meetings of Shareholders of
the Company from time to time. The Company did not and will not
grant further 2017 Plan Options after the Listing. The Shares may be
authorized but unissued or reacquired Shares. The number of Shares
that are subject to awards outstanding under the 2017 Plan at any
time shall not exceed the aggregate number of Shares that then remain
available for issuance under the 2017 Plan. The Company, during the
term of the 2017 Plan, shall at all times reserve and keep available
sufficient Shares to satisfy the requirements of outstanding awards
granted under the 2017 Plan.

The 2017 Plan commenced on January 5, 2018 and shall continue in
effect for a term of ten years. Termination of the 2017 Plan shall not
affect the administrator’s ability to exercise the powers granted to it
hereunder with respect to awards granted under the 2017 Plan prior to
the date of such termination. No Shares shall be issued or sold under
the 2017 Plan after the termination thereof, except upon exercise of an
Award granted prior to the termination of the 2017 Plan.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Company had (i) issued most of the
underlying Shares of the 2017 Plan Options to Creative Pioneer
and Wise Approach before the Listing, respectively, and (i) granted
10,802,102 outstanding 2017 Plan Options, representing approximately
1.42% of the total number of Shares in issue. During the Reporting
Period, the number of Shares underlying the outstanding 2017 Plan
Options divided by the weighted average number of total Shares
in issue during the Reporting Period is approximately 9.6%. All the
outstanding 2017 Plan Options were granted between January 31,
2018 and October 18, 2022 (both days inclusive) and the Company
did not and will not grant further 2017 Plan Options after the Listing.
Subject to the maximum number of underlying Shares may be issued
under the 2017 Plan and requirements under the Listing Rules, no
maximum entitlement of each participant was set up under the 2017
Plan. The exercise price of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options is
between US$0.018 and US$0.330. The grantees were not required
to pay any consideration for the grant of the outstanding 2017 Plan
Options. The fair value of the 2017 Plan Options granted in 2022
amounts to RMB39,104,000.

Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding 2017
Plan Options throughout the Reporting Period:
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H E2022F12A31H KA R 2 () B L AT
43 Bl [\ Creative Pioneer & Wise Approach 217
2017 AT EIE R R R Z BB AR 1D 5 R (i)
# F10,802,1028% I 15 By R 17 {F20174F 5T &
B (B BITIRMDBEELN.42% - R IR
SHIN - B E1T2017F 5T 8 BB R E AR (5
HEBRUAFRERHAC BITRODBEAINETF
EH B9.6% ° FT B M ARITE20174 51 £ 8
A% #E B 7201841 A31H £20224610A18H
HERE (BEEERAB)  BARFRNES
B ERF TSR THE—F2017F 5 8IER
T o ZIRIE2017F 51 &) 7] T 21T AR D
B R & ETHRAMRTERRER &R
BRO17TF T EIR ER L EENTRER - A
RITE2017F 5 BB M TTEE N T0.018
ZE L E0.330FE T oA B A B AT HERRE
AR F 8 R ITEA2017F 5T 2 BB AR 4 - 1A
2022F I M2017F T2 IR ERN A FEE A
AR #39,104,0007T °

T SCRL BB B 96 45 0 7 14 R AT G ) B
— BB B BN

Fair value of
per 2017
Plan Options Approximate
at the percentage
date of grant Forfeited/ of total
and the Cancelled/ number of
Granted Exercised accounting Lapsed Shares in
Outstanding during the during the Exercise standard during the  Outstanding issue as of
at January Reporting Reporting price Date of and policy Vesting Validity Reporting  at December  December 31,
Grantees ' 1, 2022 Period Period (Us$) grant adopted”® schedule period Period 31,2022 2022
201755 &
BREARM
AEZAYE 20225
R2022% R REEHR 120225 12A31B4E
1A18 REE REE i i ER 2RE/ 128318 RTRHEH
AR HATE  HRERT  HBREGE (%7 RHBH REF BRRER BRE  H#H/&N HATE WEOEAL
Employees 10,157,422 1,468,984 - US80.22 July1,  US$1.87and  Vesting in the portion of 10 years 1,674,304 9,952,102 1.30%
2022 US81.88  35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and
fourth anniversaries
of the vesting
commencement date
{35 0.20%7T 20226 187ETLR 35% 30% 235% 106
7R1R 188X BANFREERL
HYE- 2=k

FLEFRR
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Fair value of
per 2017
Plan Options Approximate
atthe percentage
date of grant Forfeited/ of total
and the Cancelled/ number of
Granted Exercised accounting Lapsed Shares in
Outstanding during the during the Exercise standard during the  Outstanding issue as of
at January Reporting Reporting price Date of and policy Vesting Validity Reporting  at December December 31,
Grantees ' 1, 2022 Period Period (Us$) grant adopted’ schedule period Period 31,2022 2022
PIVESE |
BRENS
ABzAVE 20225
R20225 Rt REEHR H202%  12B31A4E
1818 R E RiE k@ -] 2R/ 126318 BTROAH
AEA WA HREEF  HAEAR (%) B AH REX’ FEREX BRE  EH/XR HATE WENEAL
US$0.33  October 18,  US$1.77and 264,000 granted 2017
2022 U$1.79 Plan Options will be
vesting in the portion of
35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and
fourth anniversaries
of the vesting
commencement date
462,500 granted 2017
Plan Option will be
vesting in four equal
yearly instalments
after the vesting
commencement date
0.33%T W0F  1TIERLR 264000/ B
10A188 1795 201TEHEIBRIES
REBRREEE-
FEREMBEERRE
35%  30% [236% #7
462,500 2 & (1120174
sHEIBRER
FERREDE
MESEHBER
Senvice providers 650,000 200,000 - US80.22 July 1, US$1.88 Vesting in 4 equal 10 years - 850,000 0.11%
2022 yearly instalments
after the vesting
commencement date
REBRES 0.22%7T 20205 188X SERRASHE 105
TR1R PFEBHBER
Total 10,807,422 1,668,984 - - - - 1,674,304 10,802,102 1.42%"
@t
Exercisable at 6,896,659
December 31,
2022
20205
12A318
a7
Weighted average US$0.2455 US$0.0310 US$0.0513
exercise price
per share’
H%Jﬂjiéﬂ?’f:] 1 0.2455% T 0.0310% 7T 0.0513% T
(g
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Notes:

1. The grantees of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options include current
employees, former employees and external consultants of the Group. None
of the grantees of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options are (i) Directors, chief
executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their respective
associate; (i) granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limited;
and (i) related entity participant or service provider with 2017 Plan Options
granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the
total number of Shares in issue.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital. For details, please refer to Note 32 to the financial statements in this
annual report.

S8 For details of the accounting standard and policy adopted in relation to and
the basis of the measurement of fair value of 2017 Plan Options, please refer
to Notes 2 and 32 to the financial statements in this annual report.

4. The discrepancies between total and sums of amounts listed above are due
to rounding.

Further details of the 2017 Plan are set out in the Prospectus.
RSU Scheme

The Company adopted the restricted share unit scheme adopted by
the Company in 2021 (the “RSU Scheme”).

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to recognize and motivate the
contributions the grantees under the RSU Scheme, provide incentives
for them to remain with the Company, and attract suitable personnel for
our further development.

Participants of the RSU Scheme include (i) the employees or officers
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors of the Group); (i) any person or entity (including but not
limited to consultants engaged by the company services to the Group)
that provides research, development, consultancy and other technical
or operational or administrative support to the Group; and (iii) any
other persons including former employees who, in the sole opinion of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Total number of Shares that may be delivered under the RSU Scheme
are 10,004,000 Shares. Subject to the total number of Shares may be
delivered under the RSU Scheme and requirements under the Listing
Rules, no maximum entitlement of each participant was set up under
the RSU Scheme.

The RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date of the RSU Scheme, after which
period no further Awards will be granted. In spite of this, the RSU
Scheme in all other respects remain in full force and effect and Awards
that are granted during the Term may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.
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Further details of the RSU Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

As of December 31, 2022, all of the RSU under the RSUs Scheme,
representing a total of 10,004,000 underlying Shares, representing
approximately 1.31% of the total number of Shares in issue had been
granted and remained unvested to Mr. ZHOU Teng, the chief strategy
officer of the Company, to reward his significant contribution, as the
chief strategy officer of the Group, to the business development and
equity financing of the Company in the past few years. During the
Reporting Period, the number of Shares underlying the outstanding
RSUs divided by the weighted average number of total Shares in issue
during the Reporting Period is approximately 8.89%.

Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding RSUs
throughout the Reporting Period:

SR Bl Aty BALE &M E — ST RN AR

size

H E2022F12A318 * LR HI i 5 BE L5t &l
THFTA ZBR §I M E Az (B4 ££10,004,000
REAB RN (D (h B BT D B8 41.31% )
HERTMEAREB TARAEREKE
A URBRIEAASEEREEKER
BEHFEHARNEBERKBEREEL
HEREE - RIREHR B TR AAERE
PR HI A% 19 BALRR ATRE HAR B 317D AY
IniEF 5 E 4 58.89% ©

TS SCER D P EE A e 75 HA P R R AT (R O 2R
BB EEFE:

Approximate
percentage of
Fair value at Forfeited/ total number
Granted Exercised the date of grant Cancelled / of Shares in
Outstanding during the during the and the accounting Lapsed during Outstanding issue as of
at January Reporting Reporting Exercise Date of standard and Vesting  the Reporting at December  December 31,
Grantee 1, 2022 Period Period price grant policy adopted schedule Period 31,2022 2022
EEZ202F
REHAHZ REESHR 120225 1273168
H20225151A REEHR REEHR AFERRMZ -3 Ve 128318 BORGER
ERA HRTE BRF Bk ke RBH B ERIRHE FRERER F3 HRATE BOEI
ZHOU Teng - 10,004,000 - nil- October 25, 2022  The fair value of RSUs  The RSU shall be vested - 10,004,000 1.31%
at the grant date for a terms of 4 years
was approximately  from the grant date and
1S820.85 milion in the portion of 35%,
determined with 30% and 35% on the
reference to the fair second, third and
value of the Ordinary fourth anniversaries
Shares of the of the vesting
Company. commencement date
Ak - - & 2020%10A25R RR IR Bl RB IR ELH - 10,004,000 131%
R B A GEERASRY
LTENAR AERsmE T
208500005 HEFGAHNES
BZRAF F-RENME
LRRODTE BFEE®%%
EEe 30% J235% 2 7

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company at any
time during or subsisted at the end of the year ended December 31,
2022.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year ended December
31, 2022 amounted to approximately RMB2.06 million.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2022, except for the Global
Offering in connection with the Listing, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on December 23, 2022 by way of Global Offering, and
the total net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) received by the Company
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from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$120.4 million — BREEEWERRIFTSHIEF 58 ([FIEFEFHE])
after deducting professional fees, underwriting commissions and other — #8¥84) /212048 &/& 7T
related listing expenses.
The intended uses and the balance of the Net Proceeds as at #iF Ak M 2022912 A31 H A5 5 I8 F 58
December 31, 2022 are set out below: ERETIWT
Utilised Unutilised Expected
amount as at amountasat timeline for
Percentage to December 31, December 31, unutilized
total amount Net proceeds 2022 2022 amount
H2022F H2022F
Intended use of proceeds ARERFMRE hazEmn FBRE 12831H 12A318 XBRASEN
as stated in the Prospectus HERERE BAt FE CHASE FBAeE BEHEEX
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT
(a) Business expansion: (@) EMXHER: 87 104,800 0 104,800 2024
20245
() Further expansion of Specialty () #—SEREF% 35 42,200 0 42,200 2024
Pharmacy Business BREEK 20244
(i) Expansion of Physician (i) EERBEWMER 28 33,700 0 33,700 2024
Research Assistance BEB 20244
Business
(i) Expansion of Health Insurance (i) BERERERER 24 28,900 0 28,900 2024
Services business BEB 20244
(b) Technology research and (b) FfirhE 13 15,600 0 15,600 2024
development 20245
() Improvement of the capabiity () R=Z%,/ &R 10 12,000 0 12,000 2024
of system/application BrHREEH 20244
development team £
(i) Further research and i) &—FHEAK 3 3,600 0 3,600 2024
development of improving our ERMERRE 20244
technology infrastructure and BERAAR

new solutions

The Group will utilise the Net Proceeds in accordance with the intended
purposes as set out in the Prospectus. The Board is not aware of any
material change to the planned use of the Net Proceeds as at the date
of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 75 to 94 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company, together with the management
and the external auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and
practices adopted by the Group as well as the internal control matters,
and had also reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended
December 31, 2022 have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for

re-appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the
AGM.

By order of the Board

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
MA Xuguang
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 15, 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Shares were listed on the Main Board on December 23, 2022. The
Board hereby presents to the Shareholders the corporate governance
report for the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022 (the
“Period”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of its shareholders and to
enhance its corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period, save for the deviations from the code provisions C.2.1, C.5.1,
D.3.3 and F1.1.

Details of deviation are set out below in this corporate governance
report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules for dealings in securities of the Company by the
Directors and relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code from the
Listing Date.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company from the Listing Date.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs as well
as aligning the Company’s culture with its purpose, value and strategy.
All Directors should take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
establishment of ESG system, material transactions (in particular
those which may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a
view 1o ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board fully supports the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management to discharge their responsibilities.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it has given clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management shall report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Company adopted written terms established on division of
functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for

Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
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Board Composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairman)
Mr. LI Ji

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAO Leiwan
Mr. ZHANG Ziguan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R, alias 3k 22&F )
Mr. HE Haijian
Ms. HUANG Bei

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules. Saved as disclosed, there is no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship among the Directors. Biographical
details, including offices held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitments of the Directors are set out in the section
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive directors of the Company and considers all of them
to be independent having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on
independence as required under the Listing Rules, (i) the absence
of involvement in the daily management of the Company, and (i) the
absence of any relationships or circumstances which would interfere
with the exercise of their independent judgement. Throughout the
Period, the number of independent non-executive Directors on the
Board meets the one-third requirement under the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.
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Independent View

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors and
at least one-third of its members being independent non-executive
directors. Further, independent non-executive directors will be
appointed to committees of the Board as required under the Listing
Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent views and
input are available. The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to
the independence assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules
with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive directors to ensure that
they can continually exercise independent judgement.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with the
respective terms.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall be subject to retirement
by rotation once every three years.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company which provide
that the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for reelection. The Articles of Association of
the Company also provided that at every annual general meeting of
the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Accordingly, all Directors will be subject to re-election at the forthcoming
AGM. None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election or any
other Directors has a service contract that is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

78 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022

BB

E=ZgC UMY BREFSAUESEY
BHLER EFTERRZAEELI =BT
FATEEREEL =Dz —KNERBILIF
MITESZ U BUIFRTESTKRIE LD
RAMREEZEMAZEEEETERES
WHLBERTHER TRERREMB LB N
ER-ERZBEERAETLEMRAMES
BRENREBUIFATESTNHE LT
EH WERESFIZBLIRTESH
BN PAREIR (R REHT B 1T 08 L I

EEZRAREER

HTESEEARANIRBEH - B LD
HHES D2 S =F Al RIF AR R
Jto

BRIFPTERCERARIIRBAL 8
EHEHEA VI RE=F IREZAN
fERARAR 1E o

BUBIIFRITERCRRARRZER
B BERARA=F B=FRARE-

REARBABERMA NRBALEBE
BRBREHETMALAES UWEMBRE
EEMRR RGBT AR E
MEFTHENREZERZARFERER
RBFRGRTKER EREERERE
T ARRIMBERARITRE RARAE
ERFBFRGF =92 —HEEES (3
MEEEABWFE=k=E2 A&
MAIR=D2 —)ERERE HEERES
(BREEEECHNER) ARSI E=-FHE
RE—IRo

At 2REEFAREERREFASLE
BET-REEEINEFTHEMNHEHMLES
BIERT AR B AIR —F AR IR
8 OEEBRERINNRE AL -



Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has appropriate understanding of the businesses and operations of
the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. Continuing briefing and professional development for
Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development (“CPD”) program to develop and refresh
their knowledge. Internal briefings for Directors will be arranged by the
Company and reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.
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The records of CPD relating to director’s duties and regulatory and
business development that have been received by the Directors for the
Period are summarized as follows:

Name of Directors

EERHEMERXEHEEERENMREETUR
EBBROTEERBRCEMANT

Type of Training

BE=pE EAER

Notes
B

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. MA Xuguang Aand B

BBELEE AKB

Mr. LI Ji Aand B

xSk AKB

Non-executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. YAO Leiwan Aand B

kXA AKB

Mr. ZHANG Ziquan Aand B

REERE AKB

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R}, alias 5k 2 &) Aand B

CHANG Stanley Yi (3R - Bl &R 2 &) £ £ AKB

Mr. HE Haijian Aand B

(Gpis3Etaa AKB

Ms. HUANG Bei Aand B

mREL T AKB

Notes: B aE

Types of Training HFIlER

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications
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Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on December
23, 2022, only one Board meeting was held during the period from the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report. However, code provision
C.5.1 of the CG Code provides that Board meetings should be held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with active
participation of the majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communication. The Company expects to continue
to convene at least four regular meetings in each financial year at
approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with code provision
C.5.1 of the CG Code.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board
committee meetings of the Company held during the period from the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report are set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HERE/ EERE
Remuneration
Audit  and Appraisal Nomination Strategy

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General

Name of Director meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meetings(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s)
BRZEE MR REZEE  EKZES

BEnE EZ883 Ef £8% - - RRAE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. MA Xuguang 11 N/A N/A 11 N/A N/A
SRELE TER TEA TER TER
Mr. LI Ji 11 N/A 11 N/A N/A N/A
THELE NiEH @A TER @R
Non-Executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. YAQ Leiwen 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
a3 TER TEA A TER TER
Mr. ZHANG Ziquan 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
REELE TER NEA @A TER TER
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUKYTES
Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (5=, lias 5% 2 5f) 11 11 N/A 11 N/A N/A
CHANG Stanley Yi (33 b4 K28 ) £ 4 TEm TER TEm
Mr. HE Haijian 11 11 11 11 N/A N/A
gL E @A TER
Ms. HUANG Bei 11 11 11 N/A N/A N/A
BERT A TR TNER

BRRENEARAT —T-=F5H 81



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERARE

Practice and Conduct of Board Meetings

Notices of regular Board meetings will be served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings (or such other period as agreed). For
other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
regular Board meeting or committee meeting (or such other period as
agreed) to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management, where necessary, attends regular Board
meetings and other Board and committee meetings to advise on
business developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory
compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Company.

The Articles of Association contains provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

The agenda of each Board meeting is in consultation with members of
the Board such that they are given an opportunity to include agenda
items, draft and executed Board minutes are sent in a timely manner
to all Directors for their comments and records, minutes of the Board
meetings recorded in sufficient details are kept by the Company
Secretary.
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged the directors and officers liability insurance
in respect of legal action against the Directors during the Period. The
insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be segregated and should not be
performed by the same individual. According to the current structure of
the Board, the positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are held by Mr. MA Xuguang.

The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires
approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that the Board
comprises three independent non-executive Directors out of seven
Directors, and the Board believes there is sufficient check and balance
on the Board, (i) Mr. MA Xuguang and the other Directors are aware
of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as Directors, which
require, among other things, that they act for the benefit and in the
best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the Group
accordingly, and (i) the balance of power and authority is ensured
by the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting
the operations of the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic and
other key business, financial and operational policies of the Group
are made collectively after thorough discussion at both the Board
and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr. MA Xuguang is one
of our co-founders, the Board believes that vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables
more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group.
The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of the Group in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of chairman and chief executive officer is
necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, Nomination
Committee and Strategy Committee for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request.
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The majority of the member of Audit Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties, and upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three members, all of them
are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHANG Stanley
Vi, (3R2f, alias 3R 2 #F) (“Mr. Chang”) Mr. HE Haijian (‘Mr. He”) and
Ms. HUANG Bei, (“Ms. Huang”) with Mr. Chang being the chairman of
the committee.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board
in providing an independent view of our financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the audit
process and performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board which includes, amongst other things:

° proposing to the Board the appointment and replacement of
external audit firms;

° supervising the implementation of our internal audit system;

° liaising between our internal audit department and external
auditors;

° reviewing our financial information and related disclosures; and
° other duties conferred by the Board.

As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on December
23, 2022, only one Audit Committee meeting was held during the
period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report. However,
code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code provides that members of the
Audit Committee should liaise with the Board and senior management
and the committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the auditors.
The Company expects to continue to convene at least two regular
meetings in each financial year at approximately semi-annually intervals
in accordance with code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code.
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Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee with terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee consists of Mr. He
(independent non-executive Director), Mr. LI Ji (“Mr. Li”) (executive
Director) and Ms. Huang (independent non-executive Director), with
Mr. He being the chairman of the committee.

The primary function of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
is to develop remuneration policies of our Directors, evaluate the
performance, make recommendations on the remuneration packages
of our Directors and senior management and evaluate and make
recommendations on employee benefit arrangements which includes,
amongst other things:

o establishing, reviewing and making recommendations to our
Directors on our policy and structure concerning remuneration of
our Directors and senior management;

° determining the terms of the specific remuneration package of
each Director and members of senior management;

° reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by our
Directors from time to time;

° reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

o other duties conferred by the Board of Directors.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee held
one meeting to review the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and assessed the performance and remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management, and made recommendations
to the Board, where appropriate. No material matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were required to be
reviewed or approved by the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
during the Reporting Period.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022 are set out in the notes 10 and 11 to the Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination
Committee consists of Mr. Ma (executive Director), Mr. He (independent
non-executive Director) and Mr. Chang (independent non-executive
Director) with Mr. Ma being the chairman of the committee.
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The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to our Board in relation to the appointment and
removal of Directors which includes, amongst other things:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of our Board on
a regular basis and making recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes;

o identifying, selecting or making recommmendations to our Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o assessing the independence of our independent non-executive
Directors;

o making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of our
Directors; and

° other duties conferred by the Board.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, before
making recommendation to the Board.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to discuss
the nomination and appointment matters of Directors, and review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors.

Strategy Committee

The Company has established a Strategy Committee consists of
Mr. Ma (executive Director), Mr. Li (executive Director), Mr. YAO Leiwen
(non-executive Director) and Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (non-executive
Director), with Mr. Ma being the chairman of the committee. The
primary duties of the Strategy Committee are to study and advise
on the long-term strategy and operation plans of our Group. The
Strategy Committee will assist the Board, in conjunction with our
management, in addressing our Company’s overall mission, vision and
strategic direction. Areas of focus will include: providing the Board
and management, as applicable, with input and recommendations
with respect to key strategic initiatives and major R&D programs and
partnerships; and assisting management in establishing a strategic
planning process, identifying and addressing organizational challenges
and evaluating strategic alternatives.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the objective and approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognizes the benefits of having a diversified Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the achievement of our Company’s strategic objectives
and sustainable development. All Director appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to
ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation
to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited
to skills, professional experience, educational background, knowledge,
expertise, culture, independence, age and gender.

The Company aims to maintain a truly diverse Board which will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors.
These differences will be taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on
merit while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised six male
Directors and one female Director, providing the Board with a direct
and diversified channel of the opinion from both genders. In addition,
the Directors believe that the composition of the Board reflects
the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Group and effective
leadership, taking into account the extensive experience, skills and
knowledge of each Director and the balanced mix of two executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that Board
diversity (including gender diversity) has been achieved with reference
to the current circumstances of the Company, and the present
structure of the Board can ensure the independence and objectivity of
the Board and provide a system of checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Shareholders. We will implement policies to ensure
gender diversity when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline of female
potential successors to the Board. Furthermore, we will implement
comprehensive programs aimed at identifying and training our female
staff who display leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting
them to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the policy for the
nomination of directors on an annual basis.

Workforce Diversity

The Group follows the principles of “openness, equality, competition,
and merit” and does not discriminate against applicants on the basis
of gender, race, age, religious beliefs, and other factors. The Group
actively promotes diversity in the workforce and encourages the
employment of employees from all backgrounds. The Group has
established systematic external and internal recruitment management
process to ensure the quality of recruitment and select qualified and
outstanding talents.

As at December 31, 2022, the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) is 513 (male): 2,697 (female). For further details of
gender ratio together with the relevant data, please refer to the section
headed “8. ESG Key Performance Indicators” under the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will consider the following factors upon the
assessment of candidates:

(1)  Review on the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board at least once a year, and also make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to align with the Company’s
strategies.

(2)  Fully consider the Board Diversity Policy, individual performance,
individual capability, professionalism, knowledge, experience and
time that can be devoted to the Company, personal credibility,
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange and applicable laws
and regulations etc.; identify candidate(s) with appropriate
qualifications to be member(s) of the Board, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individual(s)
nominated as director(s).

(8) Make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters

regarding the director(s) and succession plans for the director(s) (in
particular, the Chairman and chief executive).
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Period, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee
Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 151 of this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors of
the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended December 31, 2022 amounted to approximately RMB5.4
million and nil respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended December 31, 2022 is set out below:
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Service Category PR # %8 5l B ENEA
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Audit Services in relation to primary listing BHEE— LR ERS 3,360
Audit Services in relation to annual audit BT EETNZEIRS 2,000
5,360
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines to identify, assess, evaluate and monitor
key risks associated with the Company with regular review for
implementation by key business processes and office functions. The
Audit Committee reviews annually the continued effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems dealing with
risk and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and regulations, and risk
management functions. The Directors through the Audit Committees
are kept regularly appraised of significant risks that may impact on
the Group’s performance. Up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee had reviewed and confirmed to the Board, that the
Group’s risk management and internal control system are effective and
adequate.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems are
featured with well-defined organizational structure with appropriate
segregation of duties, limit of authority, reporting lines and
responsibilities to identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard
assets of our Group.

The management assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided
treatment plans, and monitored the risk management progress, and
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee

on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee. Any urgent matters in
relation to the relevant areas of internal control will be reported in a
timely manner. Review results and recommendations in the form of
written reports are submitted to the Audit Committee for discussion
and review. Follow up actions will be taken up by the Internal Audit
Department to ensure that material weaknesses previously identified
have been properly resolved.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls,
for the year ended December 31, 2022, and considered that such
systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

Whistleblowing policy is in place to facilitate employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and use of
inside information are strictly prohibited.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

With effect from March 13, 2023, due to commercial arrangement
between the Company and SWCS, Ms. TSANG Wing Man, as an
employee of SWCS, has resigned as the joint company secretary of
our Company and Ms. Li has been appointed as the joint company
secretary, while Ms. Ren continues to act as the other joint company
secretary of our Company.

Ms. Li has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters of the
Company and has closely communicated with Ms. Ren.

During the Period, Ms. Li and Ms. Ren have received no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh their skills and
knowledge in compliance with Rules 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, directors are
available to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. As of the date of this annual report, the Board has reviewed
the policy and confirmed that it is effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

This Shareholders’ Communication Policy aims to set out the provisions
which ensure that the Shareholders and in appropriate circumstances,
the investment community at large (which include the Company’s
potential investors as well as analysts who report and analyze the
Company’s performance), are timely provided with information about
the Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments and corporate governance), in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to enhance the communication between the Shareholders, the
investment community and the Company.

The Company also maintains a website (www.medbankshealthtech.com),
where information and updates on the Company’s financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

During the Period, the Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
multiple communication channels for the Shareholders in place and the
steps taken to handle Shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly implemented
and effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code provides that the issuer should
have a policy on payment of dividends. As the Company intends to
retain most, if not all, of the Company’s available funds and any future
earnings to fund the development and growth of the Company’s
business and has not yet adopted a dividend policy to declare or pay
any dividends in the near future, the Board will review the Company’s
status periodically and consider adopting a dividend policy if and when
appropriate.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents may only be
effected by way of special resolution. The Articles of Association has
been amended and restated with effect from the Listing Date. The
Company has not made any changes to the Articles of Association
since the Listing Date. An up to date version of the Articles of
Association is also available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings of the Company, including the election of individual Directors.
All resolutions put forward at general meetings of the Company will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Associations, general
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings
may also be convened on the written requisition of any one member
which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be
held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association
for requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article
12.3 of the Articles of Association are set out above.

Putting Forward Enquiry/Requisition to the Board
For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal

with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: 7/F, Building 3, Xingguangyao Plaza, No. 1888 Caoyang
Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: ir@medbanks.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full

name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Basis and Principles of Preparation

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
is the first ESG Report that Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
(the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries and consolidated
affiliated entities (collectively, the “Group” or “we”, “our”’ and
“us”), is pleased to publish to demonstrate its environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) performance in response to
stakeholder concerns. The Report should be read in conjunction
with the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in the
Company’s Annual Report 2022 for a more complete picture of

the Group’s ESG performance.

The Report was prepared on the basis of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) published by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Report complies
with the mandatory disclosure requirements and the “comply
or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and
adheres to the Reporting Principles of Materiality, Quantitative
and Consistency. The appendix to the Report is the content index
of the ESG Reporting Guide, which provides cross-reference for
readers.

The Group applies the above Reporting Principles in the
preparation of the ESG Report as follows:

o Materiality: The Group uses materiality assessment to
identify material issues during the Reporting Period. Please
see the “Materiality Assessment” section for more details;

o Quantitative: The standards, methodologies, assumptions or
calculation tools used by the Group to disclose quantitative
indicators, where practicable;

o Consistency: The Report is the first report published by

the Group. We will explain any future changes in statistical
methods or key performance indicators.
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1.3

1.4

1.5

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Reporting Boundary

The reporting boundary of the Report is consistent with that of the
Company’s Annual Report 2022. The Report covers the Company
and all its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities.

The Report covers the period from January 1, 2022 to December
31, 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), with modest extensions
forward and backward.

Currency Description

Unless otherwise specified, amounts in the Report are
denominated in Renminbi.

Form of Publication

The Report is available in both Chinese and English for readers’
reference. In case of any discrepancy, the Chinese version shall
prevail. You are welcome to access electronic versions of the
Report in both English and Chinese on the Company’s official
website (www.medbankshealthtech.com) and the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Report Feedback

If you have any questions or feedback about the Report and its
contents, you are welcome to contact us through the following
methods:

ir@medbanks.cn
7/F, Building 3, Orstar City, No. 1888 Caoyang Road,
Putuo District, Shanghai

Email:
Address:
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ESG GOVERNANCE

Board Statement

With the strategic goal of “becoming a leader in the digital
transformation of healthcare industry in China”, the Group has the
vision of “creating an integrated health management network to
provide quality and accessible healthcare services to the public”.
It at the same time establishes and improves its own sustainable
development governance system, striving to improve the level
of sustainable development governance, building sustainable
development influence and creating sustainable development
value for all stakeholders. The Board of Directors (the “Board”)
would like to express its sincere gratitude to the management and
staff who have worked together to establish an ESG framework
over the past year, and show its great respect to all shareholders,
investors, customers and partners for their interest, trust and
support in its sustainable development efforts.

The Group has clearly defined the role of the Board in ESG
governance and strives to integrate the concept of sustainable
development with the overall corporate development strategy.
It has established a top-down ESG governance structure with
clear responsibilities. The Board is responsible for overseeing and
reviewing the overall ESG objectives, management strategies
and management approaches, including identifying, evaluating,
prioritising and managing material ESG-related issues. The
Group conducted its first materiality assessment on ESG issues
during the Reporting Period and prioritised the management
and improvement of material issues. The Board reviewed
and confirmed the outcomes of the materiality assessment,
considered material issues as part of the formulation of the
Group’s overall strategy and oversaw the management and
performance of these issues.

In respect of ESG risk management, the Board ensures that
the Group has appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems in place. We have recognised ESG
risks related to supply chain, government regulations, intellectual
property protection, information security, human resources,
anti-corruption, etc. We plan to systematically assess ESG-
related risks in the future, identify material ESG risks, and strive
to gradually integrate ESG risks into the overall corporate risk
management system.
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In setting ESG objectives, the Board has always kept an eye on
the impact of daily business operations on the environment and
strives to minimise the impact on the environment. We have taken
many measures to save energy, reduce emissions and conserve
resources in our daily office and Specialty Pharmacy Business
operations. In the future, we will carefully assess the impact of our
operations on the environment, set specific environmental targets,
and develop corresponding action plans.

The Report provides detailed disclosure of the Group’s ESG
performance in 2022.

Governance Structure

The Group is fully aware that a sound governance structure
is conducive to the orderly enhancement of the overall
company-wide sustainable development management, the
effective implementation of ESG strategies and management
approaches, the accurate identification, assessment
and management of ESG risks, and the detailed setting,
implementation and tracking of ESG objectives.

During the Reporting Period, we established an ESG governance
framework to advance and implement ESG practices. The
ESG Working Group is a working group under the Board and
is authorised by the Board to assist the Board in guiding and
monitoring the implementation of ESG issues. The specific terms
of reference is shown below:

ESG Working Group
ESGI{E/MA

Functional and
business departments
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ESG governance Composition
framework

ESG B8 ABHER
Board Board members
E5g EEgKE
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Terms of reference

B

=9I

Overseeing the Group’s ESG issues;

Overseeing and reviewing the Group’s overall ESG management
objectives, management strategies and management
approaches;

Overseeing and reviewing the Group’s management approaches
and management strategies, including the process and results
of identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing material ESG
issues, including risks to the Group’s businesses;

Reviewing the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities and
overseeing ESG risk management and internal control systems;
Reviewing the Group’s ESG-related goals and reviewing the
progress made against them; and

Reviewing material ESG management issues, including but not
limited to reviewing the annual ESG report.
EEARKENESGEE
EEFEALEBESGERARBAT BERBRERE
EEREFASEETEIH R EBRE BEER E 8
REFI R EBEMESGEZRHE (BREUEEXBHNER)
AP EREN SR
FEARASBEESGHRM AR E%E - BB ESG R E I Kk AEL
el P
ERASEESGHBE R MR EEAERERER &
EREAESGEEFIR  BRETRNEZFEESGHRE



ESG governance Composition

framework

ESG E/A%EE ABHERK B
ESG Working Group Person in charge of each e

functional department and e
business department

ESG T &/l E B REBPPIRI R TS5 R T

>

Liaison for ESG matters in
each department

Functional and business
departments

EREEMPIMEBEF  SEFIESGEBHMA o
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Terms of reference

BEoT

Following up on the implementation progress of ESG issues;
Studying and setting the Group’s overall ESG objectives,
management strategies and management approaches;
Coordinating and overseeing the implementation and execution
of ESG-related work by various functional departments and
business segments of the Group, and establishing relevant
systems and processes in accordance with the Group’s overall
ESG management objectives, management strategies and
approaches;

Evaluating and determining the potential risks and opportunities
and the associated impact of material ESG issues on the Group’s
business strategies, and establishing appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems;

Studying and setting the Group’s ESG objectives and managing
the performance and progress made against the objectives;
Coordinating the preparation of the annual ESG report by the
relevant departments of the Group and submitting it to the Board
for consideration;

Being responsible for the materiality assessment on ESG-related
matters in the business management process of the Group and
determining ESG-related disclosures; and

Performing other ESG-related tasks as requested by the Board.
REESCGEEEMER

MRl E AR EBESGEIREB AT BERBLERE
BRIEAEEESGERRRAR BERRE LT 5% HH
NEBEBRRBAL P M EBIRSE B NI TESGAERI L1
HIETAERAHIE - AR
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B0 HE AR MESG B I A BRI R TR
SBRBEA LN BPIERTHESGHE T2XES
EEH

£ B A BAE M E T B2 T RESG B FEM BB
REESGAMMREEE: K

BEEE IR BT HIMESGHMM T e

Being responsible for the collection, collation and submission of
ESG-related information and data;

Being responsible for implementing ESG issues of the Group and
carrying out ESG-related practical activities; and

Assisting in ESG publicity and training and stakeholder
communication to build up a good corporate image.

BB ESG ILIFIERAME & BURe W R B IB A HX TIE
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2.3 Stakeholder Engagement

The Group, which values communication with stakeholders,
responds to the demands and expectations of various
stakeholders, including government and regulators, shareholders
and investors, patients/consumers, employees, suppliers and
partners, customers/members, partners, the community and the
public, through various channels, and sets ESG development
goals accordingly, so as to continue to create shared value
with stakeholders in the course of the Group’s sustainable

2.3 FHEBELEE

AEBERBENZEBEHINER BB
EHERE DERFREE®E BRR
kEEHE -BE/BBE BT HED
HAERY BF /28 AFERH
EMAREZFZMAEHOFKMBE -
WENHIFESGEREEIZ EAEEA
AR ERRER T IFEEN AR5
EHEEE.

development.
Stakeholders Engagement methods Expectations Responses
M AEEE A BREAR HEMOBE KPR E e
Government and e Regular announcements e Compliance with laws and e Compliance operations
regulators e Policy setting regulations e Compliance with and
e Government visits e Tax payment in accordance implementation of national
with laws policies
e Fulfilment of social e Promoting social employment
responsibilities e ESG governance framework
e Job creation
e Anti-commercial bribery and
integrity building
BN REEHRE s EHIRE o BEEFBER e GRES
o HURHIE o FORMM o BRIWHITERBE
o BUNREIESRF s BITHEEME o REHERE
e RlEMEKE o ESGEGRHRE
s REEMBKERZRER

Shareholders and
investors

BRREEREE
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General meetings of
shareholders

Regular announcements,
roadshows

Press conferences
Investment analyst research

B AR
EHRE R
HER G
188 5T AT

Robust investment returns
e Business and profit growth
Transparent information
disclosure

e Prevention of risks

R IR & O R
EEENEIE R
BRANEERE
By &0 [ fe

Periodical information
disclosure

Convening of general
meetings of shareholders
Improvement of internal
control system

Revenue generation
EHREERKE
AFRRRKRE
TENITERR

BliE s



Stakeholders
FEES

Patients/Consumers

BEHEE

Employees

Suppliers and partners

HEFESERHF

Engagement methods

BEAR

Specialty pharmacy services
Pharmacist services

Service hotline

Social media communication

iy BEBL S R A%

L) B AR 7%

%Wﬂ?
RERERE

Email, telephone, written
communication, etc.
Employee survey

Employee training

Social media communication

- E

Elﬂﬁ
8 T
HRIEEEEE

B EEEEB

Contracts and agreements
Business communication
On-site visits

Regular evaluation

Daily communication

& R

FBRR

Eﬁtﬁ /{E EIE

7E BARTAS

HEBB
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Expectations

HERMNHE

Safety and quality of
products and services
Responsible marketing and
promotion
Customer privacy protection
and data security
Consumer relationship
maintenance
EnklBEHNLriEs
BEELHESE
EFRILRERBIEL S
HEEBEREE

Occupational health and
safety

Employee development and
training

Employment and labour
practices
BEERERS
8 TR ERET
BB & 55 T AR

Supply chain management
Strengthening industry
collaboration for common
development

HrEEE R
IRITERIERLREE

BIREZEBRERAR

EREE

I«%iﬁ ’ ?‘i%& B/A

Responses

EMHEE

Quality management of
products and services
Consumer satisfaction survey
and complaint handling
Protection of consumer
privacy and data security

EmlkRGEEERE
HEE M T EHE 2R
gl
REHEERLEBIEL

£

Employee health and safety
protection

Competitive remuneration
package

Extensive employee training
Clear career promotion path
BT REEZ2RE
BHEFINHFNEGE
=8 TE
BAREE) R B TR AR

Fulfillment of contracts

Open tenders

Developing cooperation
Promoting industry exchange
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Stakeholders Engagement methods Expectations Responses
M= ERER BEAR HEMHHLE R E E
Customers/Members ¢ Contracts and agreements e  Quality of service and e |mprovement of the quality of
e Customer meetings communication products and services
e Business communication e Responsible marketing and e Enhancement of customer
e Health insurance sales promotion communication
platforms e Health protection e Protection of privacy and
e Non-medical professional data security
services
EF/ /&8 o BRWH e REFMEREE s RAEMKRBES
s BEFE# e ARMFLIHETHE o NMBEFER
o XA o RERFE o RIEFBILEBMIELSE
e BERRIHETS e JFBBEEXRY
The community and e The Company’s official e Fulfilment of social e Strengthening community
the public website responsibilities communication
e Social media communication ©  Community relations and e \/olunteer activities
e Community charity activities community investment e Charitable donations
e Emission management e Promoting local employment
e Use of resources ¢ Reducing negative
e Tackling climate change impacts on the community
environment
HEMAR e RAIEH s BITHEEME o INERAIEER
o MRERER e HEMEREHEKRE s FREMELH
o HEAZED o HER o HERE
o ZRHA o WENARE
o EHRIEE( s BREUHHERENAEY

g5
=
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2.4 EEMFME

Material issues identified our sustainability priorities. During the SUZBRARMOASELREEIIE
Reporting Period, we entrusted a third-party professional agency AR -MNARERRN BRIEEE =
to conduct a benchmarking analysis with regulators, peers and FEERE REASEEBEZGMA
rating agencies based on the nature of the Group’s businesses FEERERR BREEERE RT
and sustainable development strategy, and selected 17 material I MEEHREEST R 1718
issues, namely 3 environmental issues, 11 social issues and EEWEER BEEREERZE 1
3 governance issues, and then obtained the outcomes of the Et e EEEENNIEE A EmEE
assessment on material issues through management’s judgment. EMARETEBHE SIEEMEE
The outcomes were considered and adopted by the Board, and FEER - ZEERERETe RS ES
the issues judged to be highly material will be highlighted in the HbhwH e hAeEEEZ BB aEARE
Report. RETEREFE-

Process to assess material issues: FEEMEBATEME:

Identifying material issues

WA EE M RRE

Assessment and outcomes of
material issues

EEMBENANER

Confirmation by the Board

Exemi

Benchmarking with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange, peer
companies, rating agencies, etc.

Building a library of potentially material issues

BB P KESGHREIES]) RTHRE ARABEERREEDN
BUEBTEZHHEEE

The Group’s management assessed potential material issues and classified material
issues as highly material, material and generally material in descending order of
importance

Six highly material issues, nine material issues and two generally material issues
were identified. The specific outcomes are shown in the table below
AEEEEEHEEEEMRBETIN SEENRERREZRERS T
BoREEEE EEN—REE

RHEREEERR JHEZRBMN2E—REERE ABERBRATX

The Board reviewed the outcomes of the materiality assessment and ultimately
confirmed the relevant ESG issues as annual material issues

EXeFSE2NHMAER ITRREREHESGRERFEERERA
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Outcomes of the assessment on material issues:

Highly material issues

SEEERE
Environmental issues /
REEBEZRAE /
Social issues e Safety and quality of

products and services
e Responsible marketing and
promotion
e Employment and labour
practices
e Customer privacy protection
and data security
Health protection
EmIkRGHLZ2EEE
BEIEHESE
e 1% K45 T AR
EFRILRERHELZ S
fEERIRE

HEEEEE

Governance issues e Compliance operations

i
i
i
=
ik
[
)

SIRIEE
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BE2MHER

Material issues

EEEE

Emission management
Use of resources
Tackling climate change
BB R
BIRH A

JEEI RIRE L

Supply chain management e

Occupational health and

safety °

e Employee development and
training

e Consumer relationship

maintenance

HEHEER .
BxERERE .
8 TR EE
HEEREGE

e o o o

e Anti-commercial bribery and
integrity build-up
ESG governance framework
RS N BB R

o ESGERRE

AHfA AR -

Generally material issues

—REEHRE

Intellectual property
protection

Community relations and
community investment
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OUR SERVICES

Product Quality

As a provider of medical and healthcare products and services,
the Group always puts the life and health of consumers first and
strictly controls the quality and safety of products and services to
provide consumers with safe and secure products and services.

The Group places great importance on the quality and safety of
the medicines it sells. We strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations, including the Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Drug Administration Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Implementing Regulations of the Drug
Administration Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the
Measures Regarding the Administration of Drug Information
Service over the Internet, and strictly follow the Good Supply
Practice for Pharmaceutical Products to take effective quality
control measures in procurement, product inspection, storage,
sale and delivery of pharmaceutical products to ensure the quality
of pharmaceutical products.

The Group is committed to implementing stringent product
and service quality and safety management measures at every
stage of the Specialty Pharmacy Business. We have actively
established a series of internal quality management schemes to
provide guidance on all aspects of our operations. The Specialty
Pharmacy management team is responsible for implementing the
procedures under the quality management systems to ensure that
quality and safety controls are carried out in every aspect.

B HEREARRE

3. RMHVERIE
31 EmEE
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Specialty Pharmacy
Business Operation stage

RBHERXBELERR

Procurement

2

Product inspection

EmRR

Storage

Product and service quality and safety management measures

EnkiBEEL 2T EBEH

To ensure the quality of products, we select pharmaceutical manufacturers
after rigorous screening and inspection, with their brand reputation, market
acceptance and physician recognition taken into account. We usually select
leading pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors as suppliers for the sale of
pharmaceutical products;

In order to achieve efficient management of suppliers, we have set up a
professional procurement team to manage the quality of suppliers’ products,
logistics and returns and replacements. According to the agreements entered into
with suppliers, we have the right to return any substandard products. We also
have the right to return any damaged or contaminated products if caused by our
suppliers.

RIEREMESE HNBERERHE &v&ﬂgﬁé%ﬁﬁ D EE M5
RERBERAE FBEREGERERDFET  RABTEEES %mgﬂ

SUER Ry HEEREE Eme R

SAERHEFNSMEE RAKIL -XEXREBEER A EERHERNE
mEE R SRIE - IRIRERMER R LA ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ffTAWFm
AEHEFHEDTMERTBRZSR  HPITFERES

Prior to warehousing, we inspect the appearance, packaging, labels and
specifications of the products and examine the products according to the delivery
orders and the inspection reports issued by suppliers.

Em AR BMGHERNING AR BREXABETRE TREXTE
HEFHANRRRESHEMETRR

For products stored in our warehouse, we periodically conduct quality
maintenance, inspection and management, and monitor the storage conditions
to ensure compliance. We have temperature-controlled warehouses to maintain
suitable storage conditions to ensure the quality and safety of our pharmaceutical
products;

Certain specialty medicines are stored separately in safe and controlled settings
and managed by professionally trained personnel.

RRERFEEEFNERME RMNESTHETESLE RENEE WEEH
R AERE R - RPIEBREREE  #FEaBEEMBE E R 2MNRERM

ETHEEREBTRELEMIENRET TAXBEXFINABETE
#o
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Specialty Pharmacy
Business Operation stage

RBHERXBELERR

Sales and delivery
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Product and service quality and safety management measures
EmkRBEELERER

e We will inspect and ensure the quality of the products to be delivered prior to
delivery from the warehouses or specialty pharmacies;

e We will confirm the selection of medicines with customers at the time of delivery
and will allow returns or replacements of products in the event of a misdelivery or
quality problem (e.g. product damages or contamination);

e Our after-sales specialists are in charge of after-sales quality complaints and take
effective measures to resolve the complaints.

HERRXM o EREBFIFEEEZE A KMERELBRRRINERNE S
s EXRNEMF ZMTEHEEFERERER SHRERINIEERHE (F
MEMBZEITR) BB REFPETEEIRE:
s BMWEXRIZEEEEREERFRERDEMIE L SHRIETF-
During the Reporting Period, none of the Group’s products sold RAREHAN AEEEEXDEXD
or shipped were subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. EmBHPRERL T EERIERAM
W) EE o o
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3.2 Customer Services

110

The Group’s increasingly strong businesses are inextricably linked
to consumer support, so we spare no effort to protect the rights
and interests of consumers, upgrade their consumption scenarios
and experiences in an innovative way, and keep providing
them with secure, quality and efficient healthcare products and
services.

Specialty pharmacy services

The Group oversees and manages pharmacists in strict
accordance with the Administrative Measures for the Registration
of Licensed Pharmacists, in order to ensure the compliance of
the operations of specialty pharmacies, continuously improve
the consultation service capability of pharmacists and optimise
the medicine purchase experience of patients. We have
adopted stringent hiring procedures for pharmacists working
in our specialty pharmacies, which involve in-person interviews
and assessments of technical knowledge. We also require our
in-house pharmacists to receive regular training on relevant
safety and compliance policies, standards, programmes and
procedures, and conduct acceptance and evaluation of the
training effectiveness to ensure that in-house pharmacists
maintain the ability to offer quality services. In addition, we have
a rigorous prescription verification system in place, and a dual
pharmacist performs review procedures to avoid and manage the
risks associated with provision of prescription drugs, ensuring that
all prescriptions are compliant, standardised and appropriate.

We continuously provide more convenient and comprehensive
services for our patients by offering quality medications, rich
pharmacist experience, and comprehensive medication selection
and effective medication management. In response to patient
complaints about products or services, we provide an after-sales
service hotline (+86 400 052 3990) as the main communication
channel to effectively handle customer complaints and related
drug inquiries in accordance with our internal procedures. In
the meantime, a customer comment book is available for us
to actively collect feedback from patients on our services or
products, so as to urge us to continuously improve our products
and services. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
receive any complaints about its products and services.
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Sipai’s Full-process Patient Management Services provide relief to patients
BREE EE T IERE #BEE T BN

MEDOFFERKX offers professional guidance services to help patients understand diseases and medicines, and comes up with
measures to deal with possible adverse reactions, in a bid to improve patient compliance with treatment regimens and ensure
treatment efficacy. Data from project studies showed that patients who received Sipai’s full-process patient management
services had a 4.68-month extension of DOT' compared to patients who did not receive such services, enhancing treatment
benefits for patients.

BIRAREEMBHNESEXNIRERBBAENBEERARANER RHEHIELEBENHTIRRENEIE 2
MASBBEARNKEY RIEGEEY - BHEARBBER EXTRREEER2RERBH BB L REZZR
R B E FAZEDOT IR T4.681E A 1558 7 BE KR K

Considerate service makes patients feel warm
L IR 5 E &R

A patient surnamed Yao in Shanghai praised the quality of services provided by the staff at MEDOFFERX as “responsive,
people-oriented, and satisfactory”. Due to the mobility problem facing the elderly patient, our staff members of MEDOFFERX
actively guided the patient to the consultation location, delivered medicines earlier than the appointment time, and helped the
patient complete the preparations for diagnosis and treatment in advance, such as registration and payment, enabling the
patient to feel the warm service.

FRHKEERIAERUE - UARK RBICIBEFERRALE TIEENRBEE -ABEFRTHNE  HM
WERE TIEERGEBERESI DS FRBANHERAXELER VRAEEETKENHBS2RERGLE
FEEBERZ DT AOAE BRI R

! DOT B 22456 % +% 48 B 5 (Duration of Therapy)
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Physician Research Assistance

The Group provides SMO services to pharmaceutical companies
and medical institutions in strict compliance with the Good
Practice for Clinical Trials of Drugs, so as to manage clinical
trials and facilitate drug research and development activities. To
ensure the quality of SMO services®, we have adopted standards
of practices that cover all important steps in the SMO service
process and have established a quality assurance system to
monitor and enforce quality standards. We have established a
comprehensive internal training system to ensure that our key
CRC® team in SMO services gets familiar with international and
domestic regulatory requirements and industry knowledge,
and strictly follow standard trial protocol. In the future, we will
leverage our medical expertise and data insights in oncology
and other critical diseases to assist pharmaceutical companies
in clinical trial site selection and participant enrollment through
our SMO services, with a view to promoting drug research and
development and commercialisation.

Health Insurance Services

The Group strictly follows the relevant laws and regulations
such as the Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Measures for the Regulation of Internet Insurance
Business to provide its members with access to a network of
medical institutions and physicians and a comprehensive range
of medical and health management services. We also work with
major insurers to develop specialised insurance products for our
members, such as “Hui Min Insurance” (literally, benefiting-people
insurance), our first insurance plan that was launched in 2019,
and “Jian Kang Bao” (literally, health insurance) that provides more
comprehensive protection for employers and their employees.

BAME Y

AEBBERER(EYERASREEE
EIRE) PEVREMBERE R BEH
BIRUESMO FR7%° - AB BB IR S8R )2
R B 3% B - R R SMO AR TS Y
HE B2 HRARESMO R BIZH
EEESRNERRE YEEVE
EREBAREEMNNTEERE -
F SMO AR 7% 5 8 42 #) CRC°E BX - F 1
TRES e & K AR IE I 68 & - FE AR 2 P
) CRC B A BB M B A B & Bk &
TTRMB YERBREREENABTT R
RE - BAIKBREANEEEREE KM
fEERR T E R R E XML BIER
520 - 818 SMO R 75 17 B) 8 e 2 RIET T
RS R XAERE B HHE
MIEMERCER-

IR RHS

AEBEBEEEMR (PEAREMBER
woEy R (BB RIRR ESBEE IR
LHEEEER RBEMNe EREH#®
ANEBERERBERK WESZ2EMN
EENEREERBENERE R I
MMEFBREARASE Mg EH
[ F 3 E P IR EE @ » 2020194 5
HrE ERREE [BRR] A KEE A
EBEREETIRHEZ2EREN R
R] e

SMO stands for site management organization, an organization that provides clinical trial-related services to medical device companies and has
adequate infrastructure and staff to meet the requirements of the clinical trial protocol.

§ ERISE RS RBRENARREERABEEREOERE ZRBEENARASBRIRERN R CERRBRAE -

CRC stands for clinical research coordinator, a person responsible for conducting non-clinical work under the guidance of, and as an assistant
to, a principal investigator in clinical trials.

° BERAMEHRE ERAARTEEEIEMRENEE TER T ETEBRKIIENAL-
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Aiming to ensure the quality of Health Insurance Services, we
rigorously screen out healthcare providers by taking into account
a variety of factors, including their reputation and qualifications,
expertise and experience, service quality and capability, availability,
and their equipment and facilities, and require them to hold the
necessary licences, comply with relevant laws and regulations,
and follow our service guide. Moreover, we also carefully monitor
feedback from our members on the services provided by these
healthcare providers, and take that into consideration when
determining our continued cooperation with them. For general
practitioners and physicians in the Health Insurance Services
network, we require them to provide us with their qualifications
and licences and to strictly adhere to the work scope and
quality requirements specified in their service agreements. With
its advanced data insights and actuarial capabilities, the Group
will continuously expand the network of healthcare providers
and connect more Grade 3, Class A hospitals, physicians
and medical examination institutions, along with our Specialty
Pharmacy Business, to provide trusted, quality health and disease
management services to more patients and members.

Responsible Marketing

The Group operates our businesses based on the principle of
integrity and strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Interim Administrative Measures for Censorship of
Advertisements for Drugs, Medical Devices, Dietary Supplements
and Formula Foods for Special Medical Purpose, and the
Provisions on Administration of Instructions and Labels of
Medicines, to ensure marketing compliance and brand integrity.

We keep the marketing strategy for our services and products
under strict control. All advertising content, copy and other
marketing materials posted online must be reviewed by our Legal
Affairs and Risk Control Department and submitted to the relevant
government authorities for review. The Group expressly prohibits
advertising prescription drugs on the website that it operates and
must ensure that any advertisement of medical treatment, drugs
or medical devices does not include any assertion or guarantee
as to the function and safety or any statement of their curative
rate and efficacy. It ensures that scientific and accurate drug and
treatment information is communicated to consumers or potential
consumers.

In the search for Health Insurance Services customers, we have
established and maintained cooperative relationships with local
governments riding on our trustworthy product and service quality,
coupled with our honest and reliable marketing and promotion.
So, our Hui Min Insurance products have been recognised by
local governments, and we can offer reliable comprehensive
health insurance services to our target customers.
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3.4 Information Security

114

With great importance attached to consumer privacy protection
and data security, the Group strictly complies with the relevant
laws and regulations such as the Personal Information Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Cyber security Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Data Security Law of
the People’s Republic of China. At the same time, it enhances
the ability to ensure data privacy and security through various
technical means and comprehensive data security measures.

We stick to the bottom line of data security and ensure consumer
privacy and data security throughout the process. Prior to the
initial collection of medical data from patients and plan members
of Specialty Pharmacy Business and Health Insurance Services
Business, we invite them to complete consent forms, application
forms or agreements to obtain their prior consent. Our data use
and privacy policy is available to each consumer through our
website and WeChat public account. The Group undertakes
to use data of patients and plan members in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations and to put in place a strict internal
control system to prevent the transfer of personal data to any third
party. In the process of storing and managing medical data of
patients and plan members, we isolate our internal database and
operating system from external services to ensure data security,
and also encrypt data transmissions using complex security
protocols to ensure confidentiality. In addition to strengthening
our internal technology and data infrastructure, we also engage a
third-party cybersecurity company to conduct regular penetration
tests to identify weaknesses in the system and assess its security
in a timely manner. We will take immediate steps to upgrade
the system once problems are identified in order to mitigate any
potential problems that may compromise the security of the
system.

In terms of data security publicity and prevention, we have
developed a detailed plan for operation and maintenance of
management, monitoring and warning mechanisms, data security
management and disaster recovery. The database can only be
accessed by authorised personnel after assessment and approval
procedures, whose actions will be recorded and monitored.
We provide data privacy training to authorised personnel to
continually enhance their data security awareness and skills, and
require them to report any information security vulnerability.
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3.5 Intellectual Property

The Group places a high value on intellectual property and
recognises that trademarks, copyrights, domain names,
technologies and databases are particularly critical to its success.
We strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations,
including the Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China, the
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and meet the requirements
regarding intellectual property rights in the Intellectual Property
Management Work and Process of Sipai, in a bid to ensure
that we protect our own intellectual property rights while fully
respecting the intellectual property rights of others.

We adopt and continuously optimise our internal work processes
and procedures related to intellectual property protection. We
require our employees to search for relevant intellectual property
and strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations. Moreover,
we file trademarks and copyrights with the relevant authorities
and periodically monitor third-party actions to strengthen our
intellectual property protection. We protect our technologies
by entering into confidentiality agreements with our business
partners, and incorporate the maintenance of physical security of
our premises and physical and electronic security of information
technology systems as part of intellectual property protection
measures.

OUR GOVERNANCE
Risk Internal Control and Compliance Management

The Group’s risk management and internal control policies and
procedures cover five aspects of business operations: service
quality and safety, product quality and safety, operational risk
management, human resources risk management, and regulatory
compliance and legal risk management, with a corresponding
risk management protection mechanism or measure in each
aspect. We keep improving our policies and procedures in
accordance with changes in policies and regulatory trends, the
industry market environment and our own business development
to reduce the impact of potential risks on our operations and
achieve steady and sound development through scientific and
rigorous risk management.
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Rk S RER®WE

Risk management

EEEELHE

Service quality and safety

Product quality and safety
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Operational risk management

BRIERRE B

Human resources risk management

ANEIRR R E 2

Regulatory compliance and

legal risk management

EEARMARRREIE

Risk protection mechanisms/measures

LS REEH ), 1E 1

I[dentifying risks that may arise in the operation of each of the three major business
segments (i.e. Specialty Pharmacy Business, Physician Research Assistance and
Health Insurance Services), and adopting and implementing various measures to
ensure the effective operation of the risk management procedures

RED BB =R EBRGE (RN B EE TS - BAM T 0B oA R RRE AR )
ELEER AR ENRRETRR KA BEEZ AR BREREIERE
FFEMEE

Controlling risks at all levels to ensure the quality and safety of products sold in
specialty pharmacies, covering strict selection of pharmaceutical manufacturers
and distributors, logistics and transportation, product inspection, warehousing, and
sales and delivery
FEHHFEEFHENEnEERT Y REBERER RO HEOERR
e YMnEh EnRR ARKEERNMERE  BELEZERR REE
mEERLZE

Developing internal procedures for management of financial-related risks arising
from inadequate or defective internal processes, employee errors, T system failures
or external events

HERMRENTTZRRE B TRR EEMRARKEIIMBEFER
B EA TS AR R - Il TE R RRAR A 1T R B IR

The human resources centre develops a code of conduct and conducts regular
training to address and manage possible human resources risks, aiming to tackle
bribery and corruption risks

YRR RE S AR ANERPORBEIEITRST
AL REBARHRHANERER

Al I F R E B Ay 77

Seeking effective compliance and legal risk management for all aspects of business
operations and employee activities, and establishing an internal accountability
system
HEEBELRETFHNZTETEAREEINERIEAZRRER B
BT R ERFE & I
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The Group formulated the Internal Audit Management Provisions
in accordance with its own operating conditions and development
goals to enhance the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems at the system level. Our risk management
process consists of three main steps, namely risk assessment,
risk analysis, and risk response. We follow this process to
continuously assess and update various risks in our operations,
which provides an important reference for internal audit planning
and risk management, and enhances our risk management
capabilities.

[ Bez A
Risk
assessment

JeR| e P
Risk
response

[\ & IR AR

Risk management process

4.2 Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to build an efficient and responsible supply
chain and continuously conveys the concept of sustainable
development to its suppliers to achieve win-win development. We
strictly enforce relevant laws and regulations, including the Bidding
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Regulation on the
Implementation of the Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of
China, to ensure compliance in procurement activities.

We have formulated the Store Supplier Information Creation and
Maintenance Process for the procurement related to our principal
businesses, i.e. medicines, devices and health food, in order to
promote efficient and fair supply chain management. A dedicated
team has been established to manage the quality of suppliers’
products, logistic, returns of goods and so forth, in order to
standardise the selection criteria for suppliers and identify and
reduce the environmental and social risks that may arise in the
procurement process.
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For the selection of suppliers, the Group conducts background
checks on suppliers from their qualifications, brands and reliability
before entering into any agreement, examines their business
licences and the relevant licences and certificates of the products
they provide, and investigates the market acceptance of their
products in the industry to ensure effective supplier selection
management. The Group regularly conducts comprehensive
assessments on suppliers that have entered the Group’s
management system, gives timely feedback on problems and
urges them to make improvements to their products and services.
Once the government authorities announce that suppliers
cooperating with the Group have violated laws and regulations,
the Group will immediately terminate their procurement and
supply relationship to ensure that the environmental and social
risks in the supply chain are minimised. During the Reporting
Period, all suppliers of the stores provided products or services in
accordance with the established systems and processes.

With regard to non-operating purchases, including but not limited
to administrative products, engineering products, equipment and
facilities, outsourcing services, professional services and human
resources services, the Group carries out purchases in strict
accordance with its internal systems and management processes.

The Group actively purchases low-carbon and environmentally-friendly
products, and gives priority to biodegradable and recyclable
plastic bags and cold chain insulated containers. Furthermore,
we periodically verify the quality of eco-friendly products or
services provided by our suppliers to promote their active use of
eco-friendly and green products and services.

Integrity Management

We operate our businesses in good faith and in compliance with
legal standards. We recognise that fraud, commercial bribery,
fraud and other misconduct may expose us to financial loss and
severe sanctions by government or regulatory authorities, and
seriously damage our reputation. So we are firmly opposed to
bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering and other unlawful
acts. The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations, including the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Interim Regulations on
Prohibition of Commercial Bribery, and designs and implements
strict internal procedures on anti-fraud and anti-commercial
bribery, so as to ensure that our business operations comply
with the relevant laws and rules. The Group was not implicated in
any concluded proceedings regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
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The internal audit and control department and the legal
department, led by senior management, has established internal
rules and measures against corrupt and fraudulent activities, in a
bid to effectively manage compliance and legal risks.

o The internal audit and control department, the legal
department and the management team of each business
line are responsible for the day-to-day implementation
of anti-bribery measures, reviewing and evaluating the
anti-bribery measures of each department, reviewing
complaints and reports from internal and external sources,
conducting investigations and implementing corrective
measures accordingly. The day-to-day implementation of
these measures and any specific events will be reported to
senior management on a regular basis.

o Employees are required to comply with the code of
professional ethics and the internal compliance manual, and
are prohibited from accepting gifts, hospitality and other
offers from interested third parties.

o An accountability system has been established for violations
of laws, regulations and internal policies by employees.

o Preventive anti-bribery measures are implemented in daily
operations. Different sales responsibilities are separated
where feasible and the sales process is monitored through
technical means.

° We communicate with all relevant stakeholders, including
customers and suppliers, in relation to our compliance
measures and code of professional ethics. With
anti-corruption and anti-bribery clauses in a majority of our
business contracts, we require our suppliers and other third
parties who cooperate with us to comply with relevant laws
and regulations.
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The Group provides specialised and regular training based on the
needs of employees in different departments and anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies, in a bid to ensure that employees have
a thorough understanding of risk prevention measures and laws
and regulations concerning anti-bribery and anti-corruption, and
better comply with relevant internal policies and external laws
and regulations in their day-to-day work. The human resources
centre is responsible for organising regular in-house training
courses taught by senior employees or external consultants for
new recruits and in-service employees. The training courses
are offered online and in classrooms. In addition, the human
resources centre also follows up and reviews the training content
and the performance of employees participating in the courses to
evaluate the effectiveness of the training and to reward instructors
who receive positive feedback.

Moreover, we have developed an employee handbook and
code of conduct containing professional ethics, fraud prevention
mechanism, internal rules and guidance on negligence and
corruption, which have been distributed to all employees. We
also organise regular training and devote resources to explain the
contents of the manual and the code to our employees.

OUR EMPLOYEES

Employees are the cornerstone of business development. The
Group understands that only by building a team of passionate,
professional and loyal employees can it create more outstanding
performance and value. Therefore, we are committed to providing
a fair, harmonious, healthy, safe and positive working environment
for all employees, and attach great importance to their needs
and interests. We focus on achieving the goal of common
development with employees and creating more lasting value.

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022

RERETRATHEREBEMRES S
R EBEEIVERER ERF
T{ER R R)E T 2 = R AR B BR A S0
BERER AEESEETAIMAET
MBERMRERERE SR REH
FIME R F - ANBERFLEBAE

HAMHSRE TSIEMRARNA
MEIIRE 2BAEBBEABMNRKLE
BET B BREGR L LREE -

li|:9'|\)\7]:§ﬁ¢'/[:\/ ALTi**J”WTQJ/)\&
LEEIINE TRIRETEWGE A

EEIR R W ES TERENE
BT T HEE)
Bt zih BHMESIEE TFMEITE

PRI H o A RS B L RAEA
# B2 RESOABRAIRIES B
A2BAET S RATRAST RS
I3 4 ARBRER)ER 3t T 57 AR
HATHETHRENN

RPWHWET

BETRGEZRENER-AEBZRA
ABEITE—XEEAB BXER A
HESHE IBME A6 %WEm%FH
PLEAMEEMEE - ABHHEM—EHR
TR ABMBETIREAIE  ME- @R
T2 MEMNIERE SEEHREL
ERMAE BIORERE I ML
FEERMBEZ AIEENEAMNEE-



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

5.1 Employment Management

The Group strictly complies with national laws and regulations on
employment management, including but not limited to the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Interim Regulations on the
Collection and Payment of Social Insurance Premiums and the
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour. Meanwhile,
the Group has formulated the Employee Handbook and the
Performance Management Provisions internally to standardise the
management of compensation, recruitment, dismissal, promotion,
working hours, rest periods, benefits, code of conduct and
professional ethics via well-established systems to provide equal
opportunities for employees, create an ideal working environment
and realise the diversification of the talent team.

° Recruitment: The Group follows the principles of
“openness, equality, competition, and merit” and does not
discriminate against applicants on the basis of gender, race,
age, religious beliefs, and other factors. The Group actively
promotes diversity in the workforce and encourages the
employment of employees from all backgrounds. The Group
has established systematic external and internal recruitment
management process to ensure the quality of recruitment
and select qualified and outstanding talents. Applicants
who are under the age of 18 will be deemed as ineligible for
employment and will not be hired in order to eliminate child
labour from the source. In addition, the Group signs labour
contracts with new hires on a voluntary and equal basis
to protect the legal rights and interests of employees and
itself and to avoid forced labour. In the event of violations,
we will arrange for the relevant departments to conduct
timely investigations and deal with them in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations.

o Promotion: The Group provides objective and fair
promotion opportunities for outstanding employees by
establishing clear performance appraisal procedures and
evaluation criteria, upholding the principles of fairness,
openness and equity, and based on a cyclical performance
management and communication mechanism.

° Dismissal: The Group and its employees shall terminate the
labour contract in accordance with laws and the agreement
of both parties. Any party who decides to terminate or
dissolve the labour relationship is required to notify the
other party ahead of time in accordance with the laws and
regulations or the relevant agreement signed by the two
parties.
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Compensation and benefits: The Group offers
competitive compensation and benefits packages, with
corresponding bonus incentives based on periodic
performance appraisal. In addition to the basic five major
social insurance programs and housing provident fund, the
Group also provides employees with accident insurance,
supplementary health insurance, and high-quality employee
benefits and care, including multi-themed employee cultural
and sports activities, as well as support activities for
employees’ living materials during the stay-at-home period
amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

Working hours and rest periods: The Group does not
encourage employees to work overtime in order to protect
their health. Employees who need to extend working hours
for work reasons need to apply in writing in advance, which
shall be approved by the department head. The actual
overtime shall be submitted to the human resources centre
for record. In addition, employees are entitled to all statutory
public holidays in accordance with national regulations, and
to annual leave, sick leave and other holidays in accordance
with the Group’s system.

eanais

i
e ESMARTDRAR |

FMRERN: AKESIE T AR
NFMEENFE AEAHE
HUENEREZ T THED
ReBB -RTERNER -2
AREET B TRERIMRR
AERRBARSEENETIR
MHMEE BREZETEE I XRE
B URRBEERMEHETLEEY
BXEESE-

IHEBH: AREEIHER
R AEBE TSRS THEE T
ATERAZELER TIERRERN-
BTEZRAZEMEARE APIE
5 ABLES AL I A EER HNIE
BRBZANERALEER S
SN BIRBERBEZIMEET
AR WIEBAEEFEZZF
B mBRERE-

ZHEBIXEELH

122 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022

A\

Colorful employee artistic and cultural activities
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5.2 Occupational Safety and Health

The Group cares about the occupational safety and health of
its employees and focuses on creating a safe and comfortable
working environment. We strictly comply with relevant laws
and regulations, including the Work Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Fire Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Emergency Response Law of the
People’s Republic of China. We also strengthen our employees’
ability to maintain personal health and safety, respond to
fire safety, and prevent emergencies through the Employee
Handbook, and actively carry out health activities to advocate a
balanced development between work and life for our employees.

Aiming to create a healthy and energetic workplace environment,
we regularly invite professional physicians to hold online health
science popularisation seminars for our employees, covering
topics such as anti-pandemic, cervical spondylosis prevention
and rehabilitation training, seasonal cold prevention, and anxiety
relief mental health, providing diverse guidance for employees to
develop a healthy work style.
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Poster of health science popularisation seminars
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All workplaces of the Group meet the requirements of fire control
acceptance. In order to actively respond to and cooperate with
the state and government departments to deal with emergencies,
and to improve the emergency handling capabilities of employees,
we conduct safety publicity from time to time and cooperate
with the property management companies to launch drills on fire
safety evacuation and firefighting gear usage to enhance the fire
safety awareness and self-rescue capability of employees, with a
view to minimising and avoiding the impact of emergencies on the
day-to-day operations and the lives and properties of employees
and customers.
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Employees watched a fire drill at a property

5.3 Training and Development

124

The Group pays full attention to the vocational development and
growth of its employees and provides them with various training
and learning opportunities. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s total training hours amounted to 4,080 hours and the
average training hours completed per employee was 1.27 hours.

The Group has formulated the Implementation Plan for
Onboarding of New Employees, which covers modules such as
company profile, organisational structure, administration, finance,
HR-related internal processes and information, and business
etiquette. Through regular classes, the training programme helps
new employees get familiar with the corporate culture and teams,
understand the daily management rules and regulations, and
know the basic processes so that they can start their work better
and faster. At the same time, we also evaluate and control the
effectiveness of training through training assessment, training
summary and feedback, and course satisfaction questionnaires to
continuously improve and optimise the training system.

In addition, the Group provides employees with in-house training
on professional topics covering leadership improvement, project
management and quality management, encouraging them to
make choices according to their business attributes and career
plans. The Group established a complete internal training system
to ensure that the CRC team is familiar with international and
domestic regulatory requirements and industry know-how,
and strictly follow standard trial protocol. A mature project
management system is in place to oversee the execution of
our projects and guarantee our quality service. Employees of
relevant specialty pharmacies are required to master professional
quality management methods and procedures to ensure the
standardisation of Specialty Pharmacy Business.
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CRC training camp
CRC#ralll &

OUR ENVIRONMENT

Business operations are closely bound up with the environment.
The Group is committed to achieving eco-friendly and sustainable
business practices and integrating the concept of greenness into
its business operations. We strictly comply with environmental
laws and regulations, including the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Energy Conservation
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Circular Economy
Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the
Renewable Energy Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
actively promote the improvement of our internal policies, plans
and management systems. We strengthen the standardisation
of resource use and emission management, and reduce air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste to
minimise the potential impact on the environment.

As the Group does not operate any production facilities and
engages in no manufacturing operations, therefore our businesses
do not involve significant environmental issues. In spite of this, we
formulated internal environmental management rules, including the
Green Office Management Standards, the Civilisation Convention
for Office Spaces of Sipai, and the Energy Conservation and
Environmental Protection Initiative, and cooperated with the
implementation of measures to save energy and cut emissions for
equipment and facilities, in order to minimise the impact on the
environment and natural resources and protect the ecology and
the environment.
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6.1

Our environmental impact is primarily due to the consumption
of resources and energy used in the daily operations of our
offices and specialty pharmacies, as well as the generation
of household and office waste. Even so, we still uphold the
principle of environmentally responsible development, implement
a series of green operations and take green office measures to
pass on the concept of sustainability to our employees. In the
future, the Group will combine internal and external factors such
as policy trends, the environmental impact on daily operations
and the development direction of business operations to set
reasonable targets for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, waste
generation, energy use and water use, explore its potential for
green transformation, create an environmentally-friendly corporate
atmosphere and highlight its ability for sustainable development.

Energy and Emission Management

The Group is fully aware of the importance attached to
environmental and ecological sustainability in the process of
moving into the future. We have incorporated the concept of
greenness into the site selection, office space design and daily
office operations, and formulated internal management rules and
initiatives, including the Green Office Management Standards, the
Civilisation Convention for Office Spaces of Sipai, and the Energy
Conservation and Environmental Protection Initiative, to actively
promote energy conservation and emission reduction actions and
minimise the impact on the environment during operations.

In order to create environmentally-friendly offices, we start from
energy conservation and emission reduction and reduction
in operating costs in daily office work and implement the
corresponding measures to conserve energy and reduce
emissions according to different office scenarios:
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Office space design

A= ERE

o Offices in Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou are located near public transportation stops

° It follows the principle of simple and eco-friendly decoration and optimises space planning
to seek natural ventilation and lighting

oo b o Office workstations have been rationally designed to create a suitable working environment
| ey for employees
_Dnﬂ__ﬂnﬂ__ﬂnﬂ_ o The Group uses eco-friendly office furniture that meets national standards, with priority
given to the use of quality and up-to-standard old and second-hand furniture
e bR BB BMN=MHBSRIEEEARE
e EREMARRNEERE BtZEHPRAE BEREABRERMEKL
e EARETHIMZER RETIEEEEMNIIFRER
e FRAMEHERBRENERIARKE BENAREERNERAR_FREA
Daily operations
BEEEED
o Office computers are mostly leased, and intelligent switch panels are used to save electricity
to the greatest extent
° Office areas are installed with sensor lights
o It carries out intelligent control over the air conditioning unit and the temperature output of
the cooling source according to the daily weather conditions and temperature changes,
and sets the temperature not lower than 26° C in summer
o It purchases eco-friendly office supplies in a centralised manner, supplies them on demand
and registers them, and eliminates the purchase of non-essential office supplies
o It advocates paperless office, reduce unnecessary printing and colour printing, standardises
double-sided printing, and promotes recycling of non-classified paper
T@T U It advocates paperless meetings, prioritises the use of glass whiteboards and electronic
devices in meeting rooms to publicise meeting content and explores sustainable use of

meeting materials
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Employees’ work style

EIRAFK

U Employees are encouraged to commute by public transportation or bike sharing and
reduce non-essential business trips

° The Group reduces the use of plastic bags, encourages no leftovers, eliminates white
pollution, and implements the ‘empty plate’ campaign

o The Group encourages employees to use fountain pens and refillable pens, and bring their
own cutlery and cups, in order to reduce the use of disposables

° Employees are encouraged to turn off electronic devices that are no longer in use and turn

on only the light source corresponding to their workstation when working overtime
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TEHEE
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“Electricity conservation” sign “Electricity conservation” tips on workstations
[EiROFRE ] 1235 TH 8RR EIRT

Cases
Replacement of refrigerated cabinets with refrigerated areas

We have developed an optimisation scheme to replace
refrigerated cabinets with refrigerated areas in specialty
pharmacies, in order to further promote energy conservation
and emission reduction. It is estimated that one air cooler in
the refrigerated area can effectively replace 20 refrigerated
cabinets, which can achieve a 65%-80% reduction in electricity
consumption.

Refrigerated cabinets
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Energy conservation initiative for specialty pharmacies

During the Reporting Period, we established rules for the use of
electricity in scenarios by analysing the capacity and quantity of
large-capacity electrical equipment in specialty pharmacies, and
monitored and guided the cost reasonableness of energy use.
Energy conservation prevailed.

Resource Management

Effective resource management is key for the Group to enhance
environmental sustainability. We attach importance to the rational
use of water resources and the conservation of packaging
materials, and reduce the use of resources in the operation
process at the source by actively introducing water-saving
equipment and eco-friendly recyclable packaging materials.

As far as water management is concerned, although there is no
issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, the Group, under
the guidance of internal management rules and initiatives like the
Green Office Management Standards, the Civilisation Convention
for Office Spaces of Sipai and the Employee Handbook,
encourages employees to save water and recycle water and
optimises various water conservation measures:

° Drinking water is for drinking only. Use for other purposes is
strictly prohibited

° “Water conservation” signs are posted in the washroom
area, and employees are required to turn off the faucet to
stop the water when they leave the area

° Employees shall wash their hands with a moderate amount
of water to avoid sputtering and waste

° The Group performs regular inspection, maintenance or
timely replacement of faulty water equipment to reduce the
loss of water resources caused by malfunction
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Employees are encouraged to use “Water conservation” sign

a small amount of water to wash dishes. [ERZI K] iZ e

SBETERIKEERER

With regard to the use of packaging materials, we constantly HEREMEMERTE  RPUBENL -
purchase biodegradable packaging bags and reusable insulated CELMBRIEARA FHEEERHE
containers for specialty pharmacies based on the principles of PRAE ] PR AR B 3 SR A R B IR(E R OBAS -
reduction, light weight and recycling, and carry out standardised WHBEMBNZ 2 RREREETR
controls on the safety and environmental protection of packaging FLEE  RERBEMEERENTE -

materials to reduce their impact on the environment.

Biodegradable packaging bags Reusable insulated containers
AR BRR A EENAHFRAM
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6.3 Waste Management

The Group attaches importance to the reduction of waste at
source and advocates conservation to reduce the production of
waste, followed by maintenance, recycling and reuse to reduce
purchases of new materials and also reduce the production of
waste. The Group strictly complies with the relevant regulations of
the cities where it operates to carry out sorting or entrusts a third
party with professional qualifications to collect and dispose of
waste.

The waste generated by the Group mainly comes from the
daily operations of offices and specialty pharmacies, of which
non-hazardous waste includes household waste, food waste and
office waste. We carry out household waste sorting and recycling
in accordance with the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Environment Pollution Caused
by Solid Wastes and the regulations on the administration of
domestic waste classification in the cities where we operate,
and formulate waste management plans according to actual
operations to regulate source reduction and process reduction
actions. The Group’s major hazardous wastes are waste
batteries, waste light tubes, waste ink cartridges and waste
electronic products. Our relevant department collectively collects
hazardous waste in strict compliance with relevant regulations,
including the Administrative Measures for the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Electronic Waste and the
Regulation on the Administration of the Recovery and Disposal of
Waste Electrical and Electronic Products, and actively cooperates
with the recycling by property management companies or
entrusts legitimate and professionally qualified waste removers
or disposers to carry out collection, transportation, disposal and
reporting, etc. Prior to the disposal, hazardous waste is separately
collected and stored according to the properties of the waste to
ensure proper disposal of the waste.

Household waste sorting and recycling
A EBIIR 5 FR IR

R HERERBE
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Special recycling points for hazardous waste
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6.4 Responses to Climate Change

In the face of frequent extreme weather and natural disasters, the
Group recognises that identifying and assessing the risks posed
by climate change and establishing action plans to address
them are essential to the normal operation of its businesses and
the reduction of losses arising from climate change risks. The
climate change risk facing the Group can be categorised as
the risk of safety incidents (e.g. power leakage) due to extreme
weather events and the impact of restrictions on the operation
of physical businesses (e.g. water and electricity outages). We
will continuously improve our measures to respond to extreme
weather emergencies and enhance our resilience to climate
change, aiming to reduce business interruptions caused by
extreme weather.

Furthermore, to address the transition risks of climate change,
we identify and sort out environmental policies and regulatory
issues related to our business operations with the assistance of
external professional consultants, pay close attention to changes
in the market, technologies and policies in the industry, and focus
on the statistics and calculation of environmental performance
data in resource consumption, waste and emission generation
for comparative analysis of data, so as to continuously optimise
the environmental management and responses to climate risks in
each business segment.

OUR COMMUNITY
Contributing to Health-related Welfare

The Group, which complies with the relevant laws and
regulations, remains true to its original aspiration, fulfills its social
responsibilities and undertakes corporate obligations while
constantly growing and expanding, striving to continuously
improve the health of people. We integrate social welfare into our
development. We give full play to its advantages in the medical
and health fields, and continuously benefit the public through
high-quality medical and health services and innovative medical
payment models, providing multi-dimensional protection for
people’s health, contributing to the healthy development of the
industry, and escorting for a healthy China.
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During the Reporting Period, we teamed up with participants to
make numerous joint donations to provide medical and health
protection for over 430,000 people via “Hui Min Insurance”,
a city-specific commercial medical insurance, and provided
value-added health services in “Hui Min Insurance” products,
covering the entire process of a medical service: pre-visit,
during-visit and post-visit, so as to enhance the sense of gain of
the insured.

Cases

“Hui Min Insurance” creates a new model of integration of social
insurance and commercial insurance

The Group has always adhered to its original mission of
“benefiting people” and has made innovation in its products
and services to help build a multi-level medical security system.
It managed to launch “Hui Min Insurance”, a city-specific
commercial medical insurance. “Hui Min Insurance” has no limits
on health condition and age. It is not only an urgent need to
reduce people’s burden of medical expenses for serious illnesses
and solve the problem of poverty caused by illnesses, but also an
important measure to further embody mutual assistance, promote
social equity and justice, and achieve common prosperity.
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“Health Care Centre for Skin Diseases” helps improve patients’
access to innovative medicines

In order to benefit patients with skin diseases and psoriasis,
MEDOFFERx partnered with Novartis Pharma to establish the
“Accessible — Health Care Centre for Skin Diseases” that was
officially inaugurated in August in Shenzhen. The move will allow
innovative medicines to better reach patients and help more
patients and families suffering from skin diseases.
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We win “Honour Awards — Outstanding Responsible Enterprise
for 2022”

In December 2022, we won the “Honour Awards — Outstanding
Responsible Enterprise for 2022” at the 5th Social Responsibility
Conference. This award is a high recognition from the public
and the industry for our long-standing commitment to social
responsibilities and corporate obligations.
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The (5th) Social Responsibility Conference
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7.2

136

Support for COVID-19 Prevention and Control

During the Reporting Period, COVID-19 resurged and the
pandemic situation was grim in many regions. The Group took
advantage of the offline pharmacy network to ensure pandemic
prevention and control work. In addition, as a member of the
Chengdu International Consumption Center City Healthcare
Security Alliance and a member representative of the “Hui Rong
Insurance” Security Alliance, we made active responses to
support pandemic prevention and control and sent anti-pandemic
materials such as oximeters to grassroots medical institutions in
Chengdu.

Cases

Implementing anti-pandemic work and actively assuming social
responsibilities

The Group fully supports and cooperates with local governments
in the implementation of anti-pandemic work and actively
undertakes social responsibilities. During the pandemic, we
ensured that the employees of MEDOFFERX stuck to their posts
to guarantee drug availability for patients, and set up nucleic
acid testing sites at MEDOFFERx and donated facial masks for
the convenience and benefit of people, contributing to a healthy
China.
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7.3 Building a Harmonious Society 73 HEFHEHE
While actively fulfilling its social responsibilities, the Group NEBFEABEBBETH2ETNRE
encourages its employees to contribute to the building of a HEETIRAENELEERNE-R
harmonious society. During the Reporting Period, an employee’ RBEHAN AEBETIBREKEE
courageous act of saving a child from falling into water aroused NEEBEARESIETHINRE . 55
an overwhelming response. We presented the employee with a ByAEEFLAOBE RMMZE TE%
certificate of honour and a cash reward, so as to encourage the LR BB AN S HEEf o

spirit of selflessness and love.
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In addition to offering love to the community, we also carry forward ERESERELMRER  JMTES
the good quality of “helping each other and supporting each [EEEE) BEERKF I NETFmE—
other in adversity”. An employee’s mother was in urgent need of UEINEHAREERNSFRRLE
high-priced treatment due to an accident. Colleagues organised E-AEMEE —KFEAKE LB
a donation at the first time to help the employee overcome the Hi)zE TEBEHRE-

difficulties.
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8. ESG KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 8. ESGEAEEN
Environmental KPls RIEBEM
Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2022 Data
BEER EEA8 B 2022F R 1B
Nitrogen oxides Kg 0.29
REY) T
Air pollutant emissions’ Sulphur oxides Kg 213x 10"
PNEVEE 3 3 maEty T
Particulate matters Kg 0.03
FERLY) T
Direct greenhouse gas emissions Tonne of CO, equivalent 0.03
(Scope 1)°
ERRERBEHRE (BE1)° WE—SE(LIRE S
Direct greenhouse gas emission intensity  Tonne of CO, equivalent 1.05x10°
(Scope 1)° per person
ERAEREBREE (BE1)° Mo iREE A
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions Tonne of CO, 1,276.76
Greenhouse gas emissions (§Q0p2 2j s (e 7 w
B = BB Lk AZEZEREHRE (8E2) g — AL Hix
A SRS Indirect greenhouse gas emission intensity Tonne of CO, per person 0.40
(Scope 2)
MERERBHNEE (HE2) WE — bR A
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonne of CO, equivalent 1,276.79
RERBHERAS W — AR E 2
Total greenhouse gas emission intensity ~ Tonne of CO, equivalent 0.40
per person
RERBHERARE Mo iREE A

Air pollutant emissions only include emissions from the combustion of diesel in generators. The air pollutant emissions are calculated
with reference to the Technical Guide for Compilation of an Emission Inventory of Air Pollutants from Non-Road Mobile Sources (Trial)
published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

RESRDHERE T EBEE B R EHERNSMINERE ENPI - RRSEDEIRE T E2Z hE AR KB & RIRIF A M E) (F
BEBERARSAMBENE ERHIRMIER (7)) °

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) only include emissions from the diesel combustion of generators. Greenhouse
gas emissions are calculated with reference to the Greenhouse Gas Emissions Accounting Methods and Reporting Guides for Land
Transportation Enterprises (Trial) published by the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC.

AEENREREHN (BEDNTEHEERREERANEEREEENHN RERBHMOAEL2EHRBERERMNKEEZE
BEME (E EXBERCERETREHZE T AEREER (Hm)) -

The intensity of environmental KPIs was calculated on a per capita basis, with a total of 3,210 employees for the Reporting Period.
RIZEMBREEENTERAALN A ETHE NS BN E THERUR3210A ¢

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) include indirect emissions caused during the production of purchased electricity in Mainland
China. Greenhouse gas emissions are calculated with reference to the national average grid emission factor for 2022 in the Notice on
the Management of Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Power Generation Enterprises in 2023-2025 published by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

BRERBHR (BE)MAESEESFEPREANMINEE N EEERRETERNOEEN R ERBHRNTERE R B A RIRE AT
o) AR 2023 —2025F HEITE P RRER B MMS TR A M LIENBHM) F2022FE 2 HEMTIEME T -
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Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2022 Data
EEER EEEB B 2022F H &
Diesel consumption MWh 0.13
S EE S KEF
Total direct energy consumption MWh 0.13
HERREERES KE
Direct energy consumption intensity MWh/person 400x 10°
BHEEREREE JEEEEA
Purchased electricity’ MWh 2,238.75
Use of resources® SNEBE ° JKFLBF
&R E A Total indirect energy consumption MWh 2,238.75
EZLIREEFER KE
Indirect energy consumption intensity MWh/person 0.70
FEZERERETE KRR, A
Total energy consumption MWh 2,238.88
BB E KE s
Energy consumption intensity MWh/person 0.70
BERERERE JKER, A
Total water consumption Cubic metre 9,241.00
Use of water resources’®  #5E/K& MK
KERER" Water consumption per unit Cubic metre/person 2.88
BFEKE W VN
Total non-hazardous waste produced Kg 796.80
BEERVELHEE T
Total non-hazardous waste recycled Kg 174.64
BEEZEYEKES T
Non-hazardous waste produced per unit  Kg/person 0.25
Solid waste'" BNEEEEYELS Fr/A
BEzEy Total hazardous waste produced Kg 130.65
BEBRENELES T
Total hazardous waste recycled Kg 55.30
BEEEDEKES T
Hazardous waste produced per unit Kg/person 0.04
BUEERENELS RN

Energy consumption data are converted with reference to the Greenhouse Gas Emissions Accounting Methods and Reporting Guides for
Industrial Enterprises in Other Industries (Trial) published by the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC.

¢ R ERESENERELERBERERNUEZESEMN (TEAMITELFREREFIZE T EFEBERER (H17) ) -

The purchased electricity usage data cover 96 specialty pharmacies and offices in Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou.

¢ INBBNEAEBE R EBHFEEFARILR - g REMNREAE-

Since the water usage data for the Group’s Shanghai and Guangzhou offices are managed by property management companies and
cannot be separated, the water usage data only cover the 96 specialty pharmacies and the Beijing office.

10 AAEE g REMNRAZEAKBEEDEESREARERELF DB SUKEREREEER SR FEERF UKL mRRHAE -
Non-hazardous waste mainly includes waste paper. Hazardous waste mainly includes waste batteries, waste lamps, waste ink cartridges
and waste electronic products.

U EEREERDIZOEEEAR-EEEEYIECEETL BEEE BEBEIREERETER-
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Social KPIs HEE
Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2022 Data
EEER EEER By 2022F R B
Employment
& fE
Male Person 513
Number of employees by gender B A
BUEREIDHME T A Female Person 2,697
M A
Full-time Person 3,200
Number of employees by employment type &5 A
ERERMSISHEIARK Part-time Person 10
P37 A
<31 Person 1,958
<31 A
Number of employees by age group 31-50 Person 1,212
RFWRAR B HHE T AR 31-50 A
>50 Person 40
>50 A
Mainland China Person 3,209
Number of employees by geographical region = Bl Ayt A
EHE S DR E T A Hong Kong Person 1
AR A
Employee turnover rate™
BIRAE"?
Male % 31.14
Employee turnover rate by gender B
RIEREI DB TRk E Female % 32.69
g
<31 % 35.89
<31
Employee turnover rate by age group 31-50 % 26.55
BRFRARNBDHE TRAX 31-50
>50 % 16.67
>50
Employee turnover rate by Mainiand China % 8246
geographical region f ﬂfjﬂl % 0.00
U PR el ’ '

12

number of employees leaving in the category at the end of the reporting period)*100%
‘2 ZEEEBIZESMEB TRA L =2 B TRAAS (REMRZERNE TR+ ZEANBETREAZ) *100%

Employee turnover rate by relevant category = number of employees leaving in the category/(total number of employees in the category +
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Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2022 Data
EEER EEER By 2022F H B

Employee training
ETEIMBER

Male % 14.85
Percentage of employees trained by gender® S14
ZUERES 2B BEITES " Female % 85.15
g
Male Hour 118
Average training hours by gender™ S AN
BRI T e Female Hour 1.29
71t AN
Product research and % 12.79
Percentage of employees trained functional positions
by employee category EM Rk E
BETHENES2NFIETEDL Business positions % 87.21
B
Product research and Hour 1.98
Average training hours by employee category functi(i&al E osfions +
18 THRRIEIS T 55 B 3R Ll e
Business positions Hour 1.21
E37 3 INEE
Occupational health and safety
BERRERZSR
Number of work-related Person 0
fatalities'®
TTHAH® A
Rate of work-related % 0
fatalities
S g e
Number of working days Day 83

lost due to work injuries
ETITBEAIERS X

Supply chain management

HEHEEE
Total number of suppliers  Supplier 571
Number of suppliers by geographical region'® [i& 75 42 £1 1@
iR e DR EEEE Mainland China Supplier 571
AR A 1l

Percentage of employees trained by relevant category = Number of employees trained in the category/number of employees trained *
100%

" ZABRAARIE S 2 NI T Al=4F 85I 8 TR AZ 28 IT100%

Average training hours for employees by relevant category = Total training hours for employees in the category/Number of employees in
the category

B RIEEERNE S BT FHEIIRE = FEHMNE INEZIIRE/SERMNNE TALK

' The Group also had no work-related fatalities in 2020 and 2021.

0 REE2020R2021F ER T THHABING BT

The number of suppliers during the Reporting Period was statistically derived from the Specialty Pharmacy Business.

T ARREAHER A S ORI R R T
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INDEX

Subject Areas

FRER

Governance Structure
BRI

Reporting Principles

FE e [ A

Reporting Boundary
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P2

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
R ERE
Content
A&

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

HEFSEHNER EPHEE NIRE:

(i) a disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

) BEEFSHESGEENEE:

(i)  the board’s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the
issuers businesses); and

i) ESBLHESCEIEFIT MK BEFE EBXHN L
EREEMNESGHBEEHE (& %xﬁé TAEBR )
O EY =N

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate to
the issuer’s businesses.

(i) BEEFSWFIRESGHER B Rins £E - WHEE T FIn{
HEITARBARE

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the

following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG

repor’[ Materiality, Quantitative and Consistency.

SRR REBESGRE R ER TIERRA - EE

M2 —BE-

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report

and describing the process used to identify which entities or

operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in
the scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason for
the change.

i 2 ESG ¥ 5 HOFE ¥R &0 [E - Nt P ﬂﬂﬁﬁtaﬁgiiﬁ%

RIR g REOWmE R RIE o 5 E wE E A s ﬁ/\

FERRIE (R 2 BE & % &) R K

R HERERBE

MT%%—H?%?&FE (ESG ¥ E 5 5l)

Disclosure section

BREEH

ESG Governance
ESG)RIE

About the Report

About the Report
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

A1 General
Disclosure

Al —RIFE

A1

A1.2

A1.3
A1.4

A1.5

A1.6

A2 General

Disclosure
A2 — B R
A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

Information on:

BRBERMBER BN MKk HaEEs AEREE
BEEYNEELSH
(@ the policies; and
@ BoR: R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
b) BTHBETABEAFZENEBEZNROINER
The types of emissions and respective emissions data.
BERUE £R N AR R B R B
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
B (HBE1) RaoREE (BE2) RERBHNE (LABIETE)
N (Em)BE (MABEE RN BERMTE)
Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.
MEXEERENERERTE
Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity.
EXBRERENMEERTE
Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
AP ET S BE N E B IR R R ERE L B 2P ERER ) P58
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HalRIB A EREEREREYN A Rl pra] SZa0REE B
12N R EDE L B ARPTEREEY 225
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.
BRUERER (BIERER KR EMRMED) BB
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity.
RERESNEE R IEEEREAEEREE
Water consumption in total and intensity
BMIEKERTE
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
R P ET SZEV RS IR GE FA R Es B 1R S i B 35 LE B IR P ERER Y
g
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Disclosure section
or explanation

WEEHFRE
Our Environment

HFIHIRE

Environmental KPIs
IRIBEN
Environmental KPIs

RIBEN

Environmental KPIs
RIBEM

Environmental KPIs
RIBEM

Our Environment Energy and
Emission Management
BRIV IRIF AL IR B E I8
Waste Management

REEYER
Resource Management

BIRERE
Environmental KPIs

RGN

Environmental KPIs
RIBEN

Our Environment Energy and
Emission Management

HAFIRIRERER R N E I8



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

A2.4

A2.5

A3 General

Disclosure
AS— MR HEFR
A3.1

A4 General
Disclosure

Ad— PRI 5=

A4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

Fa SR BGE R KR L] B )R8 - AR FTRT S #) AR e
B2 N AE RS L B AR AT ERERE 2 B

Total packaging material used for finished products and, with
reference to per unit produced.

HKRIABEMHNEERBEESRUHNE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.
BIEBETABRBERERABEREKERTZENBR
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

AR RS HIRRELRRABERNEATENDIRREESR
AR ENTHY

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer
%%&ﬁﬁaw
EEHBUER
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

B RIS HBETAELE R ENERARIEHEBER
REHTTE) -

EEEURTAEEXENEARIRIAR

R HERERBE

Disclosure section
or explanation

BREEHNRE

Our Environment Resource
Management

HFIRIRBEEREE

As the Group’s businesses do not
involve the production of products
and only a small number of
packaging materials are consumed,
no statistics are provided for per unit
produced.
HRAREENEE S MEME
E BEBEISENBEMEDERE
WMAG T BEESMIGE

Our Environment

HPIHIRE

Our Environment

HAPIHIRE

Responses to Climate Change

RIRE(LEE

Responses to Climate Change

RIRE(LEE
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

B1 General
Disclosure
B1— A=

B1.1

B1.2

B2 General
Disclosure
B2— I E

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

Information on:

AT RARE BEREA TERS - BEH TEHKe -

Z Al AR DA R B At 55 38 S A2 N Y

(@  the policies; and

@ BoR: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

b) BTHBETABEAFZENEBZEZNROINER

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and

geographical region.

IR EERE  FRARNRMES D8 IE S B

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

RIER - FiER R RE D HEBRALLE

Information on:

FRRMZE2TERERREEER2BELREEN:

(@  the policies; and

@ BEE: K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

b) BETFTHEBETAGEAXZENHBEZLRIOER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the

past three years including the reporting year

BE=ZF (BEERFE)BFRAITHMHABR R X

Lost days due to work injury.

ETIEELXTEAR

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

PR B R R 2 ARAEERITRER

/.

=
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Disclosure section
or explanation

BRESHNERE
Employment Management

ERERE

Social KPIs

HEEW
Social KPIs

HEER
Occupational Safety and Health

BT EER

Social KPIs

HEEX

Social KPIs

HEEN

Occupational Safety and Health

BEZeEES

s



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BH —REBERBERENER

B3 General
Disclosure
B3— M=

B3.1

B3.2

B4 General
Disclosure
B4— M5

B4.1

B4.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRRAEERITIEBRE B R RBUR - St 53
EE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category.

RIUERINEEREREDHXIEEB DL

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

IR N EEERE D FREBTHRXIN TR

Information on:

BRI E T skoa 55 THY

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

b) BITHETABEAZENEBERZNROIKER

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid

child and forced labour.

fit g M E AR EARRET K&H%5T

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

I IR R B AR JERR B 1B ST ERERE 22 B

R HERERBE

Disclosure section
or explanation

BRESHNERE
Training and Development
o)l B 2 R

Social KPIs

HEEW
Social KPIs

BN
Employment Management

ERER

Employment Management

EEERE

Employment Management

EEERE
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

B5 General

Disclosure
Bo—Rz ik ER
B5.1

B5.2

B5.3

B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

EEHEENRE I SARBUR -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR E SR ER R -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

G RIS R EEmAEN  mERTEBIENNHERE
B ARBBERTRER X

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

g BRI B S ERENIRE Mt 8RB HES - LA
NABBRITRER -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

i 2t A R L B P Rl 5 2 R IR IREE o M RIS RO 01 - LA %
HAMmITRER A
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Disclosure section

or explanation
KEEENAE

Supply Chain Management
g E IR

Social KPIs

HEER

Supply Chain Management
HEsEE R

Supply Chain Management

HEEERE

Supply Chain Management

HEEEE
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

B6 General Information on:
Disclosure
B6— A= FHFMREERNRENERNAZE B REELES
HA R ER :
(@  the policies; and

BRI
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
b)) BFHETABBEAZENEBERLROIINER
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
EENDEXRERERTALT T BERIEHMARWN E S
tt
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.
IR EE on M RIS VIR R BB A R 770K
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
et B S RIE M E A B DI

cTE

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
B 248 E AR M Em R P
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,

and how they are implemented and monitored.
it R B & ERHRIE RALBIBGR - A RBBERT RER A

BRI HEREREE

Disclosure section
or explanation

BREEHNRE

Our Services

The Group’s business
operations do not involve
labelling and therefore this
indicator is not applicable

AT RTS
REBEBEET Y LIZEAE
BEE  utIE N EA

Product Quality
EmEE
Customer Services

PR

Intellectual Property

R 8k E
Product Quality
EmEE

Responsible Marketing

BEELH
Information Security
ERLE
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BH —REBERERENER

B7 General
Disclosure
B7— M=

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

B8 General
Disclosure

B8— A& 1 55
B8.1

B8.2

Information on:

BAN LR R HGF AR EN

(@  the policies; and

@ BoR: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

b) BTHBETABEAFZENEBEZNROINER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the cases.

RERBAHETAIHEERHTEEENE ) THARN

oS QDS EEAN

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

P SR RE R BT A RBBRITRERTA

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff.

it mES KRB TRENREISHE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs

of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

B RBERTBEEMEHEFTEMNBRREELEE
2 R R mABER

Focus areas of contribution.

HIEREE

Resources contributed to the focus area.
EHEIHBFAEBAEIR
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Disclosure section
or explanation

BRESHNERE
Integrity Management

REEE

Integrity Management

FRRERE
Integrity Management

FRRERE

The Group plans to disclose relevant
information in future reporting
periods
AREEF BN RRKSHRER
AR

Our Community

HAPIEY A [

Our Community
F IR+t R
Our Community

HAPIAYAE [



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Sipai Health Technology Co., Lid.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sipai Health
Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”, formerly known as Medbanks
Health Technology Co., Ltd. and ThinkGeek Network Technology Co.,
Ltd.) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 159 to 282,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consoligated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B X BEN RS

BREENEERAFARRE
(REEFSZME A FRAA])

=R

BB FZFE 150522828 el BIR i BREHE
BRAF ([&2XQF] 511 Medbanks Health
Technology Co., Ltd. } ThinkGeek Network
Technology Co., Ltd. ) R EM B AR ([E&E
BB EBEmE aHBERREER
2022F12AB1A M & B IR R KRB E Z
HIEFEMaHEakAMNEZAREER &
HEZZHEREEHRERER UAREH
M ImENT BEERGTBEME-

BRPRE AHMBRRERERBE e
AEEe ((HRESTENBRES]) BHHE
BREF IR ER (BB B REER ] EE
ERhtkiT HHEBENR2022F12A31H
MAEHTERAREBEZB EFENEH
FBRAMEAHREGRE YECERES
CRRMER) MEBRTE ARR -

RRE®R

BPEREFESAMAS ([EREFMAA
g RMOEBEAER ([FBEER])
ETRZ-RMEZFEATARENREE
R E BB EZE O B MR BALE
MEE] —fiPE— PRl -RIEF B
EiAg R e (FEEFEER TR ([
I - #ffPEzn BB BRMEREST
AT EMEREE HPIEER MG
MBEZRBRALRERBMANE REM
Eito
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

FAREFISEE

BREFFTSTEEREBERMOBEXZAE R
HAREHYBRENETRAEENSE-
ZEFHEABRMNEREBEHUBRER
HEAERRKETERN BMITeHZESE
HRESENER -BLATEEMS  HME
ZER TREBMESTTEEZFENA
o

BPIEEITARE (TZBEAELA I
WRAAZNEME] —HMANEE BEHE
ZEFEHEARNET Bt RAANEFERE
WITRF NWEHRMYEHBBRERTH
BRI AR RS - Bt iZF (BER
BRIETHERMAEITOIEF)HERBRM
TABERI & F S MR B R BT B R IR AR -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB ET F IR

Recognition of Specialty Pharmacy Business (“SPB”) revenue

BRARREEXEL ([BEBEEXEK]) WA

BAE NIRRT FE

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the total revenue Our procedures in relation to recognition of SPB revenue

of the Group amounted to RMB4,119 million, increasing included:
by 18.6% from RMBS3,474 million in 2021. Specifically,
RMB3,661 million of the revenue was generated from
Specialty Pharmacy Business (“SPB”), accounting for 1>
88.9% of the total revenue of the Group.
BELE2022F12A31BIEFE: BEEELAWARAER
¥4,1198 & 70  W20215F M AR ¥3,4748 8 715 N

186% - AREME HEEFXB ([BREEEXK])
EENBABSAREICIEE L HEAREEAKAN
88.9% ° 2>

BPEBREEEXBRARRNIETEHE:

Performed tests of design and operating
effectiveness of relevant controls over recognition of
SPB revenue;

W BEERE X BWAEREBEGORTTETE
RUMEEITRIR ;

Performed analytical procedures on the SPB revenue

by different dimensions including customers, retail

The primary source of SPB revenue is from the operation
of offline speciality pharmacies and medicine distribution.
Revenue from SPB is recognized at the point in time
when control of medicines and pharmaceutical products
is transferred to customers, generally on delivery of
medicines and pharmaceutical products.

FHEEEBHNFTZRARRRLCLEGRTHREEEUR
7> 8 B8 o o R BB SR SR TE B0 MR T B S B R
RERTEFPHOREE (—MRRXMEm R BEEmM)
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pharmacies, major categories of products, regions
and months etc.;

REP ZTEEEF FEZEmBR R EKANFET
R EHFEEFEBERAETONER



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHE R &

FARFETEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

PR =R 1A

BRARBHEEERE ((BHEEERKE ] BA

We have identified recognition of SPB revenue is a key
audit matter as revenue is a key performance indicator
for evaluating the Group’s financial results. Furthermore,
due to the large volume of transactions and customers
involving in SPB revenue, the inherent risk of misstatement
in terms of revenue recognition of SPB is relatively high.

HRBAZTE EEEMBXENBEREIEE &
PMBRSEEEEBWRARR A —BBARETEE It
INVEHRFHEEEEBRATRIRERXZNER  EF
BEFEEBRAERTE HRONERREEERS -

The Group’s disclosures relating to the recognition of SPB
revenue are included in note 2.4 Summary of significant
accounting policies, note 4 Operating segment information,
and note 5 Revenue.
BEEEARREER FHRWA RN REERHNIT2.4
BAGTBEEME W48 E D EBE R R oMW A -

PP R AN o pa 12 B SR AT = IR

Recognition of Speciality Pharmacy Business (“SPB”) revenue

3>

4>

5>

For revenue from speciality pharmacies, we tested
samples of sales transactions against prescription by
doctors, acknowledgement of receipts by customers.
For revenue from medicine distribution, we tested
samples of sales transactions against delivery notes
and invoices;

MEFEEENRANS RARBELENRT &
FRARBAABEERIER - RER D HEAM
FOBRMRBEREERBEZAABEERHEA

Performed cut-off test of SPB revenue before and
after the year end, on a sample basis; and

FREE R A& S HE 1T e SR 35 5 SE TS R AR B LRI
54

Checked the adequacy of the disclosures made in
the financial statements regarding the SPB revenue.
BMEMBHRRTUFEEEEZRBAELNKEZ
"I e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

FARFETSEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

PR =R =R

Impairment of inventories

FERE

As at December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of the
Group’s inventories before provision was approximately
RMB283.9 million. The inventories were stated at the
lower of cost and net realizable value. The determination
of net realizable value involved management’s judgement
and estimation. Specific factors management considered
included the ageing, physical conditions, expiry dates
of the goods and estimated realizable value. The Group
recorded impairment of RMB3.4 million on inventories as
of December 31, 2022.

M2022%12A31H EBEEEFENEBBIEREEOR
AR¥283.9A BT - F E RN A B I FERE T
BIREAR BT 5 REP L EIEE R HIE R E5 -
EREZREMAREZEREROEREKR EWKRA - 3
HR RMAFAT2REE B E2022F12A31H &%
B SFEREARKI4BEET

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment of
inventories are included in note 2.4 “Summary of significant
accounting policies”, note 3 “Significant Accounting
Judgement And Estimates” and note 20 “Inventories” to
the consolidated financial statements.

AEBEEREFERENREINGE M BHRERMNT24 TE
SERTBERME] W3 [EXRE T HE KA R

F20 (78

HAPIRFEET anfo B 1B B SR AT = IR

Our procedures in relation to impairment of inventories
included:

BRPEBEFERENEFEHE:

1>

2>

3>

Performed tests of design and operating
effectiveness of relevant controls over management’s
estimation of impairment of inventories;
HEBEFEREMGTEBEHORFTETAER
MEEITRIE

Performed an analysis of market pricing trends,
such as volatility of prices or sales incentives, for
purchases and sales of the Group’s inventories to
identify potential causes for provision of inventory
allowance; and

HEE EREGFENTSEESS (MERKS
I ERE)ET O UBR A REFERENE
ERA: R

Evaluated the appropriateness of management’s
methodology and considered whether the estimation
of impairment had taken into account all key inputs,
such as ageing report, physical conditions, expiry
dates and expected selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred, and whether these inputs are
appropriate, accurate, and complete.
AAERBERENER  YERBEGLTER
EZRMABREABE NRE®RS  BEARR 3
HA B % T8 BA & R B £ R I fAET A - A )R 7%
ERABBEEREE EHELTE-
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’'s report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information above when it
becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

FHRAHREMLER
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Wai, Shun.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 15, 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SFERRAMZENER

Year ended December 31, 2022 #H E2022F 128318 ILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5T AR¥T T ARBET T
REVENUE A [5) 4,119,478 3,473,930
Cost of sales SHE AR (3,782,126) (3,190,481)
Gross profit EF 337,352 283,449
Other income and gains E AU A K Wz 6 60,189 51,069
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHMAX (332,851) (291,461)
Administrative expenses THAX (575,011) (670,021)
Research and development expenses #1355 % (62,650) (59,207)
Impairment losses on financial assets &£ MEENANEER
and contract assets under expected FEHEEEEER
credit loss model (“ECL”), net ([FEHEEER]) T
DERI=N SEi=Dek:E 23 (5,466) (6,407)
Other expenses Him 9 (11,035) (3,121)
Finance costs ISy ®N 8 (4,041) (3,688)
Share of profits of an associate e — KBk & A B89 5 7 331 137

OB 7T #3460 ] B ()8 S A
NHEEER R EE

Loss before fair value losses on
convertible redeemable preferred

shares (593,182) (699,250)
Change in fair value of convertible AEmA ERELERNA
redeemable preferred shares FEEE 30 (775,260) (3,048,428)
LOSS BEFORE TAX bk #5% A1 BT 1B 7 (1,368,442) (3,747,678)
Income tax expense Frisfim sz 12 (3,322) (825)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAEE (1,371,764) (3,748,503
Attributable to: AT AT :
Owners of the parent UNSIEZ RN (1,370,572) (3,740,455)
Non-controlling interests FEE IR 2 (1,192) (8,048)
(1,371,764) (3,748,503)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AR REMZHEER

Year ended December 31, 2022 # E2022%12A31HILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR® Tt ARBFT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hih2m (BAX) WA
(EXPENSE)/INCOME
ltems that may be reclassified AN BEBEHREEN A
to profit or loss in subsequent ZERMIEE -
periods:
Exchange differences on translation BREBINEBHNELEZR
of foreign operations 2,241 13,789
ltems that will not be reclassified TERBERBENSE
to profit or loss in subsequent ZiEEMIEE
periods:
Exchange differences on translation BRERRANEREZR
of the Company (726,770) 102,316
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FREM2E (BAX)
(EXPENSE)/INCOME FOR PN
THE YEAR (724,529) 116,105
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE TR HBA X 4%
FOR THE YEAR (2,006,293) (3,632,398)
Attributable to AT AT
Owners of the parent UNCIE RN (2,095,101) (3,624,350)
Non-controlling interests FEIZE P 2 (1,192) (8,048)
(2,096,293) (3,632,398)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE R A GEZEEZFEARE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS HEREE
OF THE PARENT 14
Basic and diluted ERREE
For loss for the year (RMB) FAEE (ARE) (12.19) (37.61)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B O BRI &

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®ET T AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E R L 15 17,854 24,692
Other intangible assets EmEREE 16 56,182 61,525
Prepayments, other receivables TERT5RIR - e W FRIE
and other assets REMEE 24 7,384 147,792
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 71,009 89,108
Investment in an associate R—REEQTNEKRE 1,967 1,636
Goodwil BES 18 79,823 79,823
Total non-current assets JEMEE EMAE 234,219 404,576
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories ra 20 280,332 269,035
Contract cost B HIRK AR 2,590 2,337
Trade and bills receivables BHRBRIBEBRERRE 22 241,256 171,195
Contract assets BHEE 23 94,739 103,266
Prepayments, other receivables TEARTRIE - H e FRIE
and other assets REMEE 24 134,166 160,347
Amounts due from related parties JrE Uy B B 5 K08 38 883 7,666
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABR
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) ([BAFEFTAERE])
e EE 19 - 1,067,321
Time deposits TEHATE 3K 25 75,146 5,048
Pledged deposits [REEEETER Y 25 76,170 -
Cash held on behalf of clients REFFEAENR S 21 334,599 166,179
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEED 25 1,455,454 535,849
Total current assets MEEERE 2,695,335 2,488,243
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables 2 S RIA 26 340,051 237,155
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBEREFTEA 27 508,099 367,114
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< BB B 5 K08 38 2,381 2,878
Contract liabilities BHBEE 28 170,724 167,285
Lease liabilities HEAaE 17 29,019 34,123
Contingent consideration payables JET e ARE 33 3,677 20,790
Income tax payable FERTFT1SEL 1,391 1,455
Total current liabilities mEAEBEERE 1,055,342 830,800
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERRE 1,639,993 1,657,443
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAESE
LIABILITIES 1,874,212 2,062,019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AHHBRRER

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR® Tt ARBFT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 38,745 52,895
Convertible redeemable preferred shares 7] &2 # 7] §& [5] (8 5 A% 30 - 7,434,838
Deferred tax liabilities BB EE 29 1,335 1,519
Contingent consideration payables FERT SRR AE 33 - 3,677
Total non-current liabilities FEREBBERTE 40,080 7,492,929
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BE)FH 1,834,132 (5,430,910)
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of NREA ANEGER
the parent
Share capital i s 31 517 138
Reserves B 1,836,384 (5,429,362)
1,836,901 (5,429,224)
Non-controlling interests FEERER (2,769) (1,686)
Total equity/(deficits) Wz, (B4 85 1,834,132 (5,430,910)
Mr. MA Xuguang Mr. LI Ji
BEELXE s
Director Director
EE =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHERSER

Year ended December 31, 2022 & E2022F12A318 It FE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SARREAER
Foreign
Share-based currency Non- Total
Share  Treasury Capital ~ payment Other translation Accumulated controlling  (deficit)/
capital shares  reserve* reserve*  reserve*  reserve* losses* Total interests equity
R A
EBRHXA pi (B4,

Bx  EERH EAER R HtRE FERS RSER it FEREE  ERAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR

(note 31) (note 32)
(s (Ht3Es2)

At January 1, 2022 R202251 518 138 8) 930 437494  (27908) 221,021 (5800630) (5429224)  (1,686) (5430910)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (1,370572) (1,370,572 (1,192) (1,371,764)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMZERY - - - - - (724529 - (724,529) - (724,529)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRE2EMRTLE - - - - - (7124529) (1,370,572) (2,095,101) (1,192) (2,096,293
Conversion of redeemable convertible BERAREE([ERDMRE])

preferred shares into ordinary shares BABRTERELR

upon it public offering (1PO’) BRATER 374 - 8024455 - - - - 8924829 - 8924829
Net proceeds from issue of shares from PO ERAHEERTRHFEFE

FE 7 - 143,369 - - - - 143,376 - 143,376

Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries R EREXEHIENHBAF

without change of control BEEEED - - (51) - - - - (51) (381) (432)
Repurchase of the vested share options (hote a) B EIE 5B IE (Fiita) - - - (5432  (18,229) - - (23,655 - (23,655)
Repurchase of the ordinary shares (note 31) BRERER (MHs1) 7] 2 - = = = = = = =
Capital injection into a subsidiary by FERRERKBARTE

non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - 490 490
Gain on debt waived by non-controling FERBRAEERhE

shareholders - - - - 875 - - 875 - 875
Share-based payment compensation IABRID B 14 B 5 B - - - 315852 - - - 315852 - 315852
At December 31, 2022 2022128318 547 (76) 9068712 747914  (296456) (503508) (7,180,202 1836001  (2769) 1,834,132
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
EOERE TR

Year ended December 31, 2022 # E2022%12A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRRAES AER
Foreign
Share-based currency Non-
Share Treasury Capital payment Other  translation Accumulated controling Total
capital shares reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ losses™ Total interests deficit
PG
b4l ob 3] S
BA  BERG EAEE R HuRE TERE  2HER @i FERER  BaAR
RMB'0O0O RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(note 31) (note 32)
(WizE31) (HizE2)
At January 1, 2021 #202151 718 61 = 939 166,607 = 104916 (2,069,175) (1,796,652) 5005 (1,791,647)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (3,740,455) (3,740,455) (8,048 (3,748,509
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMLZERA - = = = - 116,105 - 116,105 - 116,105
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FR2ERA/ (Bx) B8
for the year = = = . - 116105 (3740455 (3,624,350) (8.048) (3,632,398)
Issue of new ordinary shares (note 31) BTH LR (H3E31) 78 = = = 3 S = 78 = 78
Share-based payment compensation DARRAR AL 5 15 0 25 - - - 293682 - - - 298,682 - 298682
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 33, 34) Wit B A (Bi3E33 - 34) - - - - - - - - 1,103 1,103
Repurchase of the vested share options (note ) B2 FBEME (HFa) = = - Qr79%)  (25591) = - (53380) - (53,380)
Repurchase of the ordinary shares (note 31) BEEBR (1) 0] - - - (10,056) - - (10087) - (10087)
Disposal of subsidiaries of HERTRHRBHBAR
offine clinic services (note 35) (K335) - - 4 - (243697) - - (243697) - (243697)
Shares issued to trust and converted to the AEZETTERBEFRDE
treasury shares (note 31) BAGERN - (78) - - - - - (78) - 79)
Capital injection into subsidiaries by FRRBERRNBARTE
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - 490 490
Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries R EREXEHIENHBAR
without change of control EHES - - - - 236 - - 236 (236) -
At December 31, 2021 #20215125318 138 78 99 437494 (279108) 221021 (5809630 (5429.224) (1686 (5,430,910)

Note a:

164

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of
RMB1,836,460,000 (2021: RMB(5,429,284,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In February and May 2021, the Company repurchased 4,000,000 and
1,950,000 vested share options, respectively, granted to certain directors of
the Company and the Group’s employees under the 2017 Share Option Plan
as set out in note 32 to the financial statements at a total net consideration
of RMB36,922,000 and RMB16,464,000, respectively after deduction
of the exercise price. In September and November 2022, the Company
repurchased 199,000 and 2,050,845 vested share options, respectively,
granted to certain employees of the Group under the 2017 Share Option
Plan at a total net consideration of RMB2,067,000 and RMB21,588,000,
respectively after deduction of exercise price. The repurchase price was
determined based on the fair value of ordinary shares of the Company on
the repurchase date with reference to the issue price of recent financing.
The repurchase of vested share options was accounted for as a deduction
from equity.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHEERER

Year ended December 31, 2022 #H E2022F 128318 ILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5T AR¥T T ARBET T
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHMBRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRELATEE (1,368,442) (3,747,678
Adjustments for: AT RIEELY
Finance costs BEMKA 8 4,041 3,688
Bank interest income IRITFIBULA 6 (17,144) (10,370)
Interest income on loan due JIE UK FfT BB 1 B FEAE AR AR
from non-controlling shareholders REFOF A
of subsidiaries 6 (105) -
Depreciation of property, Y- BB NREETE
plant and equipment 7 9,205 14,316
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE 7 31,807 32,432
Amortization of HEMmpE EE
other intangible assets 7 8,411 7,134
Share-based payment compensation LA {7 & EE/E S -9
o 32 315,852 298,682
Impairment loss on financial assets TREEREGHNEER
and contract assets under FEHEEEBEEAT
ECL model, net BRE B 1R F R 22,23 5,466 6,407
Impairment loss on inventories, FEREESRE kR
net of reversal (o] 20 3,382 2,389
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE&E&E
plant and equipment, net BB 185 R 702 77
Loss on disposal of other intangible HEHEMEREER
assets &8 - 16
Gains on lease termination, net REHE W F R 17 (380) (365)
Change in fair value of convertible A] B2 4 A] BB [0 B e AR &Y
redeemable preferred shares NEEEE) 30 775,260 3,048,428
Foreign exchange differences, net PE X &= E)FRE 6 (8) (3,952)
Gain on financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFTABRD
BREE KR 6 (22,355) (25,658)
Lease concessions HEER (2,488) -
Loss on fair value changes in ENSAREBZATE
contingent consideration payables FH)E1E 2,310 -
Share of profit of an associate JE(E —KEEE QA
i A (331) (137)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHRERER

Year ended December 31, 2022 # E2022%12A31HILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR¥T T ARBFT
Operating cash flows before ZIEE SR
movements in working capital KERSRE (254,817) (374,591)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE (Em) 20 (14,679) 15,634
(Increase)/decrease in contract costs & LI (1L 0) S/ (253) 1,569
Increase in trade and bills receivables & 5 & W ZR I8 K fiE I 2=
158 22 (75,938) (132,999)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets & XIEER D, () 23 8,400 (31,107)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEATFRIE - H A U FRIE
other receivables and other assets REMEERD,
(3n) 24 181,549 (219,197)
Increase in pledged deposits B 1 75 ZR 38 00 25 (76,170) L
Increase in time deposits TE HATE 3038 N 25 (70,000) =
Increase in cash held on behalf REFHANE LN
of clients 21 (168,420) (20,555)
Decrease in amounts due from JE 5 R Bk O SR IE R A
related parties 38 6,783 21,152
(Decrease)/increase in amounts FEHRAES 5 5B G A)
due to related parties 0 38 (497) 1,624
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables & 5 BT s EIE N,
OB 4) 26 102,896 (3,742)
Increase in other payables and accruals b B~ 218 [ fET &
& 27 179,211 60,233
Increase in contract liabilities B4 aEEN 28 3,439 61,450
Cash used in operations KEMAR® (178,496) (620,529)
Income tax paid ETATEH (3,570) (1,390)
Net cash flows used KEEBMARESRE
in operating activities R (182,066) (621,919
CASH FLOWS FROM RETEHTEEESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and BEME BEIEE
equipment (3,957) (16,577)
Purchases of other intangible assets HEHMEREEE (7,846) (4,832)
Purchase of financial products at FVTPL & B 2 A FEzH ABZFH
SRED - (1,003,603)
Proceeds from withdrawal of financial 12 EUZ A FEH AEBZTH
products at FVTPL S RYE WIS OA 1,089,676 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME WEL&E
plant and equipment FriS 38 30 89
Loan due from non-controlling JiE Wi B /BB X B FE 4 B
shareholders of subsidiaries R E R 24 (24,500) -
Interest income M 2WA 17,046 10,370
Acquisition of subsidiaries Ug B BT B A B 33 (40,678) (5,780)
Net cash flows from/(used in) wEEEAE, (FTA)
investing activities HEenEFEE 1,029,771 (1,020,333)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHRERER

Year ended December 31, 2022 #H E2022F 128318 ILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® Tt AREFT
CASH FLOWS FROM RMETHMERERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds on issue of BRARBEEITRMOA
shares from IPO SFRIEHE 150,261 -
Proceeds from issue of convertible B 17 ] 83 34 7] 0B B8 5L %
redeemable preferred shares FTi5 2k I8 30 - 1,126,746
Redemption of convertible redeemable & Bl 7] £ 3% A] 85 [6] (& 45 A%
preferred shares 30 - (206,846)
Repurchase of the ordinary shares 8 B Eam AR 31 - (10,057)
Contribution from TR IR T E
non-controlling shareholders 490 490
Payments of repurchase BECmBEREMNK
of the vested options (23,655) (53,386)
Principal portion of lease payments MENZOARE D 17 (30,063) (34,533)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEEBEINTOFNE 17 (4,041) (3,688)
Disposal of subsidiaries in provision of ~ FIIXE HERHGE T2
offline clinic services to shareholders FIT AR 75 &9 B /&8 2 7 35 - (262,565)
Payments of listing expenses T EmHE (13,384) (3,983)
Advance payments received for BLER S B AR R WER D B K
subscription of share options 2,514 7,114
Change in ownership interests in KRB B R IT T R R B
subsidiaries without change of control /A &) ¥ A # & (432) -
Net cash flows from financing activites BIE /EETBIRERE
R 81,690 559,292
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) ReRBREESEYEM
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (4 ) %48 929,395 (1,082,960)
Cash and cash equivalents FNRERALEEY
at beginning of year 25 535,849 1,628,021
Effect of foreign exchange rate [EXEHHTE
changes, net (9,790) 9,212)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAESRBAETEEY
AT END OF YEAR 25 1,455,454 535,849
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R a Y o

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”, formerly
known as Medbanks Health Technology Co., Ltd. and ThinkGeek
Network Technology Co., Ltd.) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands (“Cayman”) under the laws
of the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the Company is
located at Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square, Grand Cayman
KY1-9010, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) were principally engaged in (i) the business of specialty
pharmacy (the “Specialty Pharmacy Business”, including
specialty pharmacy network and the provision of pharmacist
service), (i) the business of physician research assistance (the
“Physician Research Assistance Business”, including the
provision of site management organisation services and services
for image management in clinical trials) and (i) the provision of
health insurance services (the “Health Insurance Services
Business”, including health management services). The Group’s
principal place of operations and geographical markets are in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
December 23, 2022.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date
of incorporation/

NEEHR

BIREREMBERAR ([RAT] A
5 Medbanks Health Technology Co., Ltd.
2 ThinkGeek Network Technology Co.,
Ld ) RIBBEREHS ZEER=HE
(TR EMKINBR AR - AAQH
B 5 11 5% = B2 52 7 Floor 4, Willow House,
Cricket Square, Grand Cayman KY1-
9010, Cayman Islands °

FA-AREMEKEAT (FE IR
SE)NEIBEBR . (\FEEEXK
(MFREEXY | BRBEESPR
REE BRI AR ) ¢ (i) B LT 15
X% (BEMEMBERE BEREHR
RI5E BARRS KRR SR A E R
EIRARFE) ¢ R B R BRAR B AR A ([ 4@
ERBRARIE R | - BIREEEERS)
REBER T ELE MR KE TSN
hEARAME ([HE]) -

KR BIR2022F12 A23H EFE BB AR
SHERAR ([BRFT])ER LT

BEMELRNER
ARATEEHBARGFEMT -

Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity

registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of operations capital Company activities
SR SRR ERTEBERRES
a1 BEUREE AMER FRFEEGEZEIL IEXRH
Direct  Indirect
B Bk
MediGeek Network Hong Kong (‘HK”) HK$1 100% - Investment holding

Technology Co., Limited of PRC May 29, 2015
BIRBEREARAF mEEE([BE]) BT REER
2015F5H29H
Siweite (Beijing) Healthcare PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100% Investment holding

Management Co., Ltd.*

A (R BEEE
ARAT]

BHEE (LR REERERAF

August 16, 2017

REl/ BN
201748F 168
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1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2022 2022412831H

1. QXFER (F&)
FRMBLINES (&)

Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity

registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of operations capital Company activities
SMmL EMeER CRIZERRAS
£ AE R & i B AMER AAREGEZEIE FEEK
Direct  Indirect
B %
Sichuan Sipai Pharmacy Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100% Retail of
M BEREREERAA April 17, 2018 pharmaceutical
products
mIBRAZEER AR R RE AL AR #1,000,0007T BEERTE
2018F4A17H
Taiyuan Taikang Xinte Pharmacy Co., Ltd.*  PRC/Mainland China RMB800,000 - 51% Retalil of
ARREFNBAEFEERAR August 15, 2012 pharmaceutical
products
KERENBREFER A B E R AR #800,0007T BEEMTE
20128150
Hubei Sipai Pharmacy Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100% Retail of
MILBEAREEERAR May 24, 2018 pharmaceutical
products
BB RREEERAA RE/RE AL AR #2,000,0007T - 100% BEERTE
2018F5H24H
Guangdong Dahui Medical Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100% Pharmacy Sector
BREZREFRARA July 19, 2000 wholesale
EREESREFEAA RE /o E A AR #50,000,0007 BRETERE
2000%7A19H
Sipai Wisdom Pharmacy PRC/Mainland China RMB1,600,000,000 - 100% Pharmacy
(Guang zhou) Co., Ltd.* April 17, 2019 Sector Holding
BREERER (BEM)BRARA Company
BREEREE (BM)BERAR RE R E AL ARE BETEERRA
2019F4A17H 1,600,000,00070
Bixun (Shanghai) Medical PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100% Site management
Technology Co., Ltd.* June 3, 2014 organisation
# (B8 BERARAE services
WE (L8 BERBERAR RE /B A AE#100,000,0007 5T B AR
2014%6A3H
Bixun (Guangzhou) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 100% Site management
Medical Technology Co., Ltd.” April 29, 2019 organisation
L# (BN BERARAE services
i (BN BERBARAT mE/ E A AR #200,000,0007 RSB RERE
2019F4 A29H

BIRRERE AR AT
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. AEER (&

FENBLRNES (F)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

170

Place and date
of incorporation/

Issued ordinary

Percentage of equity

registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of operations capital Company activities
SEMAY/ EMbER BRTEERRE
a1 BEAUREE S dfEEX FAAREEEZAIL TEEHR
Direct  Indirect
B CiF3
Sipai Healthcare Investment Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China USD400,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
BkEREFREARAT March 8, 2019
BRRREXREBRAR HE/HEN 400,000,000 T¢ BEER
2019%3H8A
Sipai (Beijing) Insurance PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100% Insurance
Brokerage Co., Ltd.* November 18, 2004 brokerage
Bk (ER)RBELERAT
(formerly known as Yuantong (Beijing)
Insurance Brokerage Co., Ltd.*
il (bR RRELERAT])
Bk (ER)RBELERAT (AT RE /B A AR #50,000,0007T R &4
2 () RRELAERRA) 200411 A 18H
Sipai (Beijing) Network PRC/Mainland China RMB1,083,474.15 - 100% Insurance
Technology Co., Ltd.* March 28, 2014 brokerage
Bk (bR AERRERAT
BIR () BERBARATF RE /o E A N3 R &4
2014F3H28H 1,083,474.157C
Sipai Health Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 100% Technology
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.* May 9, 2019 services
BIREERM (BMN)BERAR
BRI (BM) BRAF hE/HEN AR #300,000,0007 - 100% RATERH
2019%5H9A
Beijing Sijitang Pharmacy Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100% Retail of
TRREEREEEREELA April 21, 2006 pharmaceutical
products
IRMEEAEEEREART hE/HEN AR %2,000,0007 - 100% BEERTE
2006%4H21H
* The English names of these subsidiaries registered in the PRC * MAREFBRGFMNZEWNE AR EE

represent the best efforts made by management of the Company to
translate their Chinese names as these subsidiaries do not have official

English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which
include all IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, convertible redeemable preferred
shares and contingent consideration payables which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended December 31,
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Contractual arrangements

Sipai (Beijing) Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( Bk (1t 5) 484 &}
AR AT, “SBNT”) and its subsidiaries and Sipai Healthcare
Technology (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. (BIRfEFEE & (BIM) R
~\], “SHTG") and its subsidiaries are engaged in the business
of insurance broking and provision of offline clinic services,
respectively (collectively, the “PRC Operating Entities”). Due
to the restrictions imposed by the relevant laws and regulatory
regime of the PRC on foreign ownership of companies engaging
in the business of insurance broking and provision of offline clinic
services carried out by subsidiaries of the Group, Yiling (Shanghai)
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (E% ( /&) 5 BREFERA
7], “Shanghai WFOE"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
entered into a series of contractual arrangements with SBNT and
certain PRC individuals on August 17, 2015 and Sipai Healthcare
Investment Co., Ltd. (BREEEE XKL EAFR A A, “Sipai
WFOE"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a
series of contractual arrangements with SHTG and certain PRC
individuals on July 30, 2019.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Contractual arrangements (Continued)

To ensure that the contractual arrangements are narrowly tailored
in accordance with the requirements of the Stock Exchange
and in preparation for the Hong Kong Initial Public Offering (“HK
IPO”), the Group underwent the certain onshore reorganisation
to streamline the corporate structure as detailed in the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in
the Prospectus. On May 10, 2021, SBNT and Shanghai WFOE,
among other parties, terminated the contractual arrangement
among themselves. Besides, at the same date, Sipai WFOE
entered into a series of contractual arrangements with SBNT and
its equity holders, which granted Sipai WFOE the control over
SBNT, which has been treated as an indirect subsidiary of the
Company during the reporting period for accounting purposes.

On June 30, 2021, Sipai WFOE and SHTG, among other parties,
terminated the contractual arrangement among themselves.
Besides, on the same date, Sipai Information Technology
(Xiamen) Co., Ltd. (BIK{E BT (EFT)BR A A) (“SITX”,
the subsidiary of the Group) entered into a series of contractual
arrangements with SHTG and its equity holders, which granted
SITX the control over SHTG, which has been treated as an
indirect subsidiary of the Company during the reporting period
until SHTG was disposed of as subsidiaries of Spcare Technology
Co., Ltd as detailed in note 35 for accounting purposes.

The contractual arrangements mentioned in the paragraphs
above enable the Company to exercise effective control over the
relevant entities of PRC Operating Entities, have rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the relevant entities of PRC
Operating Entities and the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the PRC Operating Entities before June 30, 2021.
Accordingly, the Company regards the PRC Operating Entities as
indirect subsidiaries for the purpose of the financial statements
and the financial performance and cash flows of the PRC
Operating Entities for the six months ended June 30,2021 have
been consolidated in the financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2021.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

174

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendments to IAS 16
Amendments to IAS 37
Annual Improvements to

IFRS Standards
2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS
9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and
IAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are applicable
to the Group are described below:

@)

Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to IFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to
the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of
IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they were incurred separately rather
than assumed in a business combination, an entity applying
IFRS 3 should refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to business combinations
that occurred on or after January 1, 2022. As there were
no business combinations during the year, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by IAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to items
of property, plant and equipment made available for use on
or after January 1, 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being
available for use, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfiling the
contract as well as contract management and supervision
costs). General and administrative costs do not relate
directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
January 1, 2022 and no onerous contracts were identified.
Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Annual Improvements to IFRSs Standards 2018-2020
sets out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of
the amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of
a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from January 1, 2022. As
there was no modification or exchange of the Group’s
financial liabilities during the year, the amendment
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendment to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Insurance Contracts®

Insurance Contracts®®

Initial Application of IFRS 17 and
IFRS 9 — Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments’)"°
Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants

(the “2022 Amendments’)"
Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL 2.3

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

! No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023

E As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June

2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before January 1, 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of IFRS 17
As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the
2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2024.

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in
IAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS
10 and IAS 28 (2011) was removed by the ISAB in December
2015 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., January 1,
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. In 2022, the
IASB issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by
an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements
as non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2023 and earlier application is permitted.
Since the guidance provided in the amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting
the accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the
amendments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.3

180

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax
asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and shall be
applied to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other
than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application
is permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at December
31. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain financial instruments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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2.4

184

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets, financial assets and other non-current assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash— generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

24 EXETBEREE (&)

FERMEERE

HEFERENSR  XERSFREE (7
5 ANEE - eRMEERAEMIERD
BEBRINETRERNSR  BI& M5
BEMA D5 R & ER A WO 5 5
DiREESREEEUMNEREER
HEAFHEROERAMENRSEE
mEREERED FtE FRIFEELT
EERRBEYNEMEESEEHMR
BERAEEBERT Al KESER
BEMBRcEASEUET RS
ELBGETRERHE  AREE (10
mEKE) By REES S EZ @5
ReELBEM (MARGE R —HONE
BHlR) BREIEERINEESE
B R -

EEEERAERAE KL ENT
AT ERERBEER FEERE
AR St RRRSRER A RREE
FF Rl (B & & B 5 E AL O 3R B T 35 AT
R AT AR IR RARIR =R E M EEIRIZ
HEZRE R ERE RN SB RN E
HHE R kR

REHRESHERFHEEEEMATRE
TREARTPIRER BV ERE B A e 2 MR
SABEERL FEZTR B
AAREeE-EERANEEEE (B
ZRINAKROSENEAER 7
RO EELMEZNRERRE B
ROBRNBEITSBEARRNBEFE
W Bt % IR & E TR OR (B R 18 T
HERTEE (B EETE, #H) - &R
ZREEERELEME A8

BRREMNFEERAT —S-—F5H 185



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

@)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 19%
Electronic equipment 19%-32%
Motor vehicles 12%-24%
Leasehold improvements 20%-33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Construction in progress represents leasehold improvements
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Licenses

Purchased licenses are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years. The useful life of 10 years for license is
estimated based on the duration of the license, as well as the
useful lives of similar assets in the marketplace.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 3 to 5 years. The estimated useful life of 3-5 years for
software is determined by considering the period of the economic
benefits to the Group as well as by referring to the industry
practice.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Software development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component and non-lease components, the Group adopts
the practical expedient not to separate non-lease components
and to account for the lease component and the associated
non-lease components (e.g., property management services for
leases of properties) as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

190

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@)

®)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings 1-10 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

©)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of motor vehicles
that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade and bills receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
and bills receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
also recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

194

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted
for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and
risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument
with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured
at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings
or payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, amounts due to related parties, convertible redeemable
preferred shares and contingent consideration payables.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVTPL are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only
if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk
which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, trade payables, other payables and
amounts due to related parties are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as warrants.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost.
No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, which is not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

200

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
country in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group
will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

@)

®)

Specialty Pharmacy Business

The primary source of the revenue from the Specialty
Pharmacy Business is generated from the operation
of offline specialty pharmacies and distribution of
pharmaceutical products to pharmaceutical companies and
other distributors. Revenue from the Specialty Pharmacy
Business is recognised at the point in time when control of
goods is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the medicines and pharmaceutical products.

The Group evaluates whether it is appropriate to record
the gross amount of sale of pharmaceutical products and
related costs or the net amount earned as commissions
for its distribution of pharmaceutical products under the
Specialty Pharmacy Business. When the Group acts as a
principal, that the Group obtains control of the specified
goods or services before they are transferred to the
customers, the revenues should be recognised in the gross
amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for the specified goods or services transferred.
When the Group acts as an agent and its obligation is to
facilitate third parties in fulfilling their performance obligation
for specified goods or services, the revenues should be
recognised in the net amount for the amount of commission
which the Group earns in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by other parties.

Physician Research Assistance Business

The primary source of revenue from the Physician Research
Assistance Business is generated from the provision of site
management organisation services by providing integrated
services to pharmaceutical companies to assist them in
producing clinical trial data that meet the relevant regulatory
standards for the pharmaceutical companies to advance
to the next phase of clinical trial or solicit approval of a
treatment by the applicable regulatory body. The Group
recognises the revenue when the performance obligation
is satisfied over time as the service output is captured
in clinical data and documentation that are available for
pharmaceutical companies over the progress of clinical
trials.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

204

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(c)  Health Insurance Services Business

The primary source of revenue from the Health Insurance
Services Business is commissions from the provision of
insurance brokerage services. The Group provides insurance
brokerage services, including distribution of various
health and life insurance products on behalf of insurance
companies. As an agent of the insurance companies, the
Group sells insurance policies on behalf of the insurance
companies and earns brokerage commissions determined
as a percentage of premiums paid by the insured.

Revenue from the the provision of insurance brokerage
services is recognised when the signed insurance
policy becomes effective since the Group has fulfilled its
performance obligation. The Group also generated revenue
from health management and claim processing services
provided to insurance companies, typically charging
insurance companies of a fixed fee per policy and revenue is
recognised over time during the service period as the Group
fulfils its performance obligation.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfill a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share award schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration and
rewards in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note
32 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair value
of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other
conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is canceled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancelation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the canceled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the canceled
and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Share-based payments (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is different
from the Company’s functional currency, the United States dollar
(“USD”). As the major revenues and assets of the Group are
derived from operations in Mainland China, RMB is chosen as
the presentation currency to present the financial statements.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Acquisition of subsidiaries that are not businesses

IFRS 3 requires an entity to determine whether a transaction or
event is a business combination which requires that the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business. During
the reporting period, the Group acquired certain equity interests
of companies from independent third parties as detailed in note
34 to the financial statements. The Group determined that those
activities and assets of acquired equity interests of companies
didn’t constitute a business on the acquisition date. The
transaction was then accounted for as an asset acquisition.

Consolidation of affiliated entities

The Group obtained control over certain PRC domestic
companies as detailed in note 2.1 by entering into a series of the
Contractual Arrangements with the PRC domestic companies and
its shareholders. Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements and
other measures may not be as effective as direct legal ownership
in providing the Group with direct control over the PRC domestic
companies and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system
could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets
and liabilities of the PRC domestic companies. The directors of
the Company, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider
that the Contractual Arrangements among WFOE companies,
PRC domestic companies and its shareholders are in compliance
with the relevant PRC laws and are legally enforceable.

3.
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At the end of each reporting period, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered. The provision for
ECLs is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECLs and the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets
is disclosed in note 22 and note 23 to the financial statements.

The carrying amount of trade and bills receivables at December
31, 2022 was RMB241,256,000 (2021: RMB171,195,000). The
allowance for ECLs at December 31, 2022 was RMB12,251,000
(2021: RMB8,673,000).

The carrying amount of contract assets at December 31, 2022
was RMB94,739,000 (2021: RMB103,266,000). The allowance
for ECLs at December 31, 2022 was RMB3,874,000 (2021:
RMB3,747,000).

Inventories

The Group assesses periodically if cost of inventories may not be
recoverable based on an assessment of the net realisable value
of inventories. Allowances are applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value
is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete
inventories requires the use of judgement and estimates on the
conditions and usefulness of the inventories and the net realisable
value has been determined based on the ageing and expiry dates
of the inventories, condition of the goods and contracted selling
price to be recognised less all estimated remaining costs to
completion and costs necessary to provide the service. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of the inventories in the year in
which such estimate changes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Inventories (Continued)

The carrying amount of inventories at December 31, 2022 was
RMB280,332,000 (2021: RMB269,035,000). The allowance for
inventories at December 31, 2022 was RMB3,557,000 (2021:
RMB2,471,000).

Useful lives and residual values of other intangible
assets

The Group’s management determines the useful lives, residual
values and related amortisation charges for its other intangible
assets. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of other intangible assets of similar nature
and functions and may vary significantly as a result of policy
changes and keen competitions from competitors, resulting
in higher amortisation charge and/or write-off or write-down
of technically obsolete assets when useful lives are less than
previously estimated. The Group will increase the amortisation
charges where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or will write-off or write-down obsolete assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

Leases-estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the losses can be utilised,
management’s judgement is required to assess the probability
of future taxable profits. Management’'s assessment is revised
as necessary and additional deferred tax assets are recognised
if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible
assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use.

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at December 31, 2022
was RMB79,823,000 (2021: RMB79,823,000). None of the
impairment losses was recognised during the reporting period.
Details of the impairment testing are set out in note 18.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three
reportable operating segments as follows:

Specialty Pharmacy
Business

Operation of specialty pharmacy stores
and distribution of pharmaceutical
products to pharmaceutical companies
and other distributors.

Physician Research Offering pharmaceutical companies
Assistance Business and other clinical trial institutions
site management organisation
services, including site feasibility, site
initiation, patient recruitment, patient
management, data entry and document
management, on-site drug management
and bio-sample management, site
closure and others; and offering services
for image management in clinical trials.

Health Insurance
Services Business

Providing insurance brokerage services
to insurance companies.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment gross
profit. No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented as
management does not regularly review such information for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are
presented.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

e ER ()

For the year ended December 31, 2022 HZE2022F12A31HILFE
Physician Health
Specialty Research Insurance
Pharmacy  Assistance Services
Business Business Business Total
BEWE BERR
REBRER EIES S R %3 @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%Trn AR¥TR AR%Tn
Segment revenue D EMA 3,661,809 319,449 138,220 4,119,478
Segment results DEEE 183,345 66,238 87,769 337,352
Reconciliation: HE:
Other income and gains Hp A &z 60,189
Seling and marketing expenses HEREHRAR (332,851)
Administrative expenses THRX (575,011)
Research and development expenses WEHES (62,650)
Impairment losses under ECL model BHEEBEEATH
REEE (5,466)
Change in fair value of convertible RE:BEHEEY S E)
redesmable preferred shares ~rFEEF (775,260)
Other expenses Hifx (11,035)
Finance costs BEKA (4,041)
Share of profits and losses of an associate  JEfE—FREZ A AIEF K
BB 331
Group’s loss before tax AEBRTAIEE (1,368,442)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.
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e ER ()

For the year ended December 31, 2021 HZE2021F12A318 1L FE
Physician Health
Specialty Research Insurance
Pharmacy Assistance Services
Business Business Business Total
BAMR EERR
REEELHK EE BB EH @at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®Tn ARETT AR%TR
Segment revenue DEA 3,136,484 244 857 92,589 3,473,930
Segment results DEEE 185,444 44,859 53,146 283,449
Reconciliation: HE:
Other income and gains Hi A Rz 51,069
Seling and marketing expenses HEREHRAR (291,461)
Administrative expenses THRX (670,021)
Research and development expenses HERS (59,207)
Impairment losses under ECL model EHEEBEEATH
REEE (6,407
Change in fair value of convertible AJER A AT O (B ST AR Y
redesmable preferred shares ~rFEEH (3,048,428)
Other expenses Hifx (3,121)
Finance costs AR (3,688)
Share of profits and losses of an associate  fEfE —FRE 2 A RIEF &
BB 137
Group’s loss before tax AEERTAERE (3,747,678)
Geographical information i EE R

During the reporting period, aimost all of the Group’s revenues
were derived from operations in the PRC and nearly all of the
Group’s non-current assets were located in Mainland China. No
geographical segment information is presented in accordance
with IFRS 8 Operating Segments.

Information about major customers
No further information about major customers is presented as

there was no single customer from which over 10% or more of
the Group’s revenue was derived during the reporting period.
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5. REVENUE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:
Revenue from contracts with customers

(@) Disaggregated revenue information

5. WA
WADHITEAT
REEFEHHBA
(8 PFEWAEFR

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AREFTT
Types of segmentation of business ¥ 5 @&
Specialty Pharmacy Business FFERBEE S TS 3,661,809 3,136,484
Physician Research Assistance
Business BAEMRGES 319,449 244,857
Health Insurance Services Business i FE 1R IR 15 575 138,220 92,589
Total revenue from contracts with RKEEFPAEANRALEE
customers 4,119,478 3,473,930
Timing of revenue recognition ON A ST
Recognised at a point in time RE—FEEER 3,800,029 3,229,073
Recognised over time RNE—RFEEER 319,449 244,857
Total revenue from contracts with RKEEFPAHANKRAEE
customers 4,119,478 3,473,930

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised during the reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of each reporting

TR IR S B A R R A A
TR BRSBE ASRERIN
BREEYEBREHRETHNE

period and recognised from performance obligations A ZFEFERTER
satisfied in previous periods:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Revenue recognised that was FAREHAINENEEN
included in contract liabilities at EERWA :
the beginning of the reporting
period:
Specialty Pharmacy Business PR B fE 575 11,359 2,392
Physician Research Assistance BEMRHIES
Business 120,437 57,572
Health Insurance Services Business & 1R B R 75 ¥ 15 - 17
131,796 59,981

216 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022



5.

REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5.

An analysis of revenue is as follows (Continued):

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b) Performance obligations

The aggregated amount of the transaction prices allocated
to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) at December 31, 2022 was RMB901 million
(2021: RMB992 million). Management of the Group expects
the majority of the transaction prices allocated to the
unsatisfied contracts as at the end of reporting period will be
recognised as revenue within four years from the reporting
date.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

WA (&)
WA (48) :
REFFEHNRA (&)

b) BEHED

2022F12 A31H * DB B AR EK
(A RER)BHNEBFHZ S
B4R%E A AREEOIR BT (2021
FARBORBEE L) - ALBEE
BEE RREPERIEER
BITAHNKIBARSER AR
S HERMNFERNERBRA -

Hi W A K Wz
H A A R I

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Other income Hapdg A
Government grants* B 4R B 20,157 9,219
Bank interest income RITHLEHA 17,144 10,370
Interest income on loan due from
non-controlling shareholders of JE U FfY B8 R B FEHE AR AR B3R
subsidiaries (note 24) ERH B A (FFE24) 105 -
Gains &
Foreign exchange differences, net PE 5 = BF R 8 3,952
BEAVEFABZNES R
Gains on financial assets at FVTPL & EWE 22,355 25,658
Gains on lease termination, net I E W R F R 380 365
Others Ht 40 1,505
Other income and gains H WA RS 60,189 51,069

Government grants related to income that are received or receivables
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs recognised in profit or loss in the period upon
actual receipt.

* BT S RAERE EE M REIEN

fERR BERBERMENEME N
B E WA IRA - T &R E R UER
IR0 IR s R R R AR B AR AN
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBIAIEGE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBHNBRHRAERBENG (5T A)
NI EIEEFE
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKRAE 3,478,464 2,942,987
Cost of services provided Fir iR £t AR 75 H9 A AR 303,662 247,494
Depreciation of property, plant and M- REREEITE
equipment (note 15)* (FfFzE15) * 9,205 14,316
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTRAEEERE
(note 17(a))* (MizE17(0)) * 31,807 32,432
Amortization of other intangible assets Bt EmpEE#E
(note 16)* (FtzE16) * 8,411 7,134
Government grants K i 18 BN (20,157) (9,219)
Bank interest income IRTTHI B UL A (17,144) (10,370)
Interest income on loan due from JiE WK BT 8 2 B FETE AR AR B3R
non-controlling shareholders of ERHFEHA
subsidiaries (105) -
Foreign exchange difference, net HINEE 2 BRH RA (8) (3,952)
Impairment losses under ECL model BHEEEBEEEXTY
BIEEE 5,466 6,407
Auditor’s remuneration Z SR B & 2,136 200
Expense relating to short-term leases B HEE AR 2,694 3,265
Expense relating to leases of low-value HEEEEEMEFHEN
assets R 1,565 2,733
Gains on financial assets at FVTPL BATEFAERZN
TREENR (22,355) (25,658)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME HERKER
equipment &5 702 77
Listing expense FREX 21,970 28,783
3,806,313 3,236,629
Staff cost (excluding directors’ and chief B THA (TBRIFEESE K&
executive’s remuneration): BE=TERABFHH)
— Wages and salaries —TITEE%H® 599,295 581,953
— Pension scheme contributions —RIRESEHEIMER 45,563 42,875
— Share-based payment compensation — AR RERES 8
el 181,856 181,033

The depreciation of plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use
assets and amortization of other intangible assets for each reporting
period are set out in “Administrative expenses” and “Selling and
marketing expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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10.
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FINANCE COSTS 8. BEMA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERKADHTIAT
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(0)) HEAGEMNE (HiE170)) 4,041 3,688
OTHER EXPENSES 9. Hihfix
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Impairment losses of inventories FEREERE 3,382 2,389
Fair value loss on contingent consideration &=k A (B 2 A&
payables B8 2,310 -
Donations to not-for-profit organisations ¥ 3F & K| 48 4% 79 45 % 2,060 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE BEREED
and equipment E518 702 77
Others Hth 2,581 655
11,035 3,121
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. EEHEH

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

BRELETRA BB (RAHER) &
383(1)(a) * (b) * (c) B (N 1GE A & (&) (]
BESEFZER R FoApEES

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: NERNBFHBO T :
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARBET T
Fees we 21 -

Other emoluments: H A B %

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 )28F R E YR 3,217 3,295
Performance-related bonuses KIAEBIEL 255 -
Share-based payment compensation LARS 157 /5 B 18 S A 19 357 B 133,997 117,649
Pension scheme contributions IRREFTEIEEK 90 85
137,580 121,029
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

During the reporting period, options were granted to directors of
the Company in respect of their services to the Group, further
details of which are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such share option award, which has been
recognised in profit or loss immediately upon the date of grant
or over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is set out in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year were as follow:

10. EEHM (&)

RBERAN ARFEEFREAEEDN
RIS R B I A e — RIS E DN R
BRI 32 - ZEEPERBE R E
BERR th A B R B R M IR R AR - B
RNPFERRE BREE  fFANEERM
BHRERNSRIATIN LM EEHMIE

(a)

BMYFHTES

FAXNTBILIFATERT 2
B (N

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi CHANG Stanley Yi

(3R}, alias 2 #f) (3RY - Bl BRBEF) A
(Note (a)) (Mf5E@)) 9 -
Mr. He Haijian (Note (a)) g% E (Hik@) 6 -
Ms. Huang Bei (Note (a)) =EL L (i) 6 -
21 -

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2021:
Nil).

Notes:
(a8  Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (53§, alias 5k 2 &F) , Mr. He Haijian and

Ms. Huang Bei were appointed as independent non-executive
directors of the Company on December 23, 2022.
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 10. EEFHMH (&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) ITES -HHTEER
and the chief executives BETHAE
Salaries,

allowances Performance-  Share-based Pension
and benefits related payment scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses compensation contributions remuneration

Fe ZER DRGRER BHhe

ik BNERN REMBREA  ONHMH HE U FHAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR®TR ARWTR AR®TR ARRTR  AR%ETR

2022 20226
Chief executive and BERTBAE
executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Ma Xuguang SRELE - 1721 130 46,848 30 48729
Mr. L J THEE - 1,496 125 87,149 60 88,330

Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Yao Leiwen (Note (b))~ #h&X54

(BizE () = - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ziquan (Note (¢)  REBLAE
(MEE() = - - - - -
- 3,217 255 133,997 90 137,559
2021 20215
Chief executive and RETHAR
executive directors: WTEE:
Mr. Ma Xuguang SHELE = 1,755 = 30,503 30 32,288
Mr. Li i TERE = 1,640 = 87,146 39) 88,741
Non-executive directors: FHTEES:
Ms. Lin Rui (Note (a)) Lin Rui Z
(Fi i) : - - - - -
Mr. Yao Leiwen (Note (b))~ $k& U5t 4
(W5t (o)) = = - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ziquan (Note (¢)  SREELAE
(BEE(c)) = - - - - -
- 3,295 - 117,649 85 121,029
Notes: B3k
(@  Ms. Lin Rui was removed from the list of the directors of the @  Lin RuZ+tmR2021F6 A11H B AR A RE
Company on June 11, 2021. ERERRKRE-
(b)  Mr. Yao Leiwen, who was a director of the Company, was b) ARREFRZ R ENR2021F7 RS
designated as a non-executive director of the Company in July ERARTIERITES-
2021.
(€ Mr. Zhang Ziquan, who was a director of the Company, was © ARREFREELENR2021FTARAT
re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company in RANRAIFENITESE -
July 2021,
There was no arrangement under which a director, FARMEES EESHBSTHRAEK
supervisor or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive 25 [/ S E A B4 8 28k

any remuneration during the year.
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11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors including the chief executive (2021: two directors
including the chief executive), details of whose remuneration are
set out in Note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining three (2021: three) highest paid employees who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

1. EBREHES

FNRAROGEERTEMBES (B
EEETHRAR) (20214 MELES
(BIERSITHAE)  HEHMFBHN
EXMIFE1I0 - FREHB =R (2021F : =
BIEARRESTIESTTHRAENK
S EENEMFBNT

follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T ARSI T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & 28 R EWEF 4,069 4,106
Performance-related bonuses KIFEBIELL 342 166
Share-based payment compensation LARS 17 A B 78 S A< 19 357 B 100,904 107,852
Pension scheme contributions RIREET MR 89 81
105,404 112,205

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

FHAN T TBEFEERIERET
BABBSHIESABMT -

Number of employees

EEAY
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 T &
10,000,000% 7T 1 1
HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000 15,500,001 T &
16,000,000 7T — 1
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17,000,000 16,500,001 L&
17,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$96,500,001 to HK$97,000,000 96,500,001/ T =
97,000,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$110,000,001 to HK$110,500,000 110,000,001 T &
110,500,0003% 7T, - 1

During the year and in prior years, share options and restricted
shares were granted to certain non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees in respect of their services to
the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures
in note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options and restricted shares, which has been recognised in profit
or loss immediately upon the date of grant or over the vesting
period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is included
in the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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2. INCOME TAX 12.

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is
not subject to tax on income or capital gains.

Hong Kong

On March 21, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”),
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on March 28, 2018 and was gazette on the
following day.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.
The two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to the Group’s
Hong Kong subsidiaries with estimated assessable profits for its
annual reporting period ended on or after April 1, 2018.

Mainland China

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% during the reporting period unless
subject to tax concession set out below.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at
the statutory rates to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Fr 5%t

AEBAREENELBSREAEH
B RRINEM MRS ERIAEER

BN A A3 B
eSS

7fﬁ<ﬁ’5ﬁxﬁ¥%iﬁﬁﬁ{$ KRB HER
Ug A8 & AR 25 4R T o

Ei

R201843 A21 EI
O17TFEFTE (&

7,<>> (f <<{MJE$>> 1) Bl ARH
R E o UEPIEZR) H20184F3

CBBLEG B
7)) (SB7% %)15&%

A

o 2 Jot s

28E| ﬁ%ﬁkﬁ&é I IAAV=REIb-

EMBHFEHEHE T GEHD

) &2,000,0007% 7T 3% F % #28.25% Eﬁ ‘»fﬁ
KT 1f12,000,0005 7T A m]’l ) #5
1#216.5% M) T R H o M A% B 15 7 R
HI @ AR AR EBR2018F4A1H 8 2
%4 ﬁiﬂﬁif#&iﬁ;ﬁfﬁ1ﬁu+ﬁ SrERT

R BB E A
B A it

BEABRCEMESHE([REHRSE
ED R TCEMESHEE MK PR
BRARRBREHENCEMSHRMES
25%  BRIFEB T XATEHMEER-

BORTERL R et HaviE A RCER LA S 1R R
PR IR BRI R E AR AM X

as follows: HWEEMT :
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFTT
Loss before tax B % Bl E5 18 (1,368,442) (3,747,678)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% 1RE A E25% T E T IE (342,111) (936,920)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR IR 2 86,028 89,339
Different tax rates enacted by local authority i 77 # B & £ &9~ @) F & 193,815 762,107
Deductible temporary differences and tax A 1 i P 2= B K& R HER
losses not recognised or utilised SR ENAMIAEE 65,590 86,299
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate FRIEAEB BB R ETE
for the year 9 5 18 7 § 3,322 825
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12. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 12. B8 (&)
Mainland China (Continued) FE Rt (48)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the WARBN T SIERRELERIEE E

following items:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Tax losses MIAE1E 1,195,364 991,078
Deductible temporary differences AENEREER 72,008 13,935
1,267,372 1,005,013
The accumulated tax losses at December 31, 2022 was M2022F12 A31 AW R HIBEEEAA
RMB1,195,364,000 (2021: RMB991,078,000). The tax losses R #51,195,364,0007T (20214 : A R ¥
in the PRC can be carried forward for five years to offset future 991,078,0007T ) ° B0 A £ 1H &5 18 1] 45
taxable profit. The tax losses of those companies in the PRC will ERE KRR EZR A 7] A
expire in one to five years for offsetting against taxable profits. AR S E SRR R AR b B TR
HEEBHER—=RFEEIH-
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these WAMZEEEBERRTEHREEE R
losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be HEBB AR AR KA e A ERT
available against which the tax losses can be utilised. FEAT R E R IAEE -
13. DIVIDEND 13. K&
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during FER AN RNTES e EIRAE (2021
the year (2021: Nil). Fm)o
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14. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 14.
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
112,475,216 (2021: 99,449,315) in issue during the year. The
calculation of weighted average number of ordinary shares has
excluded the treasury shares held in trust of the Company as
detailed in note 31.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amount presented for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share
option scheme and the conversion of preferred shares had an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount presented.

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

BAEZERSEEAEN
BRE
BREAGESEEFASARLRE
BaFAEARGFRNBEREZETER
A% HnAE 15 80112,475,2168% (20214 :
99,449,315% ) 5t & - 5T & & @ R i F
BHEEBEHBRURARBETHENER
B FEIBE RKIEEST ©

i ]

MR ER R E M ERELERAOTEY
FI2PMEREAEECREEREEY
25, My 3 A T 20224F 22021412 A
SIHLEFEEINEREREBSEE
A

BRERNBRENATEEE:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Loss [}
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders £ 2 &) & i@ #E 25 35 A A JE(S
of the parent (RMB’000) BB (ARETFIT) (1,370,572) (3,740,455)
Ordinary shares ZER
Weighted average number of ordinary FESRENBEEAN
shares in issue during the year used in the N 2 217 & B A% h4E
basic loss per share calculation FHE 112,475,216 99,449,315
Loss per share (RMB per share) BREE (ERARET) (12.19) (37.61)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

226

15. Y% - BERRHE

Furniture
Electronic and Motor  Leasehold Construction
equipment fixtures vehicles improvements in progress Total
BTRE GRREE RE HEMERE EBIRE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%T:
December 31, 2022 2022F12A31R
At January 1, 2022: 7202261 A1R :
Cost KR 7,234 12,778 936 42,975 341 64,264
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (4,333) (5,962) (570) (28,707) - (39,572)
Net carrying amount FEFE 2,901 6,316 366 14,268 34 24,692
At January 1, 2022, net of 20221 A18
accumulated depreciation MR EHTE 2,901 6,816 366 14,268 341 24,692
Additions AE 1,425 199 74 1,287 1,064 4,049
Disposals HE (61) (259) @ (@10) - (732)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—TARBAR - (950) - - - (950)
Transfers B - - - 1,040 (1,040) -
Depreciation provided FRFENE
during the year (1,921) (1,555) (149) (5,580) - (9,205)
At December 31, 2022, net of 202212 A318
accumulated depreciation MR EHE 2,344 4,251 289 10,605 365 17,854
At December 31, 2022: R2022F12A318 :
Cost KA 8,334 10,452 1,008 42,622 365 62,781
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (5,990) (6,201) (719) (32,017) - (44,927)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,344 4,951 289 10,605 365 17,854
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2022 2022412831H

15. Y% -BERRHE (&)

Furniture
Electronic and Motor Leasehold ~ Construction
equipment fixtures vehicles  improvements in progress Total
BT#HE HBRREE RE MEMERE ERIR CHy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR
December 31, 2021 2021%12831R
At January 1, 2021: R2021F1 /18
Cost KR 6,905 11,066 839 36,485 - 55,295
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (4,249 (4,066) (386) (19,934) - (28,635)
Net carrying amount FmFE 2,656 7,000 453 16,551 - 26,660
At January 1, 2021, net of R2021F1 818
accumulated depreciation MR EHTE 2,656 7,000 453 16,551 - 26,660
Additions B 1,729 2,089 347 10,583 341 15,089
Disposals ek (99) (278) (248) (2,234) - (2,859)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEKB AR
(notes 33, 34) (P3+3334) 10 8 - - - 118
Depreciation provided FERFENE
during the year (1,495) (2,008) (180) (10,632) - (14,316)
At December 31, 2021, net of 2021 12F318
accumulated depreciation N2 HE 2,901 6,816 366 14,268 341 24,692
At December 31, 2021: P2021F12A318
Cost KA 7,234 12,778 936 42,975 341 64,264
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (4,333) (5,962) (570) (28,707) - (39,572)
Net carrying amount EmFE 2,901 6,816 366 14,268 341 24,692
At the end of each reporting period, no property, plant and REJREHAR AEBLEBEEBEMY

equipment of the Group was pledged.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. b EFEEE

Software Licenses Total
B4 Et] et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®¥T T AR® T
December 31, 2022 2022%F12H31H
Cost at January 1, 2022, net of 7202241 A1 BB A -
accumulated amortisation bk Rt 11,179 50,346 61,525
Additions NE 3,068 - 3,068
Amortisation during the year FNEE (2,228) (6,183) (8,411)
At December 31, 2022 72022912 H31H 12,019 44,163 56,182
At December 31, 2022 R2022F12 A31H
Cost %N 16,556 61,825 78,381
Accumulated amortisation ST E (4,537) (17,662) (22,199)
Net carrying amount BREFE 12,019 44,163 56,182
December 31, 2021 2021%12H31H
Cost at January 1, 2021, net of 202141 A1 HKIRAN »
accumulated amortisation Ik Rtk 3,131 44,240 47,371
Additions NE 9,662 - 9,662
Acquisition of subsidiaries g alap =N
(notes 33, 34) (733 - 34) 5 15,521 15,526
Disposals & (16) (3,884) (3,900)
Amortisation during the year FNEE (1,603) (5,531) (7,134)
At December 31, 2021 72021412 H31H 11,179 50,346 61,525
At December 31, 2021 72021912 H31H
Cost DN 13,488 61,825 75,313
Accumulated amortisation 2T E (2,309) (11,479) (13,788)
Net carrying amount FREFE 11,179 50,346 61,525
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17. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 1 and
9 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and

subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

17. HE

REBER/EBEA

AEEREEEMAETIVEESRL-
BFHENEBA RN F1EF - — &
BAT AEETFHHEHEEEEZREK
DHEEREE AN EEE -

() EMEEE

A g 05 PR EE OB T 8 T
EREBNT

Buildings

BF

RMB’000

AR® T

As at January 1, 2022 R2022F1H1H 89,108
Additions nE 18,691

Termination Ak (4,635)

Disposal of subsidiaries &M B AR (348)

Depreciation charge HEER (31,807)
As at December 31, 2022 72022912 H31H 71,009
As at January 1, 2021 7202141 H1H 63,249
Additions NE 64,033
Acquisition of subsidiaries (notes 33, 34) W g R B~ A (B$5E33 - 34) 6,320
Termination Ak (3,211)
Disposal of subsidiaries (notes 35) HEWB A (M7E35) (8,851)
Depreciation charge WEER (32,432)
As at December 31, 2021 2021612 H31H 89,108
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

17. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

17. HE (&)

AEEFEREEA (H)

b HEB®E

HEREBENREERRES BN

during the reporting period are as follows: BEAT
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFT
Carrying amount at the beginning FHEREE
of the year 87,018 63,587
New leases MEE 18,691 64,033
Acquisition of subsidiaries W HE KT A A
(notes 33, 34) (MF%¥33 ~34) - 6,261
Accretion of interest recognised FREREF S
during the year 4,041 3,688
Payments 3k (34,104) (38,221)
Termination Sl (5,015) (3,576)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEW B R R (379) (8,754)
Lease concessions HEEE (2,488) -
Carrying amount at the end FRREE
of the year 67,764 87,018
Analysed into: EIV=E
Current portion mENEL Y 29,019 34,123
Non-current portion IETRBEBD 38,745 52,895

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
40 to the financial statements.

HESENIHBERS TR
R M 5409 5 o
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17. LEASES (CONTINUED)

18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

17. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) KAEBERAFEBEA (E)
(€) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in © MEERERERANETE
relation to leases are as follows: (I N
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR®ETTT
Interest on lease liabilities ME&ENE 4,041 3,688
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  FHREEENITEER
assets 31,807 32,432
Gains on lease termination, net WIEHEWZFEE (380) (365)
Expense relating to short-term leases* £252 FATR E BRI H0 B S * 2,694 3,265
Expense relating to leases of HEEEEENSERMN
low-value assets* sz 1,565 2,733
Lease concessions HEER (2,488) -
Total amount recognised in RIEEERA B
profit or loss 37,239 41,753
* Included in “Administrative expenses” and “Selling and marketing * AASHEBEZREMEEKE R
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and M ITEFES I R EE R
other comprehensive income. X
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 36(c) to d HEERSRHEBEANFB®RSE
the financial statements. B 3E36(c) °
GOODWILL 18. &
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFT
Cost RS
At beginning of year F9) 79,823 42,074
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 33) U & BT 8 A B (FM95E33) - 37,749
At end of year FXR 79,823 79,823
Carrying amount BREE
At end of year FR 79,823 79,823
On December 31, 2021, goodwill of RMB37,749,000 arose from MA2021F12 A318 > AW R 1E X
the acquisition of Beiing Renbo Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (it 7{=1& BEABRSEAR ([ (5%
KB A R & 72 7] “Beijing Renbo”) as detailed in note 33 to RV BRERWFBD MEENEELAA
the financial statements. R #37,749,0007T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to Taikang Xinte Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (K REEH B AERER
[R A 7], “Taiyuan Taikang”), Shenyang Sanheyuan Pharmacy
Co., Ltd. (B =6 &% %£FE FR A 7], “Shenyang Sanheyuan”)
and Beijing Renbo as cash-generating units (the “CGU”s) for
impairment testing.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to these CGUs are as
follows:

18. &2& (&)

[k RN

BRERGAHRBNEESRKREANRSE
FRRABEEGRAR ([KRERE])
B —AKEFEERAR ([ERE=6
B RERCEBESRESELEM (R
EEEBEM])ETRERR-

DEEZERTELEUNBEREE
LUl

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARBTT

Taiyuan Taikang NIRFERE 13,374 13,374
Shenyang Sanheyuan EEZAK 28,700 28,700
Beijing Renbo b R{C1E 37,749 37,749
79,823 79,823

Goodwill is tested by management for impairment annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. The acquisition date
of Beijing Renbo was December 31, 2021, thus no further
impairment assessment for Beijing Renbo was performed by
management as of December 31, 2021. The recoverable amount
of the CGUs has been determined based on a value in use (“VIU”)
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period. Other key assumptions for the VIU calculation relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales
and gross margin. Such estimation is based on management’s
expectations for the market development.

232 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022

EEETGFLAERET (MEHBRE
B RRAEERE) IHBETR
BRI - bt R 1E R UL EE B B B20214F
12A318 - E & £2021F12 74318 -
BRI Ep AL R EETE — SR
B -ReELEBEMNA KB SEET)
ERNFEREE(EREEDTEME
FostEERENEEEMENRER
FHRMMBEENRESRBA T8
FREEMEMBARES REFTES
WA BIETEEHEEREN K-
ZEFTEREREEYMGERMTER



18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the CGUs exceeding their carrying
amount is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

18. &2& (&)

B R ER ()

ReEL BN RO S EEEERE
(ERCNNE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFT

Taiyuan Taikang 7( J? %’TSLT 2,520 5,547
Shenyang Sanheyuan EEZAK 5,839 5,377
Beijing Renbo ib /‘?\LT@ 3,505 N/A 7~ 38 B
11,864 10,924

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwiill:

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Revenue growth rate — The basis used to determine the budgeted
revenue is based on management’s expectation and also
expectation of the future market.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate is
based on management’s expectations and does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the industry relevant to the
CGUs.

Taiyuan Taikang

The pre-tax discount rate used in the cash flow projections is
19.00% (2021: 23.06%). The revenue compound growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows is 18.14% (2021: 14.67%).
The terminal growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows is
2.30% (2021: 2.30%).

Shenyang Sanheyuan

The pre-tax discount rate used in the cash flow projections is
20.80% (2021: 22.50%). The revenue compound growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows is 14.06% (2021: 13.23%).
The terminal growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows is
2.30% (2021: 2.30%).

AT #2522 T A HE 1T 7 B R (BB AL
AR REMRANZRERRR:

BR BB BA IR R — PR ARV BA IR R B ER T
AIRRIR R RBREEAABI B B BRI T
[ o

WAIE &R - E FRE W AR AR K
EDHENEEENTARMERKT IS
TEHR

KSR R~ AR R PHERE
12 /B M08 0 - AR AR & B A A A
MR ERT RS

BEREBAMANGBEAIERA
19.00% (20214F : 23.06% ) - ARIHEE
RERENKEEAS LR R A18.14%
(20214 1 14.67% ) - LA HER & &
EHKAEERE X AE2.30% (20214 :
2.30%) °

EG =A%

BEREBAMANGBEAIERA
20.80% (20214 :22.50% ) - ARHEE
BERENKFEAEREE E14.06%
(20214 :13.23% ) - LA ER & &
EHKAE R X AE2.30% (20214 :
2.30%) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Beijing Renbo

The pre-tax discount rate used in the cash flow projections is
20.80%. The revenue compound growth rate used to extrapolate
the cash flows is 9.79%. The terminal growth rate used to

extrapolate the cash flows is 2.30%.

Management of the Company has performed sensitivity test by
decreasing 1% of expected revenue, decreasing 1% of terminal
growth rate or increasing 1% of pre-tax discount rate, with all
other assumptions held constant. The impacts on the amount
of each CGU’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount

18. &2& (&)

AR ER (&)

ploy N

IR & i 2 T8 8 BT A A9 Bk 75 Al EEEET)%

20.80%
R K £9.79% °

AREER S REN KT
ﬁHLH’EEEEing’J

KAIE R T E2.30% °

ARr]EBEDETHRERR A

RTEFTA AR RS T
715 T8 HA U AR

SEE

BRBERT
1%~ 1K AR R T B
1% =k 45 B B AT B 28 =12 01 %

o ¥R

SELBUAKNOSFEAERAEE (&

(headroom) are as below: NS ENEENT:
Taiyuan Shenyang Beijing
Taikang Sanheyuan Renbo
KRZRE EB =44 -
2022 20224
Headroom AR 2,520 5,839 3,505
Impact by decreasing expected & FEHIUR A By 2 2
revenue (1,020) (839) (505)
Impact by decreasing terminal PRAEKAERENZE
growth rate (1,220) (3,839) (1,505)
Impact by increasing pre-tax BRI AR R &
discount rate (320) (839) (505)
2021 20214
Headroom BREE 5,547 5,377 N/A 7~ 3 A
Impact by decreasing expected & FEHIUR A By 2 2
revenue (496) (1,403) N/A 1~ 3
Impact by decreasing terminal PREKAERENE
growth rate (1,292) (3,038) N/A 3
Impact by increasing pre-tax IR AR IR R L &
discount rate (2,034) (4,874) N/A 1~ 3
Except for these, any reasonable possible changes in the other B 1 DA - 5 & (B (EE Y /H\ 1R

assumptions used in the value in use calculation would not
affect management’s view on impairment as at the end of each

reporting period.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the Group
utilising the above key assumptions, the recoverable amount of
the CGUs estimated from the cash flow forecast exceeded the
carrying amount of goodwill and no impairment was considered

necessary.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rate and

growth rate are consistent with external information sources.
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19.

20.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2022 2022412831H

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 19. %f&%ﬁ%ﬁﬂé%ﬁﬂ'gﬁ@‘ﬁ
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Wealth management products O E M - 1,067,321

As at December 31, 2021, the financial assets at FVTPL
represented floating return monetary fund and wealth
management products issued by certain banks, with expected
return rates ranging from 1.40% to 4.90% per annum.

MA2021F12A31H I AFEFAER
N& B ERR THRITETNZEER
EEESNIBOER BHRREHE

FF1.40% £4.90% T -

INVENTORIES 20. 78
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Trading merchandise B 5 m 283,889 271,506
Less: Provision for impairment ORI E R (3,557) (2,471)
280,332 269,035
Movements in provision for impairment of inventories are as FEREEBEEESHHNT
follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
At beginning of year F4 2,471 3,340
Provision for the year FNEE 3,382 2,389
Write-off for the year F R 8 (2,296) (3,258)
At end of year FR 3,557 2,471
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
g R

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

21. CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS 21. REFEENHR €
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFTT
Cash held on behalf of clients REFHANRE 334,599 166,179
The balance represents the premiums collected by the Group on ERENEB U ES D RREREBAR]M
behalf of insurance companies from the insurance consumers in a REHEBEEWERHNERRE B2 RRE
fiduciary capacity until it is disbursed to the insurance carriers. NAS AL -
22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22, EZRUWFIERERREE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFT
Bills receivables FE SRR 5,327 4,607
Trade receivables g 5 WA 248,180 175,261
Less: Allowance for credit losses R EEEERE (12,251) (8,673)
241,256 171,195
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, REFHERTFEHNTHIERTE SR
except for individual customers, where payment in advance is BEARFE—RERAN R - EEH—
normally required. The credit period is generally from one month BN TF—EAAZMEA - NREES K
to two months. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its HARIK OB EUW N IBRIFEREEH 7
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances kEERECERE BILEHRE SR
are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does EREFHEM AEETERE S E
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade WHIE R R R EHFR E MRS
and bills receivables balances. The balances of trade and bills s EM RIS EE- B S EIKREIE N
receivables are non-interest-bearing. FEWMEIRERTET B o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22 BESEWRERERERE
(#&)
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end NEREHABREE 5 EWFIIE & FEIL
of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of EEHNEEQHUYHGRIEREEER
allowance for expected credit losses, is as follows: BEOBRRSTOT
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Within 1 month 11 A K 138,125 128,512
1 to 2 months 1Z=2{E A 29,733 25,120
2 to 6 months 2% 61E A 46,326 11,005
6 to 12 months 6ZE121E A 24,114 6,558
Over 12 months Bi@121E A 2,958 -
241,256 171,195

23.

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses
of trade receivables were detailed in note 23 to the financial
statements.

CONTRACT ASSETS

23.

BHREFEEMEEFHERENED
AHB R SRR M 23

Contract assets

Less: Allowance for credit losses

BHEE
W EEBERE

EHNEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
98,613 107,013
(3,874) (3,747)
94,739 103,266

The contract assets primarily arise from the Group’s Physician
Research Assistance Business segment, representing the
Group’s right to consideration for services completed and not
billed because the rights are conditioned upon the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified milestones as stipulated in the
contracts. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional.

BHEEXIZRARENELHRIHY
%i’“‘*ﬁ?i HRERAKEFETKE
Rt BRBHRENER REZZE
%'JHX?J&E@ZIK%@*%EEEE\%@#%EE
MEETERETEMNKRE ANEEHR
EZ%Z"M%W%#H#L)\%%FH& IR ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
g R

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

23. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses on

trade receivables and contract assets are as follows:

23. EHNEE (&)

BHRBFARAGNEENTAMEER
BREOESHIMT

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARBTT

At beginning of year F1) 12,420 8,224
Impairment losses, net of reversal RAEEE - MEREEE 6,004 4,196
Amount written off as uncollectible HsH R AW B ) £ 58 (2,299) =
At end of year FR 16,125 12,420

The Group determines the ECLs on these items by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on the financial quality of
debtors and historical credit loss experience based on the ageing
of the trade receivables and status of underlying projects related
to the contract assets, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current
conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. The
following table details the risk profile of trade receivables and
contract assets by ageing presented based on invoice date at the

end of each reporting period:

AEBEERREEEEERMEARNE
HEEBR REREBANMBERR
ERNEFRUGARKRRESNEER
FARHERE IR B AU E L E BB R LR
EITRHEF UFHEEFAE URRE
AR S0 B S R SRR B RO B il 5t e TR
AR REHRRIZERBHMZ5IM
BRI NE SR HERENEE
FEBR 1B -

As at December 31, 2022
"2022F12H31H

Expected Expected

Amount credit loss rate credit losses

BHMEERER RAGERRE

RMB’000 % RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Within 1 month (note a) 1B AW (KisEa) 232,444 2.11% 4,907
1 to 2 months 12218 A 30,538 2.64% 805
2 to 6 months 2%6fE A 47,683 2.85% 1,357
6 to 12 months 62 121E A 24,625 2.08% 511
Over 12 months wBiE121E A 11,503 74.28% 8,545
346,793 16,125
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BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412831H

23. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 23. EHEE (&)

As at December 31, 2021
2021412 A31H

Expected Expected
Amount credit loss rate  credit losses
oG] EHEEBEX BEHEEEIE
RMB’000 % RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Within 1 month (note a) 1B AR (Kizta) 233,011 2.51% 5,841
1 to 2 months 12218 A 25,718 2.33% 508
2 to 6 months 22618 A 11,269 2.33% 263
6 to 12 months 6Z2121E A 6,813 3.74% 255
Over 12 months w1218 A 5,463 100.00% 5,463
282,274 12,420
Note a: The contract assets were presented in the ageing bucket of “within MizTa: ZEAMEEZRI1MEANRN]BMEREEAE
1 month” since they primarily relate to the Group’s right to the MY BEFESRAEERE T
consideration for work completed but not yet billed. MERRALEZENTRRERBRKRE
TR
The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables and TRFMIZEZETIL EEYPNEFE
contract assets by class of credit rating: WHIBRENEENRRBAMR

As at December 31, 2022
"2022F12H31H

Expected Expected
Amount credit loss rate credit losses

&8 BFHMEERER RAGERR

RMB’000 % RMB’000

AR¥T T AR¥T T

State-owned enterprises BE 164,584 0.76% 1,250

Listed companies +HAFE 130,560 4.28% 5,589
Non-listed private companies ELEMAE AT REAM

and others 51,649 17.98% 9,286

346,793 16,125
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

24,

240

23. EHNEE (&)

As at December 31, 2021
2021612 A31H

Expected Expected
Amount credit loss rate  credit losses
ok FEHEEREEX EHEREEE
RMB’000 % RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T
State-owned enterprises B 78,213 0.04% 28
Listed companies FWATE] 158,933 2.43% 3,861
Non-listed private companies JEEmAE AT REM
and others 45,128 18.90% 8,531
282,274 12,420
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 24. Fa{4 %X HittE W H1E R
ASSETS ifth &=
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTF T
Non-current: EME
Rental deposits HEZS 7,384 8,159
Prepayments for purchase of property, BEME BB MEREN
plant and equipment BT FRIR - 92
Prepayments for purchase
of intangible assets BERLEENTENKIEA - 2,656
Deferred listing expenses BE EMRAX - 6,885
Prepayments for medicine (note a) LY RS FRIE (HiEa) - 130,000
7,384 147,792
Current: e
Price adjustment compensation (note b)  E& AR E (H:Eb) 52,325 92,529
Fund receivables from external payment — JEUIMNIB ST (A AR IR (& B9
network providers (note c) &% (Mizxe) 5,384 8,742
Value-added tax recoverable A W Bl 42 (B F 9,979 8,939
Prepayments AT KIB 28,940 40,598
Staff advances BT#EX 963 968
Loans due from non-controlling JE R FfY 1B~ B FEHE AR AR 3R
shareholders of subsidiaries (note d) B (fiEd) 24,605 -
Other receivables H th & SRR 13,643 10,782
Impairment allowance VR ERC = (1,673) 2,211)
134,166 160,347
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24. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (CONTINUED)

24. FANRIA - HMEBWRER
Hiw&EE (&)

Medical Technology Consulting Co., Ltd and Liaoning Xinyi
Pharmaceutical Trade Co., Ltd., which are non-controlling
shareholders of Taiyuan Taikang and Shenyang Sanheyuan
respectively, amounting to RMB24,500,000 in total with an annual
interest rate of 3.65%.

Note a: In January 2021, the Group entered into a distribution agreement Mizka: MR2021F1H ANEBEE= HHER
with a third party supplier for distribution of certain imported MO EBE O ABBAEREN2E
medicine in mainland China through the Group’s nationwide 2 A 4R R B A i D B S T O B
pharmacy network. Pursuant to the agreement, the Group made meRIBEZ S NEBR202156F14
payments of RMB130 million to the third party supplier in January RE=FHERS N ARBI308 &
2021 as deposits for the supply of the medicine for a period (the TG+ YE£202141 A 2022496 A #i &
“Distribution Period”) from January 2021 to June 2022, which ([ e8] ) By Rt EIR & 722021
had been further extended to January 2024 by a supplemental FTRRI R SR ZAREE—
agreement entered into in July 2021. The deposit is expected H IR E2024F1 B - FEEHIRE B
to be settled by the supply of the medicine of equivalent value DB RNEESEASARKI30H
amounting to RMB130 million at the end of the Distribution Period. BILIMNER AN -BEE AE
Subsequently to optimize the allocation of working capital of the TAREENZEEES R AEER
Group, the Group entered into a second supplemental agreement 2022F10 A EBE = HRI L E D7
with the third party supplier in October 2022. Pursuant to the WBE-BEE DB EHE KREA
second supplemental agreement, the deposit of RMB130 million R #1308 &7t B 7R2022910727H
was fully returned to the Group on October 27, 2022. BERE T ARER-

Note b: The balance mainly represents amounts due from pharmaceutical Mfizkb: ZERTIEERAFEAEERAEH
companies to compensate the Group for the reduced sales price of BasErEhERRE N ERERE
drugs sold in the Group’s specialty pharmacies under the centralized AT RE U R EE N B A FNIE ©
procurement policies.

Note c: The balance represents the receivables from payment processors Miz¥c: Z&EtpiEERSNEERT (Inh HR
such as China UnionPay, WeChat and Alipay or aggregators that are M ERYNE)RBEEORIE
cash due from them for clearing transactions. The cash was paid B EEX S EREWEMNIE S IR
by individual customers of pharmacy stores through these payment SHEENEAZEFEABEBINE
processors or aggregators for selling medicines in specialty by the EE AR AEEEE RS
Group. M ffe

Note d: The Group had provided short-term loans to Taiyuan Xinzeyuan Mfizrd : ANEBEMARIDEREER MRS

RARMEESERBERESERAT
(D RIRARNRZER MBS =6 5 H3E
PERR IR ) 20L& HL AR #24,500,000
TURYREERER S A% /83.65% ©

PR2022F12 A31H - B e (B 1% 78 2 4d
EEENEHEEREREAARE
1,673,000 (20214 : A R#¥2,211,000
JT) °

The allowance for expected credit losses related to receivable
of price adjustment compensation at December 31, 2022 was
RMB1,673,000 (2021: RMB2,211,000).
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25. TIME DEPOSITS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH

KR ER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS s REZEE
Time deposits EHIER
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR¥T T
Time deposits over three months* =@ A A E TR 75,146 5,048
Denominated in: AT E8EE -
RMB AR 75,146 5,048
75,146 5,048

Time deposits are made for varying periods of over three months but

less than one year depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit
rates. The time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

Pledged deposits

* ERFERRFAEEN KRS ZKM
E - BRARE R=EAR EEER -5
I 4% % 52 3 i AR R R A 8. - 5
HERFAOHYBEZOELNEER

B SR
EEAERK

2022
2022%F
RMB’000
AR®T R

2021
20214F
RMB’000
AREF T

Pledged deposits*

B

76,170

Denominated in:
RMB

A TNIIEEEHE:
ARE

76,170

76,170

*

Pledged deposits are pledged for letters of credit.
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25. TIME DEPOSITS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412831H

25. E R E?&gﬂﬁ FAREH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) ERBASEEY (&)
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEESEEY
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T
Cash on hand FHER® 865 810
Cash at banks RITIRE 1,454,589 535,039
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReHEY 1,455,454 535,849
Denominated in: AT E¥EHE
RMB AR 932,253 483,973
UsD ETT 362,235 51,390
HKS$ BT 160,966 486
Total cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHERRTE 1,455,454 535,849

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

26. TRADE PAYABLES

ARBARERABRBEMES - A
REBEFEAA OMNEESFIERG) K
- EENMMEEERTE)  AEBELE
BBERERRIMNERBHRITAAR

BHBEMER-

RITIRE UERE B IRTTFRAERRF
B R B RITHEBR LB BERTFRT
AT ER I 8 WO L V5B R AP ROERTT

Wo

26. €5 B IR

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T AR®ET T

Trade payables B 5 RN FRIE 340,051 237,155

BIRRER EARA A
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December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

26. TRADE PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 26. EZEARIE (&)

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of each REREHB AN E 5 BN RIBED I

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

SEHMRESTT

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBT T

Within 1 month KENER 239,059 185,322
1 to 3 months 1231 A 78,316 31,386
3 to 6 months 3=61E A 16,772 16,710
Over 6 months 61& A LA E 5,904 3,737
340,051 2Mz15S

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
within three months.

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BHRNFKBENTE  —BRR=EARNEE-

27. HitENREREFTEH

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®¥T T AREFT
Salary and welfare payables Rt & REF 96,504 95,845
Other taxes payable H b S B IR 19,480 16,684
Insurance premium payables (note a) FEfS IR E (HMizTa) 334,599 166,179
Accrued expenses eI 10,350 16,873
Payables arising from acquisition of U BE BT B N B EE AR MY B S
subsidiaries (notes 33) I8 (MI5E33) 200 17,778
Payables for intangible assets M & E RN KIA 388 7,821
Accrued listing expenses JEET ETHR Y 9,164 15,096
Withholding tax payable for repurchase of B [0] A] &2 ¥ ] & [5] 48 5 A%
convertible redeemable preferred shares B FE{FEHNER 22,953 22,953
Advance payments received for BL 50 B B AR A LR D B K
subscription of share options (note b) (FfsEb) 9,628 7,114
Others Hib 4,833 771
508,099 367,114
Note a: The balance represents the premiums collected by the Group on MisFa: S&BREREBRNUNZEHFHRRERRAT
behalf of insurance company from the insurance consumers in a MREEEEZEWRBUR G E  HZE AR
fiduciary capacity until disbursed to the insurance carriers. BNRIZ AL
Note b: The amount represented payments received from employees for Miz¥b : S ZIEFRE017EERERE (F

subscribing vested shares under the 2017 Share Option Plan (as
defined in note 32 to the financial statements). As at December
31, 2022, these ordinary shares for these vested share options
are yet to be legally registered and the subscriptions received
from these individuals are recorded as advance payments.

ERVBHREWNFR)BETHEFE

& 7 T 4 I B U ER A 3B o ;R20224F

12A31A - ZECHEERENER

MR AREGEZR B %E EARKER
VRERIBTIARBRR -

Other payables are non-interest-bearing. HENFRIBETTE -
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28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412831H

28. SN EE

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETF T

Contract liabilities BHEE 170,724 167,285

Contract liabilities include advance payment of site management

organisation service and pharmaceutical products.

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

2022

BRAGEBRRESEREBRG MR
BRI

20, EEBIBEEE

Fair value
adjustments
arising from

business
combinations
EBREHELEN
ATEAE
RMB’000

20224 AR¥T T

As at January 1, 2022
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income

202241 A1H
AR EEREMEEREGER

1,519

(184)

At December 31, 2022

R20229F12 A31H 1,335

2021

Fair value
adjustments
arising from
business
combinations
EBEHEED
NEEAE
RMB’000

20214 ARBET T

As at January 1, 2021

Business combinations (note 33)

Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income

202151 H1H
EI5E 0F (FI5E33)
FAGHEEREMAEEKRER

1,363
310

(154)

At December 31, 2021

2021912 A31H 1,519
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30. CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED SHARES  30. mJ & it 7] B& B 8 5 I&

From 2015 to 2021, the Company entered into share purchase
agreements with several independent investors and issued
30,212,766 series A convertible redeemable preferred shares
(“Series A Preferred Shares”), 10,734,346 series A-1
convertible redeemable preferred shares (“Series A-1 Preferred
Shares”), 61,597,648 series B convertible redeemable preferred
shares (“Series B Preferred Shares”), 51,961,063 series C
convertible redeemable preferred shares (“Series C Preferred
Shares”), 68,367,102 series D convertible redeemable preferred
shares, 86,584,964 series D+ convertible redeemable preferred
shares (“Series D+ Preferred Shares”), 191,188,762 series E
convertible redeemable preferred shares (“Series E Preferred
Shares”), 35,928,808 series F convertible redeemable preferred
shares (“Series F Preferred Shares”).

Series A Preferred Shares, Series A-1 Preferred Shares, Series B
Preferred Shares, Series C Preferred Shares, Series D Preferred
Shares, Series D+ Preferred Shares, Series E Preferred Shares
and Series F Preferred Shares are collectively referred to as
Preferred Shares.

Details of the key terms of the Preferred Shares, were set out in
note 31 of Appendix | in the prospectus published on December
12, 2022.

The Group and the Company have designated the Preferred
Shares as whole as financial liabilities carried at FVTPL. The
change in fair value of the Preferred Shares is charged to profit or
loss except for the portion attributable to credit risk change that
shall be charged to other comprehensive income. Management
considered that the fair value change in the Preferred Shares
attributable to changes of own credit risk is not significant.

All issued Preferred Shares had been automatically converted into
536,575,459 ordinary shares upon the successful global offering
of the Company on December 23, 2022 and the then fair value of
financial liabilities of RMB8,924,829,000 had been reclassified to
equity accordingly.
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2015F E2021F ARGl HE T H
% & & 5] L8 AR 1 s I 3% 1730,212,766
% A i 7] 83 6 7] i [0 8 R R ([A B8 5%
B& 1) ~10,734,3460% A-18%s 7] 82 4 7] §5 [0
BERK (A-1wE %K) 61,597,648
BE B iR Al 63 A A] B B L% ([BERE %
B&1) ~51,961,063% C ¥ A] & i 0] f& @]
BER(ICWELR]) 68,367,102/%
D &g 0] 82 ¥ 7] §& 5] (8 ot ¥ - 86,584,964
B% D+ b n] 85 2 0] fE BB £ AR ([D+ W18
SRR 1) - 191,188,762% E & 7] 2 ¥ ] fE
EE%EMR (TEWEERK]) - 35,928,808
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B&) e

ABH1E L% - A18{E LR  BisE L%
CHgBil DRELI D+wEL
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BB = B IR IBE 2022912 A
128 FIZE R R ZER2FIEE— M 5231 o

AEERAAADBELRERIEEA
BATEH AR SR A F- B LK
ATESHEEAING EHERS
5 B D BB R B2 AN
HE-EREEA [ A S ERAR
BHERNEERLTEEDHTA -

RN R FIR2022F12 A23F A ThE T2
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December 31, 2022 2022412831H

30. CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED SHARES 30. mJE#A o EEEE & iR (&)

The movements of the Preferred Shares of the Group are set out REBMBEREEHIWT :
as follows:
SeriesA SeriesA-1  SeriesB  SeriesC  SeriesD  SeriesD+  SeriesE  SeriesF Total
A% A5 B CH D& D+ E& F& @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tn AR¥Tn AR%Tr AR%Trn
At January 1, 2022 R2022%1 A1R 396,667 141,153 814,104 690,498 917,994 1,176,216 2,748,614 549,592 7,434,838
Change in fair value ATERS 66,823 23500 130,562 10674 129,607 149906 171,282 (2693 775260
Exchange adjustments ERAE 39,037 13,882 79,884 67,593 89,455 114,041 260,136 50,703 714,731
Conversion into ordinary shares upon IPO RERRREERBRRLER (502,527)  (178,544) (1,024,550)  (864,265) (1,137,146) (1,440,163) (3,180,032)  (597,602) (8,924,829)
At December 31, 2022 12022F12731A - - - - - - - - -
Series A Series A-1 Series B Series C SeriesD  Series D+ Series E Series F Total
Al A-18 B& C& D& D+& E& F& b
RMB'000  RMB'000  RVMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREBTR AREBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At January 1, 2021 R2021E1 818 192,778 76,279 403,095 389,626 572,219 648491 1,336,244 - 3618732
Change in fair value ATEZE 210,774 78,191 425222 371,421 524,202 549,004 853,640 35974 3,048,428
Issuance for cash BNBRRERS - - - - - - 606330 520416 1,126,746
Repurchase (note a) EEIGETY - (10,745) - (57,763)  (161,291) - - - (229,799)
Bxchange adustments Expe (6,385) @5T) (14213 (2789  (171%) (1279 (47,600 (6,79)  (129.269)
At December 31, 2021 #2021512831A 396,667 141,153 814,104 690,498 917994 1176216 2,748,614 549592 7,434,838
Note a: In April and June 2021, the Company entered into a series of MifTa: M2021F4A K6A AAAEHET

share repurchase agreements with certain of existing holders of
preferred shares to repurchase 1,148,936 Series A-1 Preferred
Shares, 6,110,920 Series C Preferred Shares and 12,000,000
Series D Preferred Shares with reference to the share price of

the latest round of financing immediately before the relevant
repurchase for repurchase consideration of RMB10,745,000,
RMB57,763,000 and RMB161,291,000, respectively.

REBERITAEATIL—RIKRND
B O 155 % 0 DA BE (211,148,936 A- 183
B 5% P% - 6,110,920/ C & & L X
12,000,0000% D &7 18 5o % - 2 BB 24 48
BRI — Rt AR D ER-

EENED R A ARK10,745,000
T AR#S57,763,000t R AR

161,291,0007T °

BIREZEBRERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
g R

December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B
The Company was incorporated in May 2015 with an authorised A E 20155 A s A - A TE IR
share capital of USD10,000 divided into 100,000,000 ordinary /A&10,0003 7T 2 A100,000,0000% & i%
shares (“ordinary shares”) with a par value of USD0.0001 each. E{E0.0001E T EmA% ([Z@EMKR]) -
Shares iz 15
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERTE
763,025,314 (2021: 219,199,231) ordinary 763,025,3148% (20214 :
shares of USD0.0001 each 219,199,231}%) S E
0.00013 T8 & AR 517 138
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RNARIPE ARSI E T
follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
CRITRAEHAE [
RMB’000
AREFTT
At January 1, 2021 7202141 A1H 100,000,000 61
Issue of new treasury shares held in trust 3 {TAEEEENFHET
(note a) i (fifsta) 120,199,231 78
Repurchase of ordinary shares (note b) fEE EmAR (MsEb) (1,000,000) ()
At December 31, 2021 and 72021F12A318 &
January 1, 2022 202241 A1H 219,199,231 138
Issue of shares from IPO (note c) BRXARBEETRG
(Mt3Ece) 9,919,400 7
Repurchase of ordinary share (note d) fE O EmAR (MIsEd) (2,668,776) @)
Conversion of redeemable convertible BRAFEERT]ER A E
preferred shares to ordinary shares BB RE R A T AR
upon IPO (note e) (Mizxe) 536,575,459 374
At December 31, 2022 R2022%F 12 H31H 763,025,314 517
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Shares (Continued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

Note d:

Note e:

From April to June 2021, the Company allotted and issued a
total of 120,199,231 ordinary shares of the Company to certain
special purpose vehicle companies in order to facilitate the
administration of the 2017 Share Option Plan and 2021 RSU
Scheme as set out in note 32 to the financial statements. The
interests of these special purpose vehicle companies are held in
several trusts for the benefit of grantees of 2017 Share Option
Plan and 2021 RSU Scheme.

From April to June 2021, the Company entered into a series of
share repurchase agreements with certain of the shareholders
of the Company to repurchase 1,000,000 ordinary shares and
certain number of preferred shares of the Company based on
the negotiation among parties with reference to the share price
of the latest round of financing immediately before the relevant
repurchase.

On December 23, 2022, the Company issued a total of
9,919,400 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 each at the price of
HK$18.60 per share by means of global offering.

In October 2022, the Company repurchased 2,668,776 ordinary
shares with a par value of USD0.0001 from two special purpose
vehicle shareholders. The repurchased ordinary shares were
reserved for 2017 Share Option Plan and had not been granted
to any eligible award recipient before the repurchase.

All the 536,575,459 outstanding Preferred Shares were
automatically converted into ordinary shares based upon the
completion of global offering on December 23, 2022.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

31. IkR2s (&)
B ()

Mizta :

BizED :

MisEc :

BisEd :

Mizte :

R2021F4AE6 A A2 &M %
THREMNAREE RETEH
120,199,231 AR A Lk - LAEE
I8 B 7 R 5% M SRS AT B MI201 7R B Y
5T & 220214 X BR &l Bk 15 B iz 5

2 ZERHRE B A B /R FE2017
FRERRAE 5T 8 K 20216 5 BRIl % 17 &8
U EINAR A 2 M AL EETE
5

JR2021F4H £6 H » AN A A B A 1 7

HTRBORAT A — R 5 B BB | 157 5%

ANE T2 RELIAEE R AT RA—

WRENRNDERETER BOA
/X &1,000,0008% & @A M H T #EH
BIERL -

R20229F 12238 ' R QR A A B Bk B
E1 7 AT IR18.60%8 TR B 5
776 #£9,919,4008% 4 i% ™ f50.00013E
TR E AR o

M2020% 10 - K2 7 & R % B
B 75 7R 12,668, 776/ S A E
15000012 7T, 40 3 38 A « 9 31 1) 35 3
BT RO MR A BITRE A
FARE I B3 K B T AT A A S
T o

Pt 536,575,459 & #1718 £ IR
2022FF12 23R 2B E KR B B
B R

BRRENEERAT —E=—258% 249
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December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

32.

250

SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN
2017 Share Option Plan

The Company adopted a share incentive plan (“2017 Share
Option Plan”) in 2018, as amended and restated in 2020 and
2021, for the purpose of attracting and retaining the best talents
who promote the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2017 Share Option Plan include the certain
directors of the Company, employees and consultants of the
Group. The Company may grant up to 131,580,321 share options

of the Company under the 2017 Share Option Plan.

Details of specific categories of options granted during the report

period are as follows:

32. R B E
2017 B I REETH 2

AR R R2018F F 4y — B Ik 10 R Ep &t
2l ([2017F B RRAESTEI]) (72020%F
2021 BT REY]) - E RS Rk &
RERNEERNOREAS - 2017F
EREFENGER2EERELAR
AAETES ASEREEREBM -ARQ
A A IRIB2017F R TSR E &S
131,580,321 A~ ] B AR 4 o

R E AR L OB ELBERFIE
LIRS

Number of Exercise price

Date of grant options granted per share Vesting Schedule

& A H REBREHE BRITEE HEREX

May 2021 13,977,309 USDO0.09000 Vesting in the portion of 15%, 20%, 30% and 35%
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the vesting commencement date

202145 A 0.09000% 7T  15% * 20% * 30% K&35% & 53 7 Rl 1A &7 & i 45 A 57
E—FE FZRFNAFTHR

May 2021 200,000 USDO0.09000  Vesting in the portion of 22.5%, 35%, 30% and
12.5% on the first, second third and fourth
anniversaries of the vesting commencement date

202145 A 0.09000%(7C  22.5% * 35% * 30% [ 12.5% & 7 7 5l 74 &5 /& F 4A
BE— F F=RENAFHEB

May 2021 5,585,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in the portion of 0%, 35%, 30% and 35%
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the vesting commencement date

2021954 0.09000Z 7T 0% 35% * 30% }&35% £B 3 7 Bl 1A 57 /88 A 16 B HF
F— FZ FoRFMNBTHRE

May 2021 13,600,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in 48 equal monthly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

202145 A 0.09000% 7T HEMIKBAE 4BEASESHEE

June 2021 19,996,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in 48 equal monthly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

202146 A 0.09000% 7T HEMIKBAE 4BEASESHEE

July 2022 2,208,553 USD0.22000 Vesting in the portion of 35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
vesting commencement date

202247 A 0.22000%7C  35% *30% K35% &b A Al B B % — -
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32. SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)
2017 Share Option Plan (Continued)

32. R EREEE (&)
20175 B R REnT &l (4R)

Number of Exercise price

Date of grant options granted per share Vesting Schedule

A REBRERAR BRTHEE BEREX

July 2022 200,000 USD0.22000 Vesting in 4 equal yearly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

202247 A 0.22000% 7T HERBBHESIFEEIHHR

October 2022 264,000 USDO0.33000 Vesting in the portion of 35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
vesting commencement date

20224104 0.33000% 7T  35%30% K35% #80 H RN FE L B HIZE —
FE=REMBFRE

October 2022 462,500 USDO0.33000 Vesting in 4 equal yearly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

2022%F10H 0.33000% 7w HEFHGABREIIFERESHEE

R ERRRIEERET IR HAIAT

The following share options were outstanding under the share

option plan during the reporting period: FERR R R AR T
Weighted average Number
exercise price* of options
EFEHITEE BREZE
USD per share 000
BRRET 145
At December 31, 2021 and 72021128318 &

January 1, 2022*** 202241 A1 8 =+ 120,503
Granted during the year FARD 0.2455 3,135
Forfeited during the period H R IR 0.0888 3,059
Exercised during the year™ FRITE 1.4700 2,250
At December 31, 2022+ 2022412 A31 A 118,329

BIRRER EARA A
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32. SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)
2017 Share Option Plan (Continued)

*

Company’s share capital.

** In March and May 2021, the Company repurchased 4,000,000 and
1,950,000 vested share options, respectively, granted to certain
directors of the Company and the Group’s employees under the 2017
Share Option Plan at total net considerations of RMB36,922,000 and
RMB16,464,000, respectively after deduction of exercise price. In
September and November 2022, the Company repurchased 199,000
and 2,050,845 vested share options, respectively, granted to the
Group’s employees under the 2017 Share Option Plan at total net
considerations of RMB2,067,000 and RMB21,588,000, respectively
after deduction of exercise price. The repurchase price was determined
based on the fair value of ordinary shares of the Company on
repurchase date with reference to the issue price of recent financing.
The repurchase of vested share options was accounted for as a

deduction from equity.

vehicle companies as detailed in note 31.

The fair value of the share options granted in 2022 amounts to

RMB39,104,000 (2021: RMB577,900,000).

The Group recognised share-based expenses during 2022

amounts to RMB315,852,000 (2021: RMB298,682,000).
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The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the

Certain underlying shares of the options granted under the 2017 Share
Option Plan had already been fully issued through special purpose

32. R EREEE (&)
20175 B e s &l (4R)

*k

BRENTEERAEHRE ARETHA
AEBRA RN AR S EFETHE

2021438 M5 A » N R R R E20174F
BREFEBERSNEOAQAETE
= R A & B & 8% H#94,000,00017 K
1,950,00017 B 57 &8 B B g MR 1T £ (E
RABAREFED B/ ARES6,922,0007T
K A R #16,464,0007T ° 7A202249 F K
1A RRRIRIBE2017F BARAET 2158
Bl 73 7 ) A &2 [ 2 B % HH #9199,00017 K2
2,050,845 . B B BB A4 - FNBRTTE &
& BREFED B/ ARK2067,0007T
K AR #21,588,0007T © B B B T iR B A
NEEBERNECARAORFE 2F
MHMENETEEE - BRCREBE
P A B A 2 B0 HRL

A TRE2017F B IR 8% A BB AR
ERBEZROERBERENRREH
BAT A ARENMEEST

R2022F REMBERENRFES
A R#39,104,0007T (20214 : A R ¥
577,900,0007T) °

AR E 2022 F FE R A M9 A B A A
= AR #315,852,0007T (20214 : A K
#008,682,0007T ) °



32. SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)

2017 Share Option Plan (Continued)

The fair value of share-based payment compensations granted
during the reporting period was estimated as at the date of
grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32. R EREEE (&)

20175 iR e st &l (4R)

EHIRIR 80 AR AR T S S RO $r
ey~ FEREH R BRER - RAEL
fl&T » A& R P A e 1K S AR £ o
TRIRAERNRL g A\ BUE

2022 2021
20224 20214

Expected volatility (%) T8 HA R 18 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [ B2 F 2R (%)
Expected life of options (year) RERR TR AT HARR ()

Weighted average share price
(USD per share)

Expected dividend vield (%) TEHA AR B s K (%)

The expected volatility is calculated by reference to the historical

volatility of comparable companies’ stock prices and reflects

the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future

trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

2021 RSU Scheme

In June 2021, the Company adopted a restricted share unit
scheme (the “RSU Scheme”) to provide incentives for the
directors of the Company and the employees of the Group to
retain them, and to attract suitable personnel for the Group’s
further development. To implement the RSU Scheme, the
Company issued 10,004,000 Ordinary Shares to Sail Far
Holdings Limited in June 2021. On October 25, 2022, the
Company granted 10,004,000 restricted shares held in Sail Far
Holdings Limited under 2021 RSU Scheme to an employee
of the Group, with the vesting terms of 4 years from the grant
date. The RSU shall be vested in the portion of 35%, 30% and
35% on the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the vesting
commencement date. The fair value of each restricted share at
the grant date was determined by reference to the fair value of
the ordinary shares of the Company.

IR (E (BhETT)

36.60%-36.80%
2.88%-4.02%

36.00%-37.00%
1.14%-1.63%

10 10
1.8544 1.6735
0.00% 0.00%

TBEIRIE 2 E LR A RREHESE
MR Et B I BR R SRR 0 A R AR 2K
ZHERE TRLRERER -

20215 Z (R R 10 E {51 2

20216 A * AN 2 A H A X IR i 19
BAFE ([ZREIBMEMFTE) U
HEIARAREERAEE RS ARBER
L WAAEERE—FERRSEGHE
BIAA o BT EITXRBIRMDEMTE
N2 A PA20214F6 A [A) Sail Far Holdings
Limited % 1710,004,0000% & & I ° 7
202210 H25H AR AR #E20214F =
BRI DEMFTEMAERN—ZESR
% ¥ B2 Sail Far Holdings Limited 5 & &)
10,004,000 R #|f& 10 - B EI B &%
 H BB AT A BRI F o 2R I AR 1D BE L
EREBERAESRE - -F=RFENA
5 Bll3R35%  30% K235% H EL 1 57
RIEE BB SRR HIRMD D TFE
THBRERDNREBROAFEETE -
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33.

254

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Beijing Renbo

On December 27, 2021, the Group entered into a share purchase
agreement with the shareholders of Beijing Renbo to acquire
70.00% equity interests from a third party shareholder of Beijing
Renbo at a total cash consideration of RMB14,700,000 and an
estimated contingent consideration of RMB24,467,000. The
remaining 30.00% equity interests are still held by the original
third party shareholder.

Beijing Renbo was founded in 2003. Beijing Renbo is mainly
engaged in the operation of retail pharmacy. The acquisition was
made as part of the Group’s strategy to establish a network of
specialty pharmacies in the major cities of China.

The acquisition was completed on December 31, 2021 when
the Company obtained control of the operating and financing
activities of Beijing Renbo.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Beijing
Renbo as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

33. XA H

=&
M2021F12 A27H - 7&‘% R g
PRI BRI NEBEREAR

%14,700,00075&1&#&%1&?&&#}
24,467,0007T A 58 = 5 IR Ug g 4k =
1570.00% A HE ° £ T~30.00% A% 1) i R
FE=ZHREEEA-

I R ER2003F A b RCHEE

RELETEERE- M&zﬁﬁmﬂ”zﬁ%l
EREFrERTREISBEEEMAENE
BE EH -

W BE A2021 512 A31H 52K R AR A
;JEX SIE R CEREE KB EEN L
|2 o

ERCIBNAIBHEERBERKER
HeAFENT

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
W BB B R SR Y
AFE
Notes RMB’000
ihE=s ARBET T
Cash and cash equivalents Re &fﬁ 5,629
Right-of-use assets EREAE 17 2,057
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets ﬁ‘EH,TAIE H b U FRIA K&
Hitn & E 926
Inventories B 4,056
Property, plant and equipment W R R R 15 75
Other intangible assets Hﬁﬁﬂﬁ/ﬁﬁ 16 1,245
Trade payables B SN /TAIE (6,509)
Other payables and accruals EF@V NRIENETER (1,833)
Dividend payables FERTAR B (1,254)
Lease liabilities fﬂg\fﬁ & 17 (2,057)
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIBEEE 29 (310)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR FEEMARTE AT E 2,025
Non-controlling interests 3?? g ds 607
1,418
Goodwill on acquisition WEEEENEE 37,749
Satisfied by: SENPIE
Consideration payable included in other payables 72021412831 B & A HAth
and accruals as at December 31, 2021 FENTFRIE R ERTE A HY
(B 14,700
Contingent consideration payables JERT S ARAE 24,467
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Beijing Renbo (Continued)

As part of the purchase agreement, contingent consideration is
payable, depending on the achievement of certain net profit target
over a period of 12 months subsequent to the acquisition. The
initial amount recognised was determined using the discounted
cash flow model and is within Level 3 fair value measurement.
The consideration is due for final measurement and payment to
the former shareholders in two batches on September 30, 2022
and March 31, 2023, respectively.

An analysis of the contingent consideration payables in respect of
the liquidity is as follows:

33.
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EBE ot (&)
=& (&)

EBZEBERZN o HRRER
BIEWEEZI2EARNETLEFNBZNE
WBERMEZ - BEERNYIHRSEE
RERREREBRAETF WA RFEIMR
N EFEBE RN -REH 5 552022
FOAB0H K2023F3A31H TR AR
EWHMALABIRE ST -

ERERDESHWERNIARESTIT :

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREF T

Current portion mENEE D 3,677 20,790
Non-current portion EMEIER 2 - 3,677
3,677 24,467

The goodwill is attributable to the acquired human resources and
economies of scale expected from combining the operations
of the Group and Beijing Renbo acquired not under common
control.

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the
present value of the remaining lease payments at the date of
acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount
equal to the lease liabilities and adjusted to reflect the favorable
terms of the leases relative to market terms.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Beijing Renbo is as follows:

BERMKREANE RN HAKE R
PIT Y B R BE 70 SRR ) T AL 18
EBTARELENRERDMES

AEEE A N EEN TN B B
REMEMRENHERG - ERAEE
ERERNHEABNEREE SIFH
AR U RRBERSRTIZIERAE

EXCY &

BRAYBILRCENRERENTIT

RMB’000

ARBF T

Cash and cash equivalents acquired BERERERREEEY 5,629
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in IR & RIRE S EBYHR A F5E

cash flows from investing activities (GFARERFFERERE) 5,629
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33.

34.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
Beijing Renbo (Continued)

Since the acquisition, Beijing Renbo contributed nil to the Group’s
revenue and nil to the Group’s profit for the year ended December
31, 2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year ended December 31, 2021, the revenue from continuing
operations of the Group and the loss of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2021 would have been RMB3,566,865,000
and RMB3,744,250,000, respectively.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT ARE NOT A
BUSINESS

Year ended December 31, 2021

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group acquired
certain assets through acquisition of Shenzhen Nanshan Sipai
clinic Co., Ltd CFIIE L BIRFIZ E, formerly known as &
% B RHBLF9 22 30 Shenzhen Quankang clinic Co., Ltd “Shenzhen
Nanshan Sipai Clinic”), Suzhou Sipai Pharmacy Co., Ltd ( &k
MNEBIRAZEEABR AR, formerly known as &k N T A8 3 [ 5 &
S 5B £ F| %2 B4 J5 5 BR /A 7] Suzhou Laolian Pharmacy Co., Ltd
“Suzhou Sipai”), Hangzhou Sipai Dongyuan Pharmacy Co., Ltd
(MM BIREIE A ZBEREBRR A A, formerly known as fii/H &1
& w3 % K %= A BR A 5lHangzhou Yuhangjjinhetang Pharmacy
Co., Ltd “Hangzhou Dongyuan”), Guangxi Nanning Tongjuntang
Pharmacy Co. Ltd ( EFam ZRE & K&EGR A 5 “Guangxi
Nanning Tongjuntang’), Yantai Runyao Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (/&
EHEREREFR AT ), Tianjin Kangzhong Pharmacy Co., Ltd.
(RAE™E R AZE AR 2 A “Tianjin Kangzhong”), Ningbo
Haishu Bengitang Pharmacy Retail Co., Ltd. (Z )} T /8B AR E
BT & 5 R A 7 “Haishu Bengitang’), Linyi Yixin Pharmacy
Co., Ltd. (Fg/r i B /O K25 B R A A “Linyi Yixin”) and
Changzhi Sipai Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (8B R X ZE B[R A7),
formerly known as &J& JLEE K %4/%E B R 2 7] Changzhi Jiukang
Pharmacy Co. Ltd “Changzhi Sipai”) from independent third
parties. Upon the completion of these acquisitions, the acquired
companies became wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group.
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34.

EBEot (&)
- 1E (&)

B EERE -t RCBE AE E2021F12
AB FFEAEBMNBAERZ TR
AAEENFEERZT T

MEHREZE2021F12A31B L FEH)
BE A HE2021F12A31H IEFER
EBEREFELEEFTHNRARKTEE
B &5 18 8 9 Bl A A R #3,566,865,0007T
T AR #3,744,250,0007T ©

W R 3 3F RS BV B 2 F

BE22021F12A831B L FE

B E2021F12A31H I FE  AEBHE
WA E = WERIIE L BIRP?
B (AT R 2 EEIEPIZE) (R
BLRIRMZ]) sNEBERKEEER
N A (BB RN 77 A8 I (2 15 5 80 R 2 7|
ZEEER AR ([EMBIK]) HM
BIRR B REE AR QA (BIEIIINER
medEXREEBRAR) (MR
) ENREREEREEEGR AR
((ETEEREE]) E=HEANER
ERAG - REMRBARNEFSBR AR
([REER]) BEMEBAREEE
TEFRAF ([FEBARAFE]) BI™
BLOAEEARAA ([BIEV]) R
REBIRAREEAR AR (AIBRAEN
FEREEARAR) ([RARK])UE
ETEE-RZERETKE  FTRE
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT ARE NOTA  34.
BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Year ended December 31, 2021 (Continued)

=
i

i

)

i
1

I I 2 %5 B9 Y B 1 |

2021F12A31H L F E

= —d
(%)
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed after allocation NARXZEZ F®YEFLEIRHZ
of transaction prices of Shenzhen Nanshan Sipai Clinic, Suzhou HMNER - -MMNE ENEERE=E -
Sipai, Hangzhou Dongyuan, Guangxi Nanning Tongjuntang, MeBEREEER R G KEER
Yantai Runyao Pharmacy Co., Ltd., Tianjin Kangzhong, Haishu WBEARGE BEAEORESBIRRNIK
Bengitang, Linyi Yixin and Changzhi Sipai as at the dates of EAHNE B HSBIEENFIAIER
acquisition were as follows: [ESUmNE
Shenzhen Yantai
Nanshan Guangxi Runyao
Sipai Suzhou Hangzhou  Nanning Pharmacy Tianjin Haishu Linyi ~ Changzhi
Clinic Sipai  Dongyuan Tongjuntang  Co., Ltd. Kangzhong Bengitang Yixin Sipai Total
ViEYE S
Ry BERE AER
BRAY  BNBR  ANRR BEE ARAR  REER BEARE BREL  RABK @t
Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RVMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
MaE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBLSEN - - 6 27 348 156 2 2 - 541
Trade and bills receivables BHRUTEREUSE - - - - - 170 17 - 53 240
Right-of-use assets FRELE 17 707 1,647 - - 131 671 657 - 450 4,263
Prepayments, other receivables 518 £t ERFER
and other assets HiAE 229 843 25 290 254 - 62 728 58 2,489
Inventories R 6 . 16 63 1,707 61 87 1,316 - 3,256
Property, plant and equipment nE BEREE 15 - - 1 - 4 - - - - 43
Other intangible assets LBV EE 16 1,747 240 534 309 2,153 2,869 1,111 4298 1,020 14,281
Trade payables EHREATE - - - - (1737) - (195) (2,028) - (3,960)
Other payables and accruals EtERFERENER - (692) (282) (439) (626) (24) (144) (18) (131) (2,356)
Lease liabilties HERE 17 (769) (1538) - - (119) (67) (657) - (450) (4,204)
Total Identiiable assets acquired ~ AERXFBEEKET
and liabilties assumed after BAIEE R
allocation of transaction prices B 1,920 500 300 250 2,153 3232 940 4,298 1,000 14,593
Non-controling interests FiEfRER - - - - 153 - - 343 - 4%
Satisfied by: TRHAR:
Cash consideration paid 220215128318
during the year ended FEZAMRERE
December 31, 2021 576 500 300 250 1,800 3232 940 1,978 100 9,676
Consideration payable included i~ & (B (5 202145
other payables and accruals 12331 M EfER
as at December 31, 2021 FERETER) 1,344 - - - 200 - - 1,977 900 441
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34.

35.

258

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT ARE NOT A
BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Year ended December 31, 2021 (Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the above acquisitions
is as follows:

34. W I8 3 3F R % &Y Y B 2 F

(%%

B £2021F12A31B L FE

(%)

Bl LR RESNIT

Shenzhen Yantai
Nanshan Guangxi Runyao
Sipai Suzhou Hangzhou  Nanning  Pharmacy Tianjin Haishu Linyi  Changzhi
Clinic Sipai  Dongyuan Tongjuntang  Co., Ltd. Kangzhong Bengitang Yixin Sipai Total
yil=pe -]
RYIEL BERE REE
BRMZ  BMER  ANRRE BEE ARAA REER BEARE BREL  RARK #zt
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000O  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cash consideration paid during BZ0021F12A31R LERE
the year ended December 31, 2021 xR ERE 576 500 300 250 1,800 3232 940 1978 100 9,676
Cashand cash equivalents acquied L RBERERAEEEN - 6 27 348 16 2 2 - 541
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents 4 R4 ZEMRLFE
included in cash flows fom investing (G AREEEIFBALR
activities g) 576 500 294 223 1,452 3,076 938 1,976 100 9,135

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES OF OFFLINE CLINIC
SERVICES

In June 2021, to focus on the Group’s core business, the
Group disposed of Spcare Technology Co., Ltd. (the name
was subsequently changed to “Medpion Health Technology
Co., Ltd.” in December 2021, “Medpion Cayman”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Offline Clinic Business”), which wERE mainly
engaged in the clinic business. The Company made a capital
injection of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to RMB258,452,000) into
Medpion Cayman to support the future business development
of the disposal group before transferring all the shares of
Medpion Cayman to the existing shareholders of the Company
in proportion to their shareholdings in the Company at nil
consideration. The disposal of the Group’s Offline Clinic Business
was made by distribution of the shares of Medpion Cayman to
owners of the Group in their capacity as owners. Therefore, the
transaction was accounted for as a deemed distribution of the
Offline Clinic Business to owners of the Group. The excess of
the carrying amount of net assets transferred over the disposal
consideration is recorded in other reserve.
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2021566 A - BE IR AEBHZ L
¥ 75 A% B 1 & Spcare Technology
Co., Ltd. (BE1& M2021F12A E £ &
[Medpion Health Technology Co., Ltd. | -

[Medpion Cayman ) &z H i B A 7]
((BRT2HEL]) (TEREDFMFE
%) o A # Medpion Cayman Ffr & B 7 1%
A2 7] IR A R B P AN R A B AEE B 1 A
TREEETHEER - 422 7] RIMedpion
Cayman 1E H140,000,000% 7t (& 7 A
FR#258,452,0007T ) /F & - A #HFE H
EEBNRREBBE - AEBR TR
FIEBHNEHENEBRRANSEHAE AL
%A A 5155k Medpion Cayman % 17
WA ET B RETIARBRE
MAEBHEEAD KRR TNLNER -8
ENFEEREAEBRBHERENTD
FTAEMEE-
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES OF OFFLINE CLINIC 35. HER TR HE QA

]

The following table summarises the carrying amount of net assets TR EERNEEERmTE:

of the disposal group:

As at the
date of disposal
REEBH
RMB’000
ARBET T
Carrying amount of net assets attributable AEBERGEFEENKREME
to the Group 243,697
The aggregate carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of BTZHRBEHNBARNEEREE
subsidiaries of offline clinic services as at the date of disposal REERHZEEmENT
were:
As at the
date of disposal
RHEEAH
Notes RMB’000
Bt 5T AR®ETF T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEHEY 262,565
Trade and bills receivables 2 5 W RIE R E W R & 3,729
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 8,851
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets &1 ZUIE « £ fth fE U I8 &
H A&7 1,983
Amounts due from related parties and the Group & Uk BB 77 [z 7 = [E 3R IB 101,588
Inventories FE 19
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB MR 15 2,693
Other intangible assets HmmEEE 16 3,884
Trade payables H S e IR (36)
Contract liabilities aHEE (49)
Other payables and accruals HibEMN B R EFEA (2,959)
Amounts due to the Group JERAREE IR (129,817)
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 (8,754)
Net assets attributable to the Group AEBEEGFEE 243,697
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts KRFIEERE B T2RIENNE
of assets and liabilities of subsidiaries of offline clinic services AEIMEERBENLE B HNERERE
approximate to their fair values at the date of disposal. BEHNFEEE-
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES OF OFFLINE CLINIC
SERVICES (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

35. tljg_’j&&??%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%w%@ﬂ

]

RHEMBARNEERESEEYR
HIFRATAT

2021
20214
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries, HEHBATMNERSRE
net of cash disposed of HNREHERS
Cash consideration received during the year FRKEMIESKE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERE RIRITER (4,113)
Capital injection to Medpion Cayman immediately 24 1 & Bii 7] Medpion Cayman #);£ &
before the disposal (258,452)
Net cash outflow through disposal of financing BRNERELTHNHE SR IFE
activities (262,565)

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets of RMB18,691,000 (2021:
RMB64,033,000) and non-cash additions to lease liabilities
of RMB18,691,000 (2021: RMB64,033,000), in respect of
lease arrangements for buildings.

260
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RER AEBEREFHELH
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#18,691,0007T (20214 : AR &
64,033,000t) R HEBEIFH R E
# 0 & A R #18,691,0007T (2021
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412831H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

36. S RERMEBRME (F)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

(b) %ﬂﬁiﬁiﬂgﬁlﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ@

activities
2022 20224
Accrued
listing Advance
expenses payments
Convertible including  received for
redeemable in other  subscription
preferred Lease payables of share
shares liabilities and accruals options
FERt LRI
(FTAEA BB
@R EARER BREKR
AEEELER HEEE EtER) :0EE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%Tn AR¥TR AR%Tn
At January 1, 2022 202251 A1H 7,434,838 87,018 15,096 7,114
Changes from financing cash flows ~ B{& R &R EE - (34,104) (13,384) 2,514
Changes from operating cash flows 2B FE % - - (29,478) -
Exchange adjustment TR 714,731 - - -
Change in fair value AHEZH 775,260 - - -
Conversion to ordinary shares EWNGE b
upon IPO Rl (8,924,829) - - -
Accretion of interest recognised FARROFSIEM
during the year - 4,041 - -
New lease addition g - 18,691 = =
Termination of lease KIERE - (5,015) - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBLR - (379) - -
Lease concessions HERE - (2,488) - -
Decrease in deferred listing expenses & iE 5 SR - - (6,885) -
Increase in listing expenses including 7 5 7 12 A1
in capital reserve (FFAEARGERE) - - 21,845 =
Increase in listing expenses including _E 7 B 712 1
in administrative expenses (FTAfTERY) - - 21,970 -
At December 31, 2022 2022612 A31H - 67,764 9,164 9,628

BIREZEBRERAR
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-
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December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. SRS RERMEE (&)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) RETHEHNEES
activities (Continued) B ()
2021 20214
Accrued
listing Advance
expenses payments
Convertible including received for
redeemable in other  subscription
preferred Lease payables of share
shares liabilities  and accruals options
EEt MR X
(Gt AEA B R
gk BNZER  BEREKR
EEHEL-A HEGRE FESTER) RPN

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETE ARETE ARETR

At January 1, 2021 7202151 A1H 3,618,732 63,587 - -
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BER & HE% 919,900 (38,221) (3,983) 7,114
Changes from operating cash flows £ 2B FE % - - (16,308) -
Exchange adjustment [ 5 A (129,269) - - -
Change in fair value NEEEE 3,048,428 - - -
Payables arising from repurchase B [B] 7] 82 42 ] & [B] (8 5 %

of the convertible redeemable EEREMRE

preferred shares (22,953) - - -

Accretion of interest recognised FRBROFSEM

during the year - 3,688 - -
New lease addition A& - 64,033 - -
Increase arising from acquisition of 4R K1 B 1\ A) B B AL N

subsidiaries - 6,261 - -
Termination of lease KRS - (3,576) - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - (8,754) - -
Increase in deferred listing expenses & {E £ 1 5 7 5 A1 - - 6,885 -
Increase listing expenses including in ~_E 77 B 7 1 41

administrative expenses (FTAfTERY) - - 28,497 -
At December 31, 2021 R2021612A318 7,434,838 87,018 15,096 7,114

262 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022



36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR I

December 31, 2022 2022412831H

36. SHFREMEBRME (

it

)

(c) HERTRHARE

AAARERERNEERSRH

of cash flows is as follows: HBEWT
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Within operating activities BREEEE 4,259 5,998
Within financing activities BRREEE 34,104 38,221
38,363 44,219

37. &iE

37. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of

each reporting period:

REBREHR NEEEGATEARE:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®ETTT
Contracted, but not provided for: EEEMER ST E
Purchases of property, BEWME WENMEE
plant and equipment 399 578
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Names and relationships

38. AR5
() BBRER

264

Name of related parties

Relationship with the Group

B E A8 BEAKENER
Sinopharm Holdings Smart Pharmacy (Hubei) Co., Ltd Associate

(E R R AZE (i) ARAE)
B BERAZRE Ol AR AT

Tencent Cloud (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
RAEAE (R BREERA

Tencent Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AR ORI BR A A

Tencent Technology (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.
AR () AR 2 T

Shenghen Tencent Venture Base Development Co., Ltd.
YT AIEE M ERBR AT

Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems Co., Ltd
RN EA B ERER QA

Tenpay Technology Company Limited
B AR BR AR

Medpion Cayman and its subsidiaries

Medpion Cayman & £ i B A &

Beijing Kangnuo Medical Investment Management Co., Ltd.

(triEmERREEERARAR)
ERBEHEBFEREEEARAT

*

during the years 2022 and 2021.

*%

financing.

disclosed as a related party by the Group.

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022

Tencent was a major shareholder of the Company
which owned over 20% voting rights of the Company

Medpion Cayman and its subsidiaries were voluntarily
disclosed as related parties by the Group since June
23, 2021 with the disposal as set out in note 35 to
the financial statements because the shareholding
structure of Medpion Cayman substantially mirrored
the Company’s shareholding structure before Series F

Beijing Kangnuo Medical Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. was a major shareholder of Beijng Renbo before
the date of acquisition and Beijing Kangnuo Medical
Investment Management Co., Ltd. was voluntarily

N

Controlled by Tencent*

= Fike

Controlled by Tencent*

F B AR )

Controlled by Tencent*

F B R R 1

Controlled by Tencent*

F e AR

Controlled by Tencent*

F B R R 1

Controlled by Tencent*

F e AR

Entities controlled by same
shareholders of the Group™*

mAEEERRRE N E B
Minority shareholder**
BB

* R2022% 20214 - g A&
NN RN = I = NN
AII20% 1% 24 -

*  Medpion Cayman N EEB A
A1 B8 & 1 7% & £} B 5E35AT it
My H & B202146 A23H 1%
AEBEBREEERBEE T
[ A & Medpion Cayman &A%
BEBEE FRMARFIE
F % Bt & Bl 89 A A 2045 -

o ERBERBEREEEAR
REIR YRR B IR Ade =
BRI R - 4t AR5 &
BIREEEAR N E BB
BERAAEE R o



38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Significant related party transactions

In addition to the disposal of Medpion Cayman and its
subsidiaries as detailed in note 35, the Group had the
following material related party transactions during the year
ended December 31, 2022:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

38. B LS (&)

(b)

EXBABARS

% & & Medpion Cayman & £ i B
~AE) (FIBHRKEES5) 98 A&
B RN & E2022F12A318 IEF &
E#TUATERBH AR S

2022 2021

20224 20214F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR®TR ARBTT

Sales of products HEER

Associate N A (@) 580 671

Rendering of services R AR %

Associate /NG (@) - 475

Controlled by Tencent EE Jié Bkl @) 133 6,843

Medpion Cayman and Medpion Cayman

its subsidiaries Hift B A F (@) - 2,101

133 9,419

Purchase of technology BERMXERSE

support services
Controlled by Tencent FA BB SR & (b) 922 1,772
Purchase of consulting BEZHARE

services
Medpion Cayman and Medpion Cayman }2

its subsidiaries BB QA (b) 5,660 1,754

Purchase of payment services & E % {1 R§

Controlled by Tencent R g RRIE &l (b) 4,920 3,682

Notes: Mzt :

(@ The sale to an associate and the service rendered to an @ MBEAFETHNHEERABERR
associate, entities controlled by Tencent and entities controlled HEREHNETENHAAEBNER HQ
by same shareholders of the Group were based on arm’s length AN B IR HN RS T R ANEEE
negotiation between the Group and an associate or between the B N TSNS B B R B AT PR I ) R
Group and entities controlled by Tencent on a cost-plus basis WA E K2EXREFBD TRE
with reference to the expected cost of promotion work that HWE TENTEEIKN A A FEERGET -
Group have completed.

(o)  The directors consider that the purchases of services from (b)

entities controlled by Tencent were based on arm’s length
negotiation between the Group and entities controlled by Tencent
with reference to market rates.

EERR MABHZENNHERE
T TR A 5 [ L ph R eI U Y B B8
MISEREATEREE -

il
2%
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

266

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

38. WA X5 (&)

(c) HEH AT 2B KRER
BRER

2022 2021
20226 20214
Notes Nature RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 & ARET R ARETT
Amounts due from related FEWERH S A
parties:
Trade and bills receivables ESEUFERELRRE
Associate il UNS (@) trade
g% - 130
Controlled by Tencent F B (o) trade
g% - 4083
Medpion Cayman and Medpion Cayman } (b) trade
its subsidiaries HINB A 85 - 2,227
Other receivables Hitt YR IR
Medpion Cayman and Medpion Cayman (© non-trade
its subsidiaries HINB A *E5 - 4,639
Prepayments BAME
Controlled by Tencent A B AR (d) trade
2% 883 267
883 7,666
Amounts due to related ERBRELRE:
parties:
Other payables HibERFE
Associate k=N () trade
25 613 1,232
Medpion Cayman and Medpion Cayman & (f) non-trade
its subsidiaries EMERA) #E5 - 392
Medpion Cayman and Medpion Cayman } @ trade
its subsidiaries HIRB AR g5 1,727 -
Controlled by Tencent B B AL d) trade
25 41 -
Dividends payables ERRE
Beijing Kangnuo Medical IR BREEREER non-trade
Investment Management ARARE *E5
Co., Ltd. - 1,254
2,381 2,878
The balances with related parties are unsecured and BT Sy Ea BEEAR
non-interest-bearing. 4 E o
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties
(Continued)

(d)

Notes:

(@)

@)

The outstanding balances are receivables for the sale of goods
and provision of service.

The outstanding balances are receivables for the provision of
service.

The outstanding balances are receivables for service fee
collected from a third party by Medpion Cayman and its
subsidiaries on behalf of the Group before the disposal of
Medpion Cayman and its subsidiaries as detailed in note 35.

The outstanding balances are receivables for the purchase of
cloud servers.

The outstanding balances are payables for the settlement of
price adjustment compensation.

The outstanding balances are payables for payments by the
related parties on behalf of the Group.

The outstanding balances are payables for the provision of health
management service.

Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group:

38.
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REL X5 (&)
() ERRAEE S M REBF
BREE: (&)

B3

@ AKREELEHASFHBEEE®RERRSE
) 8 KUK IR o

b) KEELHAEBIRERSHEYRIE -

©  KEELHRHEMedpion Cayman &
EFf B A R (FFl A I 5E35) AT - Medpion
Cayman & E M B A BIR R AERA— 4
55 = 77 R B AR 75 2 R USRI

d KEELEHABEZRFRSNERRIE

© AEELEBAEEERABHENEN

I

fh REEEKRSABITRRASENRN
FEAS5RIA ©

@ AKREELEH/RHBEEEREHEN

I

d XEEFEZEEBEAEDN
A -

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e B4 FRMM
benefits in kind EWMEN 6,632 6,174
Pension scheme contributions RIS FIEIHK 140 133
Share-based payment compensation  SABX 17 & EL 6 S 15 59 3 B 227,937 218,769
Total compensation paid to key SHFEEEEAEN
management personnel B Pk 234,709 225,076
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s BEBREEHMNE —FSHEBEHR
emoluments are set out in note 10 to the financial B 7R M 3E10 o
statements.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

268

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

39. BEHIE S HEMT A
EESMT AR SR EHRNREELD

instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as follows: T
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets SREE AR®8T T AREFTT
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATEFABERZS
Wealth management products BB E - 1,067,321
Financial assets at amortised cost: R KA AR
Trade and bills receivables B 5 M WRIE & R R IR 241,256 171,195
Financial assets included in prepayments, &+ AFBAT 208 - E b B UL X
other receivables and other assets BRHMWEENEREE 102,630 118,969
Time deposits TE BiTF 3K 75,146 5,048
Pledged deposits BT 76,170 -
Cash held on behalf of client REFEAMERS 334,599 166,179
Amounts due from related parties JIE K A Bt 75 SR IR 883 7,666
Cash and cash equivalents HekReFEY 1,455,454 535,849
2,286,138 1,004,906
Financial liabilities SRBE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL: BATFEFABZS
AR
Convertible redeemable preferred shares 7] #834 A] 8 8148 4 A% - 7,434,838
Contingent consideration payables RS ARE 3,677 24,467
3,677 7,459,305
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REIEKATTERN
EHEE:
Trade payables B 5 RN FRIR 340,051 237,155
Financial liabilities included in AT AE A FET FRIE K
other payables and accruals EErEANEHAE 359,534 224,518
Amounts due to related parties FEAST BB 5 IR 2,381 2,878
701,966 464,551
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, cash held on behalf of client, time deposits, pledged
deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade payables, financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, amounts due from related parties, amounts due to related
parties, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
and lease liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the financial director
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At the end
of each reporting period, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The directors review
the results of the fair value measurement of financial instruments
periodically for financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The Group invests in unlisted investments, mainly composed of
wealth management products and monetary fund provided by
banks in Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair value
of these unlisted investments by using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments
with similar terms and risks.

The fair values of the convertible redeemable preferred shares
measured at FVTPL are determined using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. Further details are set out in note 30 to the
financial statements. The fair value of contingent consideration
payables is determined using the discounted cash flow method.
Further details are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

40.
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TENRAFERRFE

gl k>
S

&

EEENERA BekReFEY:
REFHANRES THMEX CEM
FR-EBHREFAREKRER B5
JE A BR - 5E A TR BUIE ~ H A R MR
BNEMEENTREE BT
TR FE T RA RS J7 5O0R - 5T A B AR EAS
RENEFEANSRABLREERE
MAFEEEREERE T2REZ
ZE T ANHIREE

1
_H

AEEFBHA (M BRERE)BR
BEremIARNHEAENERMERF-
REREHR BBHO TSR T AR
EBEZH TETANEENTIEGA
BR-EFTHEMNERTANRAYFE
AEER NETHB®RE -

TREENBENATERIAESR
B ZBAMETR S (T RIEERHIHE
BRES)PAXBNSEAR -EFA
FEMERAB AR BRRT

AEBBREFLETKRE T2REP
AHIRITIRENEMNERLEEES -
AEBEDRIEAA BRI KL ER T
BEMmGrE RAMBERSREME
BRI ZFF LM IREN R FE.

WA ER ABmR A SR E O E kL
PRy RS B N e —&F B HT iR
EREE £ —FHFBHERPBIRE
B FE30 - JEfF S AR BRI R FETIE R
ReERMBEETE £ —FFHBFHRY
TR MIEESS o
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair values (Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

ARG AREREEREERRED

Sensitivity of fair

Range value to the input

DN EHB@A
BHE HENSRE

sensitivity analysis as at the end of each reporting period: i N
Valuation Significant unobservable
technique inputs

BERFAHE
HER & WABE

Contingent consideration Discounted cash  Probability of achievement of

payables flow method net profit target

JERTSARE wRBAREE BRFNEEEOHE

Note a: 10% increase/decrease in probability of achievement of net profit ffzEa :

target, with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the fair value of contingent consideration payables by
RMB2,833,000/RMB2,627,000 as at December 31, 2022 (2021:
RMB2,719,000/RMB2,310,000).

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s financial instrument:

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

As at December 31, 2022

90% note a
Msta

EREEMABRARRETENE
T BRFAEB EBE R M,
B A10% 0 ¥ 5202212 531 A &+
FARREORFEEMHIAR
#£2,833,0007T " A & #2,627,0007T
(20214 : AR #2,719,0007T /AR
#2 310,0007T ) °

DNFEER
TRHEBAEESRTANATFAENE

Bk

BAFEAENEENAR:

20225128318

Fair value measurement using

ERANATEENDFEE

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
ERTIS

RE
(%Z14)
RMB’000
ARET R

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EXTER
BAZE
(%28%)
RMB’000
ARBTR

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3) Total
EAFAEE
BAYE
(%3%) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR

Financial liabilities tHARE
Contingent consideration payables JEf+ 3 AR (E -

3,677 3,677
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s financial instrument: (continued)

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value: (continued)

As at December 31, 2021

40.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

ERMTANAVFERAFE
B (&)
NFERR (&)

BAFEAENEERAE: (B)

#20215F12831H

Fair value measurement using

FERNTEEN N FEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HBTS BEAAER EASTHE
BE BARE BAZE
(F18R) (Z28) (F3%) @at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT AREFTT ARETR
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABREN
SREE - 1,067,321 - 1,067,321
Financial liabilities tRARE
Convertible redeemable AR REE B LR
preferred shares - - 7,434,838 7,434,838
Contingent consideration payables JE 3 AR (E - - 24,467 24,467
- - 7,459,305 7,459,305

During the reporting period, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities
(2021 Nil).

RERRN eMEENTREENF
WEAER N F{E & 2 B EEE IR
I A B8 B34 (20214F « ) -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits, pledged deposits, financial
assets at FVTPL and convertible redeemable preferred shares.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from from financing activities by subsidiaries in currencies
other than the subsidiaries’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of each
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the USD and
HKD exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s loss before tax (arising from USD and HKD denominated
financial instruments) and the Group’s equity (due to changes in
the fair value of forward currency contracts).

4. cREREEBERBEEK

AEENTFESRIEAERS RS
FEY THREX DHERER BLF
BEFF AR & B E & & ] 0 A] g O]
BER - ZEZERIANTEANER
AEBENELEERES AEEHEEFS
BEMSRMEENBE WEERRALE
EENE ZRUBKBEREREEARE
DI FRIR -

AEBeRMTAEENT ZRRAINE
R FERBRERDECAR -EF
SEHNYREERE L& RARABER
BRABRBRT -

5 BEE L B

AEBFEEXZEEEER - BARER
BRI BT B8 2 B AP BB 2 B Th a2 & LA MY
ERETRE RS MESL

TRINRN & &S R P A H ] &
REERFTENBER T NEBHRT
AIEE (AXTRABTHEN SR TR
EX)RAEENES (RERERS
MR TFEEFMB)EETRETE
RKHRAEA B HNHRE -

Increase/
(decrease) (Decrease)/
in rate Increase (Decrease)/
of foreign in loss increase
currency before tax in equity
EBEEH FREL AT B B xR
(TK&) (TH)/EtH (TH)/ LtH
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRE  ARBTR
2022 20224
If RMB weakens against USD M AR R ETRE 5 (7) (7)
If RMB strengthens against USD il A R#E 3 X T FHE (5) 7 7
If RMB weakens against HKD MAREREBILEE 5 (7,402) (7,402)
If RMB strengthens against HKD ~ fifi A R #E 338 T FHE (5) 7,402 7,402
2021 20214
If RMB weakens against USD MARBHETLIEE 5 (36) 32)
If RMB strengthens against USD il A R#E X T FHE (5) 36 32
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. 2 RiE KM EEBEER K E
POLICIES (CONTINUED) (48)
Credit risk EERE
An impairment analysis was performed at reporting period using a RPERRE NG A REEEETR
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision Bof U EBHEEEE -BEXR
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various TR EARNBEET RS AFEUEEE
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects NS EAEBAGE sTE BN
the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money and AR EEEERELASRSE B E
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the SEMEMBBAESH  ZRIRNEREK
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts EARRTER M ASIE R ERE R -
of future economic conditions.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging EeEBENERERER
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRKIERAAI2AIIEBNEEEEZLER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which AREBZERENESZERE (FE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information HER@aEER BRIFETBZRAELE
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HENAIESH M ER) LR F RATER
classification as at 31 December. EEPnfE-
At December 31, 2022 20225128311
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B & 5
FEBR FEOEHEERSE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F1RER FRER HIREER K @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TE AR¥Tn AR¥TR AR¥Tz AR%Tx
Trade and bills receivables* EoRUFEREKEE" - - - 253,507 253,507
Contract assets* BWEE" - - - 98,613 98,613
Financial assets included in AR FE  EAb R
prepayments, other receivables  FUER H M EEH
and other assets TREE 102,630 - - = 102,630
Time deposits EHFR 75,146 - - - 75,146
Pledged deposits EERER 76,170 - - - 76,170
Cash held on behalf of clients REFHEMRS 334,599 - - = 334,599
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEEEY 1,455,454 - - - 1,455454
2,043,999 - - 352120 2,396,119
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. £ BiEKREE A ERBX

POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging EoREEEERFEREBR
(Continued) (&)
At December 31, 2021 2021512H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A A
FEBE FENEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1ER FRER RIER B @t

RVB'OO0O ~ RVMB'O00 ~ RMB'O00 ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Trade and bills receivables* B RNFER EREE - - = 179,868 179,868
Contract assets* BREE" - - - 107,013 107,013
Financial assets included in AR E bk
prepayments, other receivables  FUB R E i EEH
and other assets SREE 121,180 - - - 121,180
Amounts due from related parties &4 B % 5 2B 7,399 - - - 7,399
Time deposits TEHER 5,048 - - - 5,048
Cash held on behalf of clients REPHANRE 166,179 - - - 166,179
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBeEEY 535,849 - - - 535,849
835,665 - - 286,881 1,122,536
* For trade and bills receivables and contract assets to which the Group * MAEBFERBCHAETHRENE S
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on TEWRBEBREREENAEHEEMS
the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the financial ERBEEEANERD IR & REN
statements, respectively. T2 N o3 FE o
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the debtor
° a breach of contract such as a default or past due event

° it is probable that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment
of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in
the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial
instrument.

Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical settlement records and past
experience. The Group recognised allowance for financial assets
other than trade and bills receivables based on 12-month ECLs
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.

41,
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BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

%% BB E
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ERLE-HASHES HEMEEW
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CREECEERE-2RMEECREE
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BEEERKE

Bl
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b

o  EHALBRBREMKRANE
o EX PlImIERIEEIN REM
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December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

276

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of internally generated
cash flows from operations and lease liabilities. The Group
regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has

adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities and lease
liabilities as at the end of each reporting period, based on the

N emEREEAERER

(%)
REE = @k

AEEN B R EBERRIEENE

2HeRENHERRE

BB R M 2 R Y 17 - AR B E Him
NETRESMN  URRESR BRI
BERBETEMBGEE-

REBREHR AEBEeRBENREE
BEERSHORMBANRNIHRBE NN

contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows: S8
Group NEE
2022
20224
Less than 3to 12 1to5 More than
3 months months years 5 years Total
TE3MEA  3E12(8A 1255 HEB5E @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR
Trade payables BoRNZE 340,051 - - - 340,051
Financial liabiliies included in SAEMENTIER
other payables and accruals EERAMESRAE 359,534 - - - 359,534
Contingent consideration payables ~ [ER S AR E 4,200 - - = 4,200
Amounts due to related parties JERTBAME 508 2,381 - - - 2,381
Lease liabilities HEEE 8,533 22,021 39,366 985 70,905
714,699 22,021 39,366 985 777,071
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

41,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

CREAREEABRKE

(&)

REBETER (&)

Group AEE
2021
20214
Less than 31012 1105 More than
3 months months years 5 years Total
AE3EAR  3=12f8A 1255 HRAsE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETFT ARETR
Convertible redeemable AT BB 0B T ik
preferred shares - - - 7,434,838 7,434,838
Trade payables BoRNZE 237,155 - - - 237,155
Financial liabiliies included in AR ERFIER
other payables and accruals EtERRNEREE 224,518 - - - 224,518
Contingent consideration payables R s AR (B - 23,100 4,200 - 27,300
Amounts due to related parties [ BE B 7R 2,878 - - - 2,878
Lease liabilities HEEE 9,211 27,482 55,589 081 93,263
473,762 50,582 59,789 7,435,819 8,019,952
Capital management ERXEE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

AEBEREANEEZRRARERE
BRELENREN LHFIBROER
R - UXHBEEBRSEREERA
(o

AEBRBEEERRE L RABEERN
RS EEEARBIYELARE A
SRS AR AEEAEAE
MR TS - AR R R 8 B A
BATHRAD c REBAF T 4M 305 H0
B E R B SKA) R - A8 £20226F 2021
FI2ABBLLFE EBERANERZR:
BRI ER S -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. £ BiEKREE A ERBX

POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Capital management (Continued) BEARAEE (&)
The asset-liability ratios as at the end of each reporting period are NEREANEEEB B RN T :
as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Total assets BEE 2,929,554 2,892,819
Total liabilities watE 1,095,422 8,323,729
Asset-liability ratio BEBMERE 37% 288%
Note: Asset-liability ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets MizT: EEABEXRLKEAERINGEEERRE
and multiplying the product by 100%. LA100% 715 ©
42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 42, EHAEREIE
The Group held 35% equity interests in Sinopharm Holdings B E=2022F 128318 AEEEE
Smart Pharmacy (Hubei) Co., Ltd (Bl Z&42 8 B 5 A ZEE (Gif BT B K &R (Bib) BR A A
ib) AR A 7)) (“Sinopharm SP Hubei”) as of December 31, (TR ) 8935% A& - 732023
2022. On January 6, 2023, the Group acquired further 45% equity F1A6H AEENAERESREBEARE
interests of Sinopharm SP Hubei from third party shareholders 3,218,0007C A 5 = /7 IR SR — 2P I B
for a total cash consideration of RMB3,218,000. Sinopharm SP Z¥E BRH 3E45% A% o B A9 15 AR OB L X
Hubei became an non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The BREBHIEREWEB AT - Yk JHig
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand BAREFRETFRFENMIERSELEE
the network of specialty pharmacies in major cities of China. IS RASVEL -

278 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 42, FEHESIE (&)

(CONTINUED)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of B 1 AR R Al S BB E R B E R U
Sinopharm SP Hubei as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BHEAAFEN T :
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
W B B FE SR AN
AFE
RMB’000
ARBTTT
(unaudited)
(REsEZ)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEED 6,008
Trade and bills receivables 2 5 MWK & R W R B 171
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TERT IR - KRB R & E 696
Inventories FE 3,648
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB K EEE 120
Other intangible assets HEtErEE 740
Deferred tax assets BETIBE E 2
Trade payables =0 N (5,725)
Other payables and accruals HEMENFIBEREREA (266)
Deferred tax liabilities REHIEAE (185)
Amounts due to related parties JE 1~ B G 5 SR8 (2,749)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AIBRFEESE RATE 2,460
Non-controlling interests FEIERR M 492
1,968
Goodwill on acquisition WIEEENREE 2,111
Satisfied by: SANPIE-VE
Previously held interest in an associate before RN RI R B E AR AR
the acquisition 861
Cash consideration paid in January, 2023 MR2023F1 A A HIRSRE 3,218
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42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

The fair values of the trade and bills receivables as at the date
of acquisition amounted to RMB171,000 (unaudited). The
gross contractual amount of trade and bills receivables was
RMB171,000 (unaudited). The goodwill is attributable to the
acquired human resources and economies of scale expected
from combining the operations of the Group and Sinopharm SP
Hubei acquired not being under common control.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Sinopharm SP Hubei is as follows:

42, HEWREE (F)

RURE R B 5 EKNEE R ERER
BN FEEAARE171,00070 (KEE
%) BEEKRFEREREENELD
45 A AR B171,0007T (RETAZ) o
HERMUBANERRE HAERR
FIT U B 9 2R B A FE R #2811 T B B 8 22 A%
AL TR R E £ R B mEE -

BRANBENEROAILNRSREDT
LUNNE

RMB’000

ARBT T

(unaudited)

(REsEZ)

Cash consideration paid in January, 2023 M2023F1 A RIS RE (3,218)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired EWEReRREEEY 6,008
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in R4 RIRE ZE WK A FEE

cash flows from investing activities (GTAKREEZBMSHEERAE) 2,790
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December 31, 2022 2022412 H31H

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. AR R P BT T

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the AN BRI A HI R B B #5003/ B R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: NS
2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR¥T T AREEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB R RIMIRE 3,728,169 3,546,313
Total non-current assets IERBEELE 3,728,169 3,546,313
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables T8/ ZIE « E b & W FRIE
and other assets LHMEE 375 77
Amounts due from subsidiaries BT B A 7l B 155,222 425,611
Cash and cash equivalents BeMkIReEEY 1,279 298
Total current assets MEEERE 156,876 425,086
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals HER KRB REFEA 30,332 30,550
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAST B /B A B FRIE 64,264 410,420
Total current liabilities mENBERTE 94,596 440,970
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ RBEE(AE)FE
(LIABILITIES) 62,280 (14,984)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBES
CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,790,449 3,531,329
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥RBE&RE
Convertible redeemable preferred 7] 8 a] B [0] 48 4t A%
shares - 7,365,510
Total non-current liabilities IERBaERE - 7,365,510
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/(AfE)FHE 3,790,449 (3,834,181)
EQUITY =
Share capital B A< 514 138
Reserves i 43 3,789,935 (3,834,319)
Total equity/(deficit) B (B4 85 3,790,449 (3,834,181)
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December 31, 2022 2022412 A831H

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. X R R H BT T (&)
COMPANY(CONTINUED)
The balances of the Company’s (deficits)/reserves and the WEEN AR TR (B4 FEimses
movements therein for the reporting period are presented as KM EEEFD RO
follows:
Foreign

Share-based currency
Other payment translation Accumulated

reserve reserve reserve losses Total
NR#% A
HEH HERE
Httfgg  XARE wE  REER @t

RMB'000O ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETL ARETR

At January 1, 2021 R202151A18 ~ 166607 103320  (1,021,102)  (751,166)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2ERTEE

for the year - S 132370 (3192311)  (3,059,941)
Share-based payment compensation A B 17 75 E: 5 5 1< &) 57 B - 298,682 - - 298,682
Repurchase of the vested BREREERE

share options (25,591) (27,795) - - (53,386)
Repurchase of the ordinary shares 8 01L& 3 ik (10,056) - - - (10,056)
Disposal of subsidiaries of offline HERTL RS

clinic services (note 35) =N ERD) (258,452) - - - (258,452)
At December 31, 2021 and 20215124318 &

January 1, 2022 202241 A1A (294099) 437494 235699 (4213413 (3,834,319
Total comprehensive expense FREAERLLH

for the year - ~(720268)  (928,727)  (1,648,995)
Conversion of redeemable BALHEERTER

convertible preferred shares AERELRERA

into ordinary shares upon IPO Lam 8,837,683 - - - 8,837,683
Net proceeds of issue of shares BRLABEETRG

from IPO FriS R R 143,369 - - - 143,369
Repurchase of the vested BODREERE

share options (18,223) (5,432) - - (23,655)
Share-based payment compensation LA R A EEHE 57 f+ & 27 B 315,852 - - 315,852
At December 31, 2022 202212 A31H 8,668,730 747,914 (484,569)  (5,142,140) 3,789,935

44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44. #tEB IR KR

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue NEFT ST/ NR2023F3R1I5HREE =
by the board of directors on March 15, 2023. HEHE R SR T1) 3% o
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DEFINITIONS
B

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the RARFHA BXERBAIEIN THFAZR
following expressions shall have the following meanings. BUATHE-

“AGM”
[BRBFEANE]

“Audit Committee”

EZE3 k-

“Board of Directors” or

“Board”
[EFw)

“BVI”
[(REBRELES]

“CG Code”
[XER<TAl

“China” or “PRC”

[ B )

“Company”, “our
Company”

[ E]]

“Contractual
Arrangements”

[& KB

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Global Offering
[2EREE]

“GP(9)"

[2HE L]

»oow

“Group”, “our Group”,

” o,

“our”, “we”, or “us”

[ ) = T3]

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Monday, June 26, 2023
RATRER2023F6 A26H (B ) BITHORRBEF RS

the audit committee of the Board
EEgERLEE

the board of Directors

58

IS

the British Virgin Islands
RERIES

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

ER RIS+ A [ E AT A

the People’s Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this interim results
announcement and for geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan

PEARANE BAPHREELEREHBELEM S TEEEE RFES

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd., an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on May 19, 2015 )
BIRERH AR AR R2015F5 198 IRIER SRS EEZFMA LN ER RS
R~ 7]

the series of contractual arrangements entered into between, among others, the
WFOE, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the Registered Shareholders, as
detailed in “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus and as amended, restated,
renewed, reproduced or joined from time to time

H(HPBE)IINEEELE GEBBERBNMELCRRI VN —RIGHTH &7
AABRER [GHTHE]  KETREE] B B3 BRI MA

the director(s) of the Company or any one of them

ARRABEZHEPEA—RES

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering
EENHABEENBEREE

the general practitioner who treat common medical conditions and refer patients to
hospitals and other medical services for urgent and specialist treatment
BEBRARITGEEELSEBRE RAMBERGEEBETESRERAENS
Fig

the Company and all of its subsidiaries, or any one of them as the context may require
or, where the context refers to any time prior to its incorporation, the business which
its predecessors or the predecessors of its present subsidiaries, or any one of them
as the context may require, were or was engaged in and which were subsequently
assumed by it

RRARIREFBHMERAR SHAER—FEAR (AXEME) K (AXEEELTM
BCSZ AT RIS ) HAT S s KRG B A AR & - sk AR EA— AR (X
BRI N E R A B R EAENER
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“Hong Kong”
(&5

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

[T
“IFRS”
[ PR B 5 ¥R 5 2RI

“Listing”
Wshil

“Listing Rules”
[ EmR 81
“Model Code”
REEaSwElN

“Reporting Period”
[#REH ]

“Prospectus”

[HRER]

“RMB”

(AR

“Share(s)” or
“Ordinary Share(s)”

(A0 | sk [ mA

“Shareholder(s)”
P& R ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 22 FfT |

“Tencent”
[ Em ]

“Tencent Group”
(SR

“United States” or “U.S.”

EE

"US$’
ESA

II%U
[% ]
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the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P EEFBRRTTRER

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
DRRETRAEN BEEEEYE

International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued from time to time by the
International Accounting Standards Board
B0 1 L BB o N 2 4 ) B 7 R 5 A

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PRAD OB A2 P E AR TR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

FEEMERXZMAERRARES EMHRA (BIRERT - R AE M7 A &)

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules \ )
FAARRAIME TS [ EMBETAESFETIEFISHNELETL ]

for the year ended December 31, 2022
HE2022F12A31B I FE

the prospectus of the Company dated December 12, 2022
RAR B HR2022F12 A12B KB R ER

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR FEDEEEH

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the
Company
A2 B AR AN B AR T 1H0.0001 35 7T 9 3@ AR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHHE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERBMERIMARRAR

Tencent Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 700) )
AR ER AT —KIRO B PT EmE) A a] (AR5 - 700)

Tencent, its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities
Bl EfNBARRHRBETEE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its
jurisdiction B
EFNBREZE HEL BHAIHREZEENMEBHE

United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

X XBUEEE®

per cent
sl

., LTD. Annual Report 2022
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